
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
Dr Helen Paterson, Chief Executive 

County Hall, Morpeth, Northumberland, NE61 2EF 
T: 0345 600 6400 

www.northumberland.gov.uk   
    
 

 Your ref:  
Our ref:  
Enquiries to: Rebecca Little 
Email: Rebecca.Little@northumberland.gov.uk 
Tel direct: 01670 622611 
Date: Tuesday 12 December 2023 

 
 
Dear Sir or Madam, 
 

Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE to be held in 
CONFERENCE ROOM 1 - COUNTY HALL on WEDNESDAY, 20 DECEMBER 2023 at 10.00 
AM.  

Yours faithfully 

 
 
Dr Helen Paterson 
Chief Executive 
 

 

To Rights of Way Committee members as follows:- 

L Bowman, A Dale, J Foster, C Hardy, JI Hutchinson (Chair), A Sharp, M Swinbank, 
D Towns and A Wallace (Vice-Chair) 

 



 

 
Rights of Way Committee, 20 December 2023 

AGENDA 
 

PART I 
 

It is expected that the matters included in this part of the agenda 
will be dealt with in public. 

 
  

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
 

 

 
2.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

 
The minutes of the Rights of Way Committee meeting held on Wednesday, 
25 October 2023, as circulated, to be agreed as a true record and be 
signed by the Chair.  
  
 

(Pages 1 
- 8) 

 
3.   DISCLOSURE OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS 

 
Unless already entered in the Council’s Register of Members’ interests, 
members are required where a matter arises at a meeting;  
  
a. Which directly relates to Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (‘DPI’) as 

set out in Appendix B, Table 1 of the Code of Conduct, to disclose the 
interest, not participate in any discussion or vote and not to remain in 
room. Where members have a DPI or if the matter concerns an 
executive function and is being considered by a Cabinet Member with 
a DPI they must notify the Monitoring Officer and arrange for 
somebody else to deal with the matter.  

  
b. Which directly relates to the financial interest or well being of a 

Other Registrable Interest as set out in Appendix B, Table 2 of the 
Code of Conduct to disclose the interest and only speak on the matter 
if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but 
otherwise must not take part in any discussion  or vote on the matter 
and must not remain the room.  

  
c. Which directly relates to their financial interest or well-being  (and is 

not  DPI) or the financial well being of a relative or close associate, to 
declare the interest and members may only speak on the matter if 
members of the public are also allowed to speak. Otherwise, the 
member must not take part in discussion or vote on the matter and 
must leave the room.  

  
d. Which affects the financial well-being of the member, a relative or 

close associate or a body included under the Other Registrable 
Interests column in Table 2, to disclose the interest and apply the test 
set out at paragraph 9 of Appendix B before deciding whether they 
may remain in the meeting.  

  
e. Where Members have or a Cabinet Member has an Other 

 



 

 
Rights of Way Committee, 20 December 2023 

Registerable Interest or Non Registerable Interest in a matter being 
considered in exercise of their executive function, they must notify the 
Monitoring Officer and arrange for somebody else to deal with it.   

  
NB Any member needing clarification must 
contact monitoringofficer@northumberland.gov.uk.  Members are referred 
to the Code of Conduct which contains the matters above in full. Please 
refer to the guidance on disclosures at the rear of this agenda letter. 
 
  

4.   REVIEW OF THE DEFINIFITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC 
RIGHTS OF WAY 
ALLEGED RESTRICTED BYWAY NO 29 PARISH OF BLANCHLAND 
 
 

(Pages 9 
- 76) 

 
5.   REVIEW OF THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC 

RIGHTS OF WAY 
ALLEGED PUBLIC BRIDLEWAYS Nos 33 & 4 PARISHES OF 
BRINKBURN & ROTHBURY 
 
 

(Pages 
77 - 234) 

 
6.   REVIEW OF THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC 

RIGHTS OF WAY 
ALLEGED BYWAY OPEN TO ALL TRAFFIC No 40 PARISH OF 
ROTHBURY 
 
 

(Pages 
235 - 
276) 

 
7.   REVIEW OF THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC 

RIGHTS OF WAY 
ALLEGED BYWAY OPEN TO ALL TRAFFIC No 26 PARISH OF 
BRINKBURN 
 
 

(Pages 
277 - 
320) 

 
8.   URGENT BUSINESS (IF ANY) 

 
To consider such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman, 
should, by reason of special circumstances, be considered as a matter of 
urgency. 
 

 

mailto:monitoringofficer@northumberland.gov.uk


 

Rights of Way Committee, Wednesday, 20 December 2023 

IF YOU HAVE AN INTEREST AT THIS MEETING, PLEASE: 
  

● Declare it and give details of its nature before the matter is discussed or as soon as it 
becomes apparent to you. 

● Complete this sheet and pass it to the Democratic Services Officer.  

 
Name:   Date of meeting:  

Meeting:  

Item to which your interest relates: 

 

Nature of Interest i.e. either disclosable pecuniary interest (as defined by Table 1 of Appendix B to 
the Code of Conduct, Other Registerable Interest or Non-Registerable Interest (as defined by 
Appendix B to Code of Conduct) (please give details):  
 

Are you intending to withdraw from the meeting?  
 

Yes - ☐ No - ☐ 
 

 



 

Rights of Way Committee, Wednesday, 20 December 2023 

Registering Interests 
 
Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you must register 
with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 1 (Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in “The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests) Regulations 2012”. You should also register details of your other personal interests which fall 
within the categories set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable Interests). 
 
“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of 
your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below. 
 
"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or 
a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 
 
1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28 days of becoming 

aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer. 

 
2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the councillor, or a person 

connected with the councillor, being subject to violence or intimidation. 

 
3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer with the reasons why 

you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring Officer agrees they will withhold the interest 
from the public register. 

 
Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 
 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the interest, not participate in any discussion or 
vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If 
it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an 
interest. 

 
Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a 
matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest. 
 

5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or is being 
considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your executive function, you must notify the 
Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart 
from arranging for someone else to deal with it. 

 
Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 
 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial interest or wellbeing of 
one of your Other Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. You 
may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but 
otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the 
room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to 
disclose the nature of the interest. 

 
Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests 
 



 

 
Rights of Way Committee, 20 December 2023 

7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or well-being 
(and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of 
a relative or close associate, you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if 
members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in 
any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted 
a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

 
8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 

 
a. your own financial interest or well-being; 

b. a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate; or 

c. a financial interest or wellbeing of a body included under Other Registrable Interests as set 
out in Table 2 you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain 
in the meeting after disclosing your interest the following test should be applied 

 
9. Where a matter (referred to in paragraph 8 above) affects the financial interest or well- being: 

 
a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of inhabitants of the 

ward affected by the decision and; 

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it would affect 
your view of the wider public interest  

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 
meeting. Otherwise, you must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and 
must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation.  
 
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

 
Where you have an Other Registerable Interest or Non-Registerable Interest on a matter to be 
considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of your executive function, 
you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or further steps in the 
matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it. 



 

Ch.’s Initials……… 
 

Rights of Way Committee, Wednesday, 25 October 2023 1 

NORTHUMBERLAND COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
 
 
At a meeting of the Rights of Way Committee held in Council Chamber, County Hall, 
Morpeth, Northumberland, NE24 3SE on Wednesday, 25 October 2023 at 10:00 a.m. 
 
 

PRESENT 
 

JI Hutchinson  
Chair - in the Chair 

 
 

MEMBERS 
 
 

L Bowman A Dale 
J Foster C Hardy 
A Sharp M Swinbank 
D Towns A Wallace 

 
 

OTHER COUNCILLORS 
 

Councillor V Jones  
 

 

 
OFFICERS 

 
A Bell Definitive Map and Search Officer 
T Crowe Solicitor 
C Humphries Principal Lawyer 
R Little Assistant Democratic Services Officer 
Z Quinn Definitive Map and Search Technical Officer 
 
 
 
 
Around 5 members of the press and public were present. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Ch.’s Initials……… 
 

Rights of Way Committee, Wednesday, 25 October 2023  2 

 
  
1 MEMBERSHIP AND TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 
RESOLVED that this was noted. 
  
  

2 DISCLOSURE OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS 
 
Councillor Hutchinson noted that he had a personal but non-prejudicial interest in 
item 9 of the agenda.  
  
Councillor Hardy noted that he had non-prejudicial interests in items 7, 8 and 9 in 
the agenda but had not pre-determined any application.  
  
Councillor Towns and Swinbank noted that they had personal and prejudicial 
interests in item 9 of the agenda and would leave the meeting while the item was 
discussed and voted upon.  
  
RESOLVED that this was noted.  
  
  

3 REVIEW OF THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS 
OF WAY ALLEGED PUBLIC FOOTPATH NO 45 PARISH OF MATFEN 
 
A. Bell - Definitive Map and Search Officer, introduced the report with the aid of a 
PowerPoint presentation, a further map was handed out to committee members 
as there had been an error in the printing of the report.  
  
Members were asked to consider all the relevant evidence gathered in support 
and in rebuttal of the existence of public footpath rights over a route between the 
C342 road and the U9022 road, at Matfen. 
  
Following the report, members were invited to ask the Definitive Map and Search 
Officer questions, which the following information was then provided:  

       Deposits under section 31(6) of the Highways Act had to be re-submitted 
within 20 years, previously to that it was 10 years, prior to the 10 years, 
within 6 years.   

       A map and statement, on their own, would not prevent public rights of way 
being acquired.  

       A landowner has no protection until a  declaration is submitted.  
  
Councillor Hardy proposed to accept the officer’s recommendation, this was 
seconded by Councillor Wallace.  
  
A vote was taken and was unanimous.  
  
RESOLVED that there was insufficient evidence to indicate that public footpath 
rights had been reasonable alleged to exist over the application route D-E.  
  
  

4 WEST WOODBURN VILLAGE GREEN 

Page 2



Ch.’s Initials……… 
 

Rights of Way Committee, Wednesday, 25 October 2023  3 

 
C Humphries – Principal Lawyer, introduced the report and members were asked 
to consider the withdrawal of the Village Green application submitted by 
Corsenside Parish Council in relation to land to the east of West Woodburn 
County First School, Whiteacre, West Woodburn. 
  
Following the report, members were invited to ask questions to the Principal 
Lawyer, the following information was then provided:  

       Some of the subject land had been sold to the Parish Council since the 
application was submitted.  

  
Councillor Hardy proposed to accept the officer’s recommendation to confirm the 
withdrawal of the Village Green application, this was seconded by Councillor 
Wallace.  
  
A vote was taken and was unanimous.  
  
RESOLVED that the committee approved the withdrawal of the application in 
respect of land lying to the east of West Woodburn County First School, 
Whiteacre, West Woodburn.  
  
  

5 VILLAGE GREEN ON THE EAST SIDE OF CHURCH STREET, ROTHBURY 
 
C. Humphries – Principal Lawyer introduced the report where members were 
asked to consider the withdrawal of the Village Green application submitted by 
Rothbury Parish Council in relation to land on the east side of Church Street, 
Rothbury. 
  
Councillor Sharp proposed to accept the officer’s recommendation to confirm the 
withdrawal of the Village Green application, this was seconded by Councillor 
Hardy.  
  
A vote was taken and was unanimous.  
  
RESOLVED that the committee approved the withdrawal of the application in 
respect of the land lying to the east side of Church Street, Rothbury.   
  
  

6 HORNCLIFFE VOLUNTARY VILLAGE GREEN - SCHOOL FIELDS 
 
C. Humphries – Principal Lawyer introduced the report where members were 
asked to determine the application to register land lying on the northeast side of 
Tofts Lane, Horncliffe, Berwick upon Tweed as a Village Green.   
  
Councillor Hardy proposed to accept the officer’s recommendation, this was 
seconded by Councillor Wallace.  
  
A vote was taken and was unanimous.  
  
RESOLVED that the committee approved the registration of the land lying on the 
north east side of Tofts Lane, Horncliffe, Berwick Upon Tweed (otherwise referred 

Page 3



Ch.’s Initials……… 
 

Rights of Way Committee, Wednesday, 25 October 2023  4 

to by the applicant as the School Playing Field at Horncliffe County First School) 
as a Village Green and the Commons Registration Authority register of Village 
Greens updated accordingly. 
  
  

7 HORNCLIFFE VOLUNTARY VILLAGE GREEN APPLICATION  - PLAY PARK 
 
C. Humphries – Principal Lawyer introduced the report. Members were asked to 
determine the accompanying application to register land and buildings lying to the 
south west of Tweed Row, Horncliffe, Berwick upon Tweed (described by the 
applicant as the Horncliffe Play Park).  
  
A letter from Mike Robbins, Strategic Estates Manager was provided to the 
committee and read: “I have been advised by Horncliffe Parish Council that they 
have applied for land in their ownership to be dedicated as Village Green.  
The land in question was transferred to the Parish Council by Berwick upon 
Tweed Borough Council on 26 February 2009, comprising land for a children’s 
play area.  
The Transfer contained a clause which limited the use to children’s playground. 
The question has been raised as whether Northumberland County Council as 
beneficiary of the covenant (following Local Government Reorganisation in 2009) 
would invoke this covenant to prevent the land being declared village green.  
I can confirm that as the person within the Council responsible for its property 
assets that the Council considers that the use as a Children’s playground is 
entirely compatible with the requirements of a village green and would be happy 
for the designation to proceed. The Council as landowner does not see this 
covenant as an impediment to the Village Green will not take any action to 
enforce this.” 
  
Councillor Hardy proposed to accept the officer’s recommendation, this was 
seconded by Councillor Wallace.  
  
A vote was taken and was unanimous.  
  
RESOLVED that the committee approved the registration of the land and 
buildings lying to the south west of Tweed Row, Horncliffe, Berwick Upon Tweed 
(otherwise referred to by the applicant as the Horncliffe Play Park) as a Village 
Green and the Commons Registration Authority Register of village Greens 
updated accordingly.  
  
  
Councillors Towns and Swinbank left the meeting.  
  
  

8 REVIEW OF THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS 
OF WAY ALLEGED PUBLIC FOOTPATH NO 31 PARISH OF ELLINGHAM 
 
A. Bell - Definitive Map and Search Officer, introduced the report with the aid of a 
PowerPoint presentation, and asked committee members to consider all the 
relevant evidence gathered in support and in rebuttal of the existence of public 
footpath rights over a route between the U2029 road in Ellingham village and 
Public Footpath No 14. 

Page 4



Ch.’s Initials……… 
 

Rights of Way Committee, Wednesday, 25 October 2023  5 

  
Councillor Dale proposed to accept the officer’s recommendation, this was 
seconded by Councillor Wallace.  
  
A vote was taken and was unanimous.  
  
RESOLVED that:  
i.  There was sufficient evidence to indicate to indicate that public footpath 

rights had been reasonable alleged to exist over the route T-U; 
ii. The route was to be included in a future Definitive Map Modification Oder as 

a public footpath. 
 
  
Councillor Swinbank returned to the meeting at this point.  
  
  

9 REVIEW OF THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS 
OF WAY ALLEGED  PUBLIC BRIDLEWAY NO 31 PARISH OF 
KIRKWHELPINGTON 
 
A. Bell - Definitive Map and Search Officer, introduced the report with the aid of a 
PowerPoint presentation, and asked committee members to consider all the 
relevant evidence gathered in support and in rebuttal of the existence of public 
bridleway rights over a route from the existing northern end of Public Bridleway 
No 31, north of Kirkwhelpington, in a north-westerly direction to join the C195 
road north of Middle Whitehill.  
  
Councillor Wallace proposed to accept the officer’s recommendation for (i) and 
(ii), this was seconded by Councillor Hardy.  
  
A vote was taken and was unanimous.  
  
Councillor Wallace then further proposed that recommendation (iii) was to be 
modified to read “The T-X route be included in a future Definitive Map 
Modification Order as a public bridleway following consultation with landowners 
and other consultees seeking agreement to divert the bridleway onto an 
alternative route.” This was seconded by Councillor Hardy.  
  
RESOLVED that:  
i.  There was insufficient evidence to indicate that public bridleway rights had 

been reasonably alleged to exist over the route T-S; 
ii. There was sufficient evidence to indicate that public bridleway rights had 

been reasonably alleged to exist over the route T-X; 
iii.  T-X route be included in a future Definitive Map Modification Order as a 

public bridleway following consultation and agreement being sought from 
consultees and landowners as to a possible alternative route.  

 
  

10 REVIEW OF THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS 
OF WAY ALLEGED BYWAY OPEN TO ALL TRAFFIC NO 30 & RESTRICTED 
BYWAY NO 29 PARISH OF WHITTINGHAM 
 
A. Bell - Definitive Map and Search Officer, introduced the report with the aid of a 

Page 5



Ch.’s Initials……… 
 

Rights of Way Committee, Wednesday, 25 October 2023  6 

PowerPoint presentation, and asked committee members to consider all the 
relevant evidence gathered in support and in rebuttal of the existence of public 
vehicular rights over a route from the south end of Whittingham Lane (BOAT No 
24) in a westerly direction to join the C178 road, south of Whittonlea Quarry.  
  
Councillor Hardy proposed to accept the officer’s recommendation for (i), (ii) and 
(iii), this was seconded by Councillor Sharp.  
  
A vote was taken and was unanimous.  
  
Councillor Hardy proposed to accept the officer’s recommendation (iv), this was 
seconded by Councillor Wallace.  
  
A vote was taken and was unanimous.  
  
Councillor Hardy proposed to accept the officer’s recommendations (v) and (vi), 
this was seconded by Councillor Bowman.  
  
A vote was taken and was unanimous.  
  
RESOLVED that:  
i.  There was sufficient evidence to indicate that public vehicular rights had 

been reasonably alleged to exist over the route F-E-D; 
ii. There was sufficient evidence to show, on a balance of probabilities, that 

public vehicular rights existed over the route D-C; 
iii. There was insufficient evidence to indicate that public vehicular rights or 

public bridleway rights had been reasonably alleged to exist over the route 
E-X; 

iv. The Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 had appeared to 
have extinguished the public’s motor vehicular over the E-D-C section of the 
route.  

v. The F-E part of the route was to be included in a future Definitive Map 
Modification Order as a byway open to all traffic.  

vi. The E-D-C part of the route was to be included in a future Definitive Map 
Modification Order as a restricted byway.  

 
   

11 VERBAL BRIEFING REGARDING THE COUNCIL'S RIGHTS OF WAY 
IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
 
T. Fish – Area Countryside/Rights of Way Officer spoke to members and gave the 
following information:  

       The Highways Authority were required to produce a Rights of Way 
Improvement Plan (ROWIP) under s.60 of the Countryside and Rights of 
Way Act 2000. 

       Northumberland County Councils ROWIP was produced in 2009 and had 
not been reviewed or updated.  

       In consultation with Stakeholders, officers and SMT planned to revise and 
propose policies that reflected the current position and direction of rights of 
way and access for the County.  

       A draft ROWIP would be produced for approval by the Rights of Way 
Committee.  

Page 6



Ch.’s Initials……… 
 

Rights of Way Committee, Wednesday, 25 October 2023  7 

       A public consultation would take place once approved by the Rights of Way 
Committee. This would include stakeholders, Parish Councils, user groups 
and the wider public. 

       The final ROWIP containing a 5-year delivery plan would be produced for 
approval by the Rights of Way Committee.  

       The draft ROWIP would be prepared for the Rights of Way Committee 
meeting in February 2024.  

  
RESOLVED that this was noted.  
  
 

 

 

 CHAIR…………………………………….. 
 

        DATE………………………………………. 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



 
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 
20 December 2023 

 
 
 

REVIEW OF THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT 
OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY 

 
ALLEGED RESTRICTED BYWAY No 29  

PARISH OF BLANCHLAND 
 

Report of the Director of Environment and Transport 
Cabinet Member: Councillor John Riddle, Roads and Highways 

   
 
Purpose of report  
 
In this report, the Rights of Way Committee is asked to consider all the relevant 
evidence gathered in support and in rebuttal of the existence of higher rights over the 
route of existing Public Footpath No 29, from the southern end of existing Byway 
Open to All Traffic No 80 in the Parish of Hexhamshire, at the edge of Slaley Forest, 
in a south-easterly direction across Blanchland Moor to join existing Byway Open to 
All Traffic No 26, north of Pennypie House.   
 
Recommendation  
 
   It is recommended that the Committee agrees that: 

(i) there is sufficient evidence to indicate that, on a balance of  
probability, public vehicular rights have been shown to exist over 
the route C-D; 

(ii) that the public’s motor vehicular rights over the route appear to  
have been extinguished by virtue of s67 of the NERC Act 2006;  

(iii) the route be included in a future Definitive Map Modification Order  
to upgrade the existing public footpath to restricted byway status. 

 
 
1.0      BACKGROUND  
 
1.1 By virtue of section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act, 1981 the County 

Council is required to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under 
continuous review and make modification orders upon the discovery of 
evidence, which shows that the map and statement need to be modified. 
 

1.2 The relevant statutory provision which applies to upgrading an existing public 
right of way on the Definitive Map and Statement, based on historical 
documentary evidence, is Section 53(3)(c)(ii) of the Wildlife and Countryside Page 9

Agenda Item 4



Act, 1981.  This requires the County Council (as Surveying Authority) to modify 
the Definitive Map and Statement following: 

  
“the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with all 
other relevant evidence available to them) shows: 

 
          “that a highway shown in the map and statement as a highway of a 

particular description ought to be there shown as a highway of a 
different description.” 

 
1.3 This route has been the subject of three previous applications.  In March 1979 

the Ramblers’ Association applied for a public footpath to be recorded as part 
of the countywide Second Review of the Definitive Map.  Upon the introduction 
of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 procedures, the Second Review was 
abandoned.  In January 1985 the Ramblers Association made a second 
application, this time using the s.53 Wildlife & Countryside Act procedures, for 
public footpath rights to be added to the Definitive Map of Public Rights of 
Way.  This application was considered by the Council’s Definitive Map Panel in 
November 1990, whereupon members resolved to include the route in a future 
Definitive Map Modification Order (DMMO) as a public footpath.   

 
1.4 In July 1993, before any public footpath DMMO had been made, one Malcolm 

Watson made multiple applications to record a number of byways open to all 
traffic through and around Slaley Forest.  One of the alleged byway routes 
coincided with part of the alleged footpath route.  The byway application was 
considered by the Council’s Rights of Way Sub-Committee in May 1994, and 
the route was then included as one of 18 modifications in the omnibus 
Definitive Map Modification Order (No 1) 1996.  The Order attracted 8 
objections and was subsequently referred to the Secretary of State for 
determination.  Following a public inquiry held on 2 and 3 July 2002, the 
Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State to determine the Order issued an 
interim decision, that the Order be confirmed subject to various modifications.  
This interim decision attracted objections and led to a second public inquiry, 
held on 16 and 17 September 2003. On 18 October 2004, the Order was 
confirmed, with a number of modifications, one of the main ones being the 
removal of Byway Open to All Traffic No 29, on the basis that, on the balance 
of probability, the evidence did not show that a vehicular right of way had been 
shown to exist. 

 
1.5 In May 2011 the Council’s Rights of Way Committee revisited the user 

evidence submitted in conjunction with the Ramblers’ 1985 footpath application 
(this evidence had not been considered by either of the public inquiries relating 
to DMMO (No 1) 1996) and determined that the route should be included in a 
future DMMO as a public footpath.  DMMO (No 14) 2012 attracted one 
sustained objection, on the grounds that the route should be recorded as a 
restricted byway.  After considering all the previously considered evidence, the 
‘new’ user evidence, and some new documentary evidence, the Inspector 
appointed by the Secretary of State concluded that, on a balance of probability, 
public vehicular rights had still not been shown to exist, but that public footpath 
rights had.  The Order was confirmed, as made.  

 
1.6 All the relevant statutory provisions and competing rights and interests have 

been considered in making this report. The recommendations are in 
accordance with the law and proportionate, having regard to individuals’ rights 
and the public interest. 

 Page 10



 
2.0 PUBLIC EVIDENCE 
 
2.1  In October 2019, Alan Kind of Newcastle made a formal application seeking to 

modify the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way by upgrading an existing 
public footpath to restricted byway status, between the southern end of 
existing Byway Open to All Traffic No 80 in the Parish of Hexhamshire and 
existing Byway Open to All Traffic No 26 in the Parish of Blanchland, south of 
Slaley Forest.     

 
2.2      Mr Kind supplied an analysis of the evidence to accompany his application.  In 

September 2022, he submitted 4 additional pieces of evidence, and a revised 
analysis of the evidence: 

 
“In October 2019 Alan Kind submitted an application to modify the 
definitive map and statement. That application included a statement of 
grounds setting out the evidence and the relevant law. This paper is a 
revision of that statement of grounds amended to include 4 additional 
pieces of documentary evidence not available when the application was 
made.  
 
“Most of these documents as listed are maps, or images of printed text, 
and are embedded in this document rather than appended as separate 
documents. Where documents are appended these are marked as such 
in the list below. For clarity, the 3 items of ‘new evidence’ giving rise to 
the application are highlighted in red below. The 4 additional items not 
in the application are highlighted in blue.  
 
“List of documents  
1. 1713 An Account of Certain Charities… Containing … to which is 

Added A Brief Account and Description of the Parish and Parish-
Church of Hexham, in the County aforesaid … Appended  

2. 1758 Marshall’s Blanchland Royalty Map  
3. 1769 Armstrong’s Map of Northumberland  
4. 1765 Inclosure Act, ‘An Act for dividing and inclosing a certain 

common, moor, tract of waste land, within the barony or manor of 
Bulbeck …’ Appended  

5. 1771 Extract images and transcription of the inclosure award and 
plan (Bulbeck Common Inclosure Award, 1771, CRO Ref QRA 9  

6. 1787 Cary’s Map of Northumberland  
7. 1794 Cary’s ‘Grid Plan’ Map of England  
8.  1801 The Monthly Magazine or British Register, Volume XII, Part II 

for 1801  
9.  1808 Boundary Disputes Plan  
10. 1815 John Cary’s Reduction of his Large Map of England and 

Wales  
11. 1819/20 Greenwood’s Map of Durham (& 

Note_Greenwood_Background, Appended)  
12. 1820 Fryer’s Map of Northumberland  
13. 1827 John Cary’s Map  
14. John Cary’s half-inch to one-mile scale map: a comparison of the 

mileage of roads shown with the Parliamentary returns of carriage 
road mileage, 1814 … Appended  

15. 1828 Greenwood’s Map of Northumberland  
16. 1831 Greenwood’s Map of Durham  
17. 1833 Chapman & Hall’s Map of Northumberland  Page 11



18. 1834 John Cary’s Reduction of his Large Map of England and 
Wales  

19. 1860 6 Inches to 1 Mile (1:10.560) Ordnance Survey Map 
 

“Earlier Orders Concerning This Route  
This route has been subject to two orders and four decision letters: 
 
• Northumberland County Council Public Rights of Way 

Modification Order No 1 1996: FPS/R2900/7/18, 29 August 
2002; 15 January 2004; 18 October 2004 

• Northumberland County Council Public Rights of Way 
Modification Order No 14 2012: FPS/P2935/7/43, 7 July 2015. 
The current recorded status is public footpath 507/029 
Blanchland, established on the basis of user evidence in the 
2012 order. 

 
“Reopening the Issue of Status 
 
1. It is established law that the process of applying for, and 

(separately) making, an order to modify the definitive map, is not 
barred to further orders after an initial order has been made. 
(Express statutory provision apart, such as regarding restricted 
byways in CRoWA 2000). What matters is the ‘discovery’ of 
evidence, and that discovered evidence must then be considered 
with all other available evidence, whether ‘new’, or not. In the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, S.53(3) 

 
(c) the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when 

considered with all other relevant evidence available to them) 
shows— 

 
(i) that a right of way which is not shown in the map and statement 

subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area 
to which the map relates, being a right of way such that the land 
over which the right subsists is a public path, a restricted byway] 
or, subject to section 54A, a byway open to all traffic; 
 

2. In R v. Secretary of State for the Environment, ex p. Riley [1989]  
CO/153/88, the ability to ‘reopen’ the question of status of a way 
previous subject to a definitive map reclassification order was 
considered. Held: that there is no res judicata in this statutory 
provision, and MacPherson J provided an oft-quoted reference to 
a ‘better greybeard’s evidence’ being added to a (earlier) ‘not 
very convincing greybeard’s’ evidence,’ and the whole being 
weighed together (at D-E on page 10 of the judgment). 
 

3. Stubbing Court v. Secretary of State for EFRA [2012] (consent  
order) is a case concerning an order to delete a public right of 
way from the definitive map and statement. The Secretary of 
State consented to judgment on the point that there is no 
‘gatekeeper test’ for the discovered evidence (the ‘new 
evidence’). Once there is new evidence then the test of 
sufficiency (cogency, positivity, etc.) is applied to all the evidence 
together. It is wrong to apply any different test to any part of the 
evidence: the relevant test must be applied to all the evidence. 
 Page 12



4. In this application there is the evidence previously considered,  
plus ‘new evidence’, which is also evidence that speaks to the 
historical public status of the road. It does not matter if this ‘new 
evidence’ alone is not sufficient to establish the claimed status. 
What matters is whether this ‘new evidence’, plus all other 
evidence, weighed together, is sufficient to prove. 
 

5. The correct approach is to establish that there is discovery of 
evidence and, if there is, forget that the route has been subject to 
an earlier application, or order. Consider this application as a 
stand-alone issue. 
 

6.  The documents relied upon are set out in the chronological 
sequence of the evidence. Sketch Map Showing the Key Local 
Highway Network  

 
7.  The grid reference in this sketch map is visual from a paper map. 

Current digital mapping gives a reference of 942530. Route A-D-
B is now recorded as a BOAT 
 
 

 
 
 

“Key Issues  
 

8.  The moor crossed by the application route is not a place of public 
resort. There is no purpose to the inclosure-awarded public 
Blanchland Road bringing public traffic southwards to point C (on 
the sketch map above) if the public can then lawfully go no 
further.  
 

9.  The inclosure commissioners could, and did, award private 
(carriage) roads. If the purpose of the public Blanchland Road 
was only to bring private traffic to point C, then why not make the 
public right of way stop at the junction with Longedge Road?  
 

Page 13



10.  From point C on the sketch map, and much of the way to point D, 
the application route coincides with a well-worn single hollow-
way. If it were not filled with heather it would be even-more 
visible. What sort of private traffic would be constrained to this 
linear route, and heavy enough, over years, to make this hollow-
way? 
 

 
 
 

11.  Simply, does the whole of the historical evidence, the 
‘presumption’ against pointless dead-ends and in favour of 
through routes (Eyre v. New Forest Highways Board, below), and 
the physical presence of a well-worn roadway, point sufficiently 
strongly to there being a through public highway along the 
application route?  
 

“Historical evidence  
 

12.  1713 An Account of Certain Charities … Containing … to which 
is Added A Brief Account and Description of the Parish and 
Parish-Church of Hexham, in the County aforesaid  
 

12.1.  At page 57-59 (of the document, page 75-77 of the PDF) is a 
description of the bounds of the Parish of Hexham. At the foot of 
page 58, “From Gingleshaugh-ford to Knightcleughhead along 
the Highway which leads through the High-Quarter from the City 
of Durham to Allendale, etc. five Miles and thirty five Chains.”  
 

12.2.   Gingle(s)haugh is a place name on the older OS maps, and has 
a ford across the Devil’s Water, close to Rawgreen. The ford is 
on Ginglehaugh Road, which is set out as a public carriage road 
in the Bulbeck Common Inclosure Award of 1771. 
 

 Page 14



 
 

12.3. Knightscleugh Head is 2 miles southeast of Allendale Town, 
close to (what is now) a bridleway and to the ancient Stobb 
Cross. 
 

 
 

12.4.  The “Highway which leads through the High-Quarter” can be 
identified by using the online facility on the National Library for 
Scotland website, where the onscreen cursor identifies which 
Quarter (parish) the cursor is sitting in. Then using online OS 
mapping the distance along this road from Gingleshaugh-ford 
can be measured reasonably precisely. 5 miles 35 chains is 5.44 
miles. A plot of 5.44 miles along this highway route arrives very 
close to Knightcleughhead. 
 

 
 

12.5.  We can say with a high probability where and how the road (as 
described) from Durham City to Allendale (which is about 40 
miles in distance) goes from Gingleshaugh to 
Knightscleughhead. Can we say where “the highway” (as distinct 
from ‘a highway’) ran from Durham, to arrive at Gingleshaugh?  

 
12.6.  The road from Durham, up the Wear Valley (now the A690), and 

then up Weardale (now the A689) must have been a regular 
route from time far out of mind. ‘Keys to the Past’ website notes 
that ‘Stanhopa’ was first recorded in 1183. Stanhope Castle was 
in use in the 14th Century, and in 1327 Edward III spent a week 
there while looking to engage the Scottish army. Eastgate and 
Westgate (to the west of Stanhope, on the A689, were the 
borders of the Bishop of Durham’s private hunting park, and can 
be connected to a lease of the park in 1419.  

 
12.7.  The road that is now the A68, which crosses the A690/689 near 

Crook, did not exist as a recognisable through-route until it was 
first turnpiked by an Act of 1792. For traffic from Durham to turn 
north up that corridor, then turn west for Gingleshaugh, is much 
more complicated than the alternatives.  
 

Page 15



12.8.  There is a medieval road heading north from Wolsingham, via 
Salters Gate, and Espershiels, that will arrive at Gingleshaugh in 
about 18 miles, from the east, along Ginglehaugh Road. After 
Wolsingham there is no obvious place for rest and food on this 
route.  
 

12.9.  If the traffic from Durham turned north at Stanhope (obviously 
rest and food available), and ascended Crawleyside Bank 
(steep, but this was later turnpiked, so it was manageable) and 
then forked left for Baybridge and Blanchland (where there was 
an abbey since 1165) the continuation northwards, and along the 
application route, brought traffic to Gingleshaugh in much the 
same 18 miles.  
 

12.10. This latter (Stanhope) route attained increasing importance on 
pre-OS maps, whereas the Salters Gate route diminished in 
relative importance. On balance, the via-Stanhope route is most 
probable to be the Durham City to Gingleshaugh-ford route in the 
1713 description.  
 

13.  1758 Marshall’s Blanchland Royalty Map  
 

13.1.  This plan was originally located by the surveying authority.  
 

13.2.  The copy provided was not very crisp, but I have printed it and 
marked-on in blue the ‘Roads To ….’ that I can see.  
 

13.3. When looking at this plan it is important to remember that the 
north arrow points to magnetic north, and that the then-position 
of magnetic north was discussed in evidence regarding the 1996 
order. More importantly here, an anticlockwise rotation of this 
plan is necessary to bring the features (the Potter Burn is a good 
example) into alignment with the same features on the OS map 
extract below.  
 

13.4.  The three roads named on this 1758 plan, and highlighted in 
blue, are: i) the road mainly south out of Baybridge, to 
Edmundbyers Cross, and then to Stanhope; ii) the road from 
Baybridge to Blanchland, and then continuing as the current ‘B’ 
road towards Hexham and Newcastle; and, iii) the BOAT over 
Blanchland Moor to what is now Slaley Forest. This is probably 
the route that continues as ‘Baybridge Road’ on the inclosure 
award (below).The current OS map shows many more roads, 
bridleways, and footpaths in the same area, which this 1758 plan 
does not show.  
 

13.5.  Two examples are, i) the Blanchland to Edmundbyers road; and, 
ii) the branch off the Baybridge to Stanhope road, which runs to 
Eastgate via the Rookhope valley. 
 
Both of these are clearly shown on John Cary’s 1794 map (about 
5 miles to one inch, below). 
 

Page 16



 
 

13.6.  I respectfully submit that it is improbable that these roads shown 
by Cary were not in existence at 1758, but were in existence by 
1794, given that, for example, Stanhope is a settlement dating 
back at least to 1170. Similarly, it is improbable that all the roads 
and paths on the OS extract, but not on the 1758 plan (and, 
indeed, not on the other commercial and early OS maps) sprang 
into being after the publication of maps not showing them, and 
making of the definitive map and statement. Not much weight 
should therefore be given to the 1758 plan not showing the 
application route as evidence that the application route did not 
then exist.  
 

14.  1769 Armstrong’s Map of Northumberland  
 

14.1.  Armstrong does not show any route north from Baybridge or 
Blanchland, to, past, or through, what is now Slaley Forest. 
 

 
 
 Page 17



15. 1771 The Inclosure Award Evidence 
 

 
 

15.1.  The Bulbeck Common Inclosure Award, 1771, is in the 
Northumberland County Record Office under reference QRA 9. 
The Act of Parliament empowering this inclosure award is ‘An 
Act for dividing and inclosing a certain common, moor, tract of 
waste land, within the barony or manor of Bulbeck, in the county 
of Northumberland’.  

 
15.2.  This Act and award do not cover the land crossed by the 

application route, but do provide evidence of reputation for the 
linear continuation to the north of the application route, which is 
now recorded by Northumberland County Council as BOAT 
525/080 Hexhamshire.  

 
15.3.  What is now BOAT 525/080 is set out in the 1771 inclosure 

award as a public highway for all classes of traffic: 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 18



 
 
[The colour differences in these extracts is not relevant. Just an 
accident of the photo process] 
 

15.4.  AND we do also set out and appoint another public highway sixty 
ffeet in breadth through the same common leading out of the 
Shire Road about twenty four chains southeastward from 
Apperley Dike Corner, thence eastwards about four xx (?) chains 
and then southeastwards until it enters Blanchland Common, as 
the same is now by stakes and land marks staked and set out, 
which we shall hereinafter refer to and call by the name of 
Blanchland Road. [my emphasis].  
 

15.5.  The important word in this setting out is ‘enters’. Blanchland 
Road ‘enters’ Blanchland Common. ‘Enters’ means “Come or go 
into (a place). ‘She entered the kitchen.’ Set foot in. Cross the 
threshold of. Pass into. Gain access to. Intrude into. Invade. 
Infiltrate.” ‘Enter’ does not mean ‘get to the entrance and then 
stop.’  
 

15.6.  It cannot reasonably be said that Blanchland Road, as awarded, 
got to the boundary between Blanchland Common, and Bulbeck 
Common (which boundary could not, under basic commons law, 
be fenced prior to inclosure) and then stopped. Plainly, the road 
that was set out as Blanchland Road could only ‘enter’ 
Blanchland Common if it already existed at the date of inclosure, 
because the Bulbeck Inclosure Commissioners had no remit or 
powers as regards Blanchland Common. Bulbeck Common was 
not a place of public resort. Blanchland village was and is. 
Likewise Baybridge.  
 

15.7.  There has, for at least 35 years, been a gate at this inclosure 
boundary fence to my own knowledge. The only reason for a 
gate is because Blanchland Road ‘entered’ Blanchland Moor, 
and did not stop at the boundary of the commons. This gives 
additional weight to the name ‘Blanchland Road’ itself, across 
Blanchland Common, in the Manor of Blanchland. It was the road 
to Blanchland, just as Baybridge Road was the road to 
Baybridge, Ginglehaugh Road was the road to Ginglehaugh (a 
place), and The Shire Road was the road into Hexhamshire.  
 

15.8.  A note on the view of the courts on a ‘through route presumption’ 
is included below.  
 

15.9.  Usefully, in the determination of the order for restricted byway 
‘Whiteleyshield Road’, near Carrshield, Northumberland, under 
PINS reference FPS/P2935/7/37M, In her interim decision of 4 
March 2015, Inspector Sue Arnott observes, “[58] ... I can accept 
that the majority of traffic on this route would have been on foot 
or with horses but I cannot fault the logic of the argument that the 
Inclosure Commissioners would not have set out Whiteleyshield 
Road as a full carriage road if a bridle road would have been 
sufficient. Since the Order route is the only possible extension of 

Page 19



that awarded section of road, on a balance of probability, I 
conclude it would also have been a full vehicular highway.” In her 
final decision of 17 December 2015, “[19] In short, prior to 
considering the Turnpike Act of 18264, I concluded at paragraph 
[58] that since the Order route is the only possible extension of 
the awarded Whiteleyshield Road, on a balance of probability, it 
would likewise have been a full vehicular highway. That 
conclusion has not changed. “  
 

15.10. There is also photographic physical evidence regarding the 
application route, and this is set out below the historical 
evidence.  
 

16.  1787 Cary’s Map of Northumberland  
 

16.1.  This is a small scale map (all the county is little bigger than A4) 
and, like Armstrong’ it has few roads shown in the application 
area. 
 

 
 

17.  1794 Cary’s ‘Grid Plan’ Map of England 17.1. This is a small 
scale map, and, like Armstrong’s it has few roads shown in the 
application area. 
 

 
 

18.  1801 The Monthly Magazine or British Register, Volume XII, Part 
II for 1801  
 

18.1.  Found on Google Books Online. Page 259, 1 October.  
 Page 20



18.2.  “Provincial Occurrences”. “Northumberland and Durham”. “It is in 
contemplation to open a more free communication through the 
western part of the County of Durham, by a new turnpike road 
from Barnard Castle, that shall proceed by way of Stanhope and 
Blanchland, to Corbridge or Hexham; with certain collateral 
branches, viz. one from Barnard Castle, by West Pitts and 
Redford, to Walsingham [Wolsingham] …”  
 

18.3.  It is possible that this ‘new turnpike’ road did not take in the 
application route (and the inclosure-awarded Blanchland Road), 
but it is probable that it did. This proposal is consistent with the 
depiction of a through route by John Cary in his “Reduction of his 
Large Map of England and Wales” after the 1815 edition, and by 
the 1834 edition; and also in Cary’s “Improved Map…” of 1827 
(below). 
 

 
 

18.4.  This ‘improved road’ shown by Cary comes northwards from 
Stanhope, forks left at Edmundbyers Cross, goes to Blanchland 
(maybe via Baybridge, but Blanchland’s facilities would be 
utilised) and then ‘straight up’ to Dotland and Hexham. This is 
clearly the line up the west side of what is now Slaley Forest (i.e. 
via the application route) and not the more easterly route up the 
middle of Slaley Forest (i.e. Baybridge Road). That route, down 
to Peth Foot and across the Devil’s Water, is very steep for 
turnpike improvement.  
 

18.5.  There is no record that this “contemplation” of a turnpike road 
went any further towards an Act of Parliament, and Cary’s 
depiction (by 1834) as a turnpike was presumably based on 
proposals, but that cannot be said without more of his 1827 map. 
 

Page 21



 
 

18.6.  The turnpike “contemplation” of itself does not show that the 
application route was already a public highway in 1801, but the 
rest of the route as mapped was, and by 1820 Fryer was 
mapping the application route as existing. Had Fryer been 
working from a turnpike “contemplation” of a not-yet-existing road 
then he would have shown a turnpike road. He showed an 
ordinary minor road. The probability is that the application route 
existed in 1801, and was thereby open to be turnpiked in the 
usual way.  
 

19.  1808 Boundary Disputes Plan (put in at the most-recent public 
hearing)  
 

19.1.  In considering this document it is important to bear in mind the 
Highways Act 1980, s.32: Evidence of dedication of way as 
highway.  
A court or other tribunal, before determining whether a way has 
or has not been dedicated as a highway, or the date on which 
such dedication, if any, took place, shall take into consideration 
any map, plan or history of the locality or other relevant 
document which is tendered in evidence, and shall give such 
weight thereto as the court or tribunal considers justified by the 
circumstances, including the antiquity of the tendered document, 
the status of the person by whom and the purpose for which it 
was made or compiled, and the custody in which it has been kept 
and from which it is produced. 
 

 
 

Page 22



19.2.  This ‘Boundary Disputes Plan’ was made intra-parties for 
boundary dispute resolution. It was not made for the purpose of 
setting down public highways. In any case, the plan carries these 
words: “Copied from the Bulbeck Division Award July 1808 by 
John ????” So clearly, as regards the public highways, this 1808 
plan shows only, and exactly, what was shown in the 1771 
Bulbeck award plan.  
 

19.3.  This 1808 plan cannot carry much, if any, weight to show that 
routes not shown were not acknowledged public highways.  
 

20.  1815 John Cary’s Reduction of his Large Map of England and 
Wales, Comprehending the Whole of the Turnpike Roads, By 
Order of the Postmaster General  
 

20.1.  This edition shows a non-turnpike road from Stanhope to 
Hexham, via Dead Friars, Blanchland (not via Baybridge), and 
then up towards Slaley and the ancient Travellers Rest inn, then 
down the Shield Hall / Peth Foot road, to Dotland and on to 
Hexham. See the evolution of this map in 1834, below. 
 
 
 

 
 

21.  1819/1820 Greenwood’s Map of Durham  
 

21.1.  Greenwood’s survey of 1819, and first published map of 1820, 
shows no topographical detail outside of the actual boundaries of 
County Durham. The northern boundary shows several roads 
‘leading onwards’ and most are named for a destination. At 
Baybridge the road heading northwards is marked “To Hexham” 
and is represented as a “Cross Road”. Nothing in this 
representation indicates just what route this road “To Hexham” 
took, but reference to the next, 1831, version of Greenwood’s 
map answers this.  
 

21.2.  The plate reproduced here was found on the National Library of 
Scotland website. 
 

 Page 23



 
 

22.  1820 Fryer’s Map of Northumberland  
 

22.1.  Fryer’s Map of Northumberland, 1820, is an important piece of 
evidence in the whole pattern of evidence in this case. An extract 
of the relevant area is above.  
 

22.2.  Fryer’s is the earliest map of Northumberland that shows the 
wider, and morecomplete, network of roads, and there is no 
earlier map in such detail from which Fryer could have, or did, 
copy. If Fryer did not copy, then his map must be based on a 
survey: there is no other rational conclusion. The roads that 
Fryer shows in this extract correlate closely to roads and public 
paths shown in the Ordnance Survey extract, above. Fryer 
names ‘Newbiggen’ in a place rather further from Baybridge than 
is ‘Newbiggin’ on the OS map, but if the relative distance of 
Blanchland to Baybridge is seen on both maps, then Fryer’s 
Newbiggen is close by the current public footpath running 
northwestwards to join the Carriers’ Way (as named on the OS 
maps, which in turn joins Longedge Road, (now) through the 
southern edge of Slaley Forest.  
 

22.3.  The location of the ‘wishbone’ of roads at Pennypie; the fork to 
the southeast of Warlaw Pike; the location of Warlaw Pike itself; 
and the shape of, and junctions with, Longedge Road, show 
persuasively that the surveyors on whose work Fryer’s map was 
based, could see a ‘road’ on the ground along the application 
route, in or before 1820. 
 

 
 

 Page 24



23.  1827 John Cary’s Map  
 

23.1.  Cary’s Improved map of England and Wales with a Considerable 
Part of Scotland at a Scale of Two Miles to One Inch. 1820–32, 
is probably the most-respected commercial map series covering 
all of England and Wales. My own research and investigation 
indicates that, for Northumberland, Cary’s map was (within 
measurement accuracy limits) strongly similar to the known 
mileage of public vehicular highways within ten years either side 
of the date of the map. I attach my paper ‘John Cary’s half-inch 
to one-mile scale map of Northumberland (1825): a comparison 
of the mileage of roads shown with the Parliamentary returns of 
carriage road mileage, 1814’, which sets out my analysis. 
 

 
 

23.2.  Cary’s plate 58 (his maps were on a grid pattern, rather than to 
county boundaries) is dated 1827, and is part of the series that 
was issued piecemeal between 1820 and 1832, with some local 
revision in 1834. This below is an extract from plate 58:  
 

23.3.  Cary’s map shows the application route clearly, coloured in 
brown, as part of a longer route from Hexham, via Dotland (an 
ancient settlement), via Baybridge (an ancient bridge), to make a 
junction with the Tyneside-to-Stanhope road, at Edmundbyers 
Cross. There is still the remains of a stone stoop here (see 
below), which suggests roads and a junction of considerable 
antiquity.  
 

23.4.  The brown colouring of the application route as part of a longer 
route is explained in the key to Cary’s 1827 map, which is 
reproduced below. The brown colour indicates ‘Carriage Roads 
which are Parochial Roads.’ It is reasonable to conclude that 
Cary’s surveyors believed that this ‘brown route’ was something 
more than a simple ‘Parochial Road’. ‘Parochial’ means ‘of the 
parish’, and in 1827 the parishes were the highway authority 
 

Page 25



 
 

23.5.  It may be contended (but nobody has, in submission) that Cary 
showed this ‘Carriage Road’ by accident, or that he copied, or 
that he simply made it up. Why should he have invented it? He 
certainly did not copy the information from Fryer, and I have 
never encountered any roads-in-detail commercial map between 
Fryer in 1820, and Cary by 1827.  
 

23.6. The 6 Inches to 1 Mile (1:10.560) Ordnance Survey Map 
(surveyed 1860) for the site shows the application route, and 
also the BOAT, forming a ‘Y’ junction at the south end of the 
application route. It may be contended (but nobody has in 
submission) that the road with the spot heights, which is now the 
BOAT (usually known as Baybridge Road, or The Old Coach 
Road) was before 1827 the ‘main road’, and that Cary made a 
mistake in showing the application route and The Shire Road as 
part of his ‘Carriage Road’ route south from Dotland. But it is 
risky to presume a mistake in such a situation, from a 
perspective 188 years later., and I note that the Inspector 
stopped short of deeming Cary’s map a mistake in her final 
decision letter for the 1996 order. There are two factors that 
make presumption of a mistake by Cary particularly risky and 
unsound.  
 

23.7.  Firstly, Cary’s route is not wholly on inclosure roads – indeed, the 
BOAT across Blanchland Moor was outside the Bulbeck 
Inclosure area – and we cannot at this distance say, particularly 
without evidence, that all other parts of this Cary route were 
better – perhaps considerably better – than the application route 
some 188 or more years ago.  
 

23.8.  Secondly – and this reinforces the first point – the BOAT across 
Blanchland Moor is now a well-made track, but at some point in 
time it probably was not. At the junction of the application route 
and the BOAT (point B on the application plan) there is, heading 
towards Slaley, immediately adjacent to the current made track, 
a parallel track with a wet bottom. The Ordnance Survey map 
shows only one track, which rather suggests that in 1860 there 
was only one track, and it is not probable that, when the made 
track was available, traffic used and ‘made’ a wet beaten track 
instead. There is no evidence that the track shown in the 1860- 
survey OS map is the ‘made’ track, rather than this immediately 
adjacent ‘beaten track’. I respectfully submit that it would not be 
rational to presume (without evidence) that the OS was showing 
the current made track and not its wet and beaten companion, 
and then to presume, founded only on that previous 
presumption, that Cary made a mistake in showing his ‘Carriage 
Road’.  
 Page 26



23.9.  A photograph of this ‘parallel track’ is included with the set of 
photographs below.  
 

23.10. Simply, without evidence of mistake, Cary, with his good 
reputation, who had no earlier cartographer from whom to crib 
this brown-coloured road, should be given some reasonable 
evidential weight as to the then-reputation of the application 
route. 
 

24.  1828 Greenwood’s Map of Northumberland  
 

24.1.   I respectfully submit that Greenwood did not simply copy Fryer or 
Cary. The information he shows is considerably different from 
both, and he would scarcely have had sufficient time to copy 
Cary on to his own plates, and then print.  
 

24.2.  Greenwood does show the northern end of the application route, 
out into Blanchland Moor extending southwards a considerable 
distance beyond Longedge Road.  
 

24.3.  But take care with Greenwood hereabouts. If the application 
route is followed northwards along what is now the edge of 
Slaley Forest, as first Blanchland Road, and then as The Shire 
Road, it is clear that Greenwood has no through-road connection 
between the inclosure roads around Leadpipe Hill (on the current 
OS) and the road at Bentley. But the inclosure roads did make 
this connection. It seems to me to be more of a ‘convention’ for 
Greenwood as to how, or if at all, he depicted open roads over 
particular terrain. This ‘consistent inconsistency’ is apparent right 
across his map of Northumberland, and it is improbable that he is 
simply wrong in so many places. 
 

 
 

25.  1831 Greenwood’s Map of Durham  
 

25.1.   This map is stated to be based on the 1819 survey, but updated. 
This version shows a pattern of roads extending outside the 
boundaries of the county. This may be because the map shows, 
for example, Bedlingtonshire and Norhamshire, which are now in 
Northumberland, but were then detached parts of County 
Durham. Whatever, the road north from Baybridge, “To Hexham” 
on the 1820 map, is now shown in full, as a “Cross Road”, 
passing just to the west of Whitley Chapel, and through Dotland Page 27



(both ancient settlements). A simple visual comparison with a 
marked-up portion of OS map shows that this road takes in the 
application route, and uses Gingleshaugh-ford. These 2 maps 
taken together (and other maps presented here reinforce this) 
are strongly persuasive that the road from Baybridge to Hexham 
took in the application route, and Gingleshaughford. The latter 
fact also reinforces that this was also the 1713 Durham City, via 
Gingleshaugh-ford, to Knightscleughhead road.  
 

25.2.   There are 2 alternative roads to Hexham in this ‘corridor’. One 
crosses the Devil’s Water at Peth Foot ford, and the other via 
Linnels Bridge. Both have approaches far steeper than that at 
Gingleshaugh-ford. Neither of these alternatives is shown here 
by Greenwood, although the Linnels Bridge road is now much 
more prominent as it is the B6306. 
 

   
 

 
 

26.  1833 Chapman & Hall’s Map of Northumberland  
 

26.1.  This is a small single plate map of Northumberland, not much 
bigger than A4. The types of road are not identified in a key 
(usual at this scale), but known turnpike roads are shown more 
prominently than the other roads. The road from Baybridge 
northwards to Hexham, via the application route, Whitley Chapel, 
and Dotland, is clearly shown in the same style as the other 
roads.  
 

Page 28



26.2.   The broken out section is marked with red arrows to highlight the 
Baybridge to Hexham road, and the application route is 
highlighted in orange. 
 

 
 

27.  1834 John Cary’s Reduction of his Large Map of England and 
Wales, Comprehending the Whole of the Turnpike Roads, By 
Order of the Postmaster General 27.1. See also the 1815 
version, above. In this 1834 version, the 1815 route via Peth 
Foot is still shown, but a turnpike has been added, straight up 
the west side of what is now Slaley Forest, along the line of the 
BOAT, which is the awarded portion of Blanchland Road, and 
most probably along the application route. 
 

 
 

 
 
 Page 29



28.  1860 First Edition 6” Scale Ordnance Survey Map  
 

28.1.  This OS map clearly shows the actual physical feature of the 
awarded Blanchland Road and Longedge Road. It also shows 
the application route continuing from the edge of the Bulbeck 
Division, south-south-eastwards, past Warlaw Pike, to a junction 
with the (continuation of) Baybridge Road. 
 

28.2.  This map does not show the legal extent of the awarded roads. It 
shows only what existed on the ground at the date of survey. 
Please note that the map shows the worn holloway path in the 
area of the Bulbeck award, meandering on both sides of the 
straight boundary line. This meandering holloway is still visible 
on the ground; some of it in the trees. By the second edition 
(1898) this meandering line has disappeared from the map.  
 

28.3.  The meandering route shown on the map, which is the 
application route, is also clearly visible on the ground in many 
places, and within the limits of scale, clearly accords with the 
road shown on each of Fryer’s and Cary’s detailed maps, which 
were made some 30 years before the OS first survey. 
 

 
 

29.  The ‘through route presumption’  
[This is not argued to be a legal presumption; it is more one of 
common sense and experience.]  
 

29.1.  4.1. Part 2 of PINS’s Consistency Guidelines states: Rural Culs-
de-Sac 2.48, The courts have long recognised that, in certain 
circumstances, culs-de-sac in rural areas can be highways. (e.g. 
Eyre v. New Forest Highways Board 1892, Moser v. Ambleside 
1925, A-G and Newton Abbott v. Dyer 1947 and Roberts v. 
Webster 1967). Most frequently, such a situation arises where a 
cul-de-sac is the only way to or from a place of public interest or 
where changes to the highways network have turned what was 
part of a through road into a cul-de-sac. Before recognising a cul- 
de-sac as a highway, Inspectors will need to be persuaded that 
special circumstances exist. 2.49, In Eyre v New Forest Highway Page 30



Board 1892 Wills J also covers the situation in which two 
apparent culs-de-sac are created by reason of uncertainty over 
the status of a short, linking section (in that case a track over a 
common). He held that, where a short section of uncertain status 
exists it can be presumed that its status is that of the two 
highways linked by it.  
 

29.2.  Expanding this guidance a little further is of assistance. In Eyre v. 
New Forest Highway Board (1892) JP 517, the Court of Appeal 
under Lord Esher, MR, considered an appeal against a decision 
of Wills J, who had rejected an application by Mr Eyre that 
Tinker’s Lane in the New Forest was not a publicly repairable 
highway and should not be made up by the Board. Lord Esher 
commended Wills J’s summing-up as “... copious and clear and a 
complete exposition of the law on the subject; it was a clear and 
correct direction to the jury on all the points raised.”  
 

29.3.  Wills J: “It seems that there is a turnpike road, or a high road, on 
one side of Cadnam Common; on the other side, there is that 
road that leads to the disputed portion, and beyond that if you 
pass over that disputed portion, you come to Tinker’s Lane which 
leads apparently to a number of places. It seems to connect itself 
with the high road to Salisbury, and with other more important 
centres, and I should gather from what I have heard that there 
are more important centres of population in the opposite 
direction.  You have heard what Mr Bucknill says about there 
being that better and shorter road by which to go. All that 
appears to me on the evidence is that, for some reason or other, 
whether it was that they liked the picturesque (which is not very 
likely), or whether it is that it is really shorter; there were a certain 
portion of the people from first to last who wished to go that way. 
It is by the continual passage of people who wish to go along a 
particular spot that evidence of there being a high road is 
created; and taking the high roads in the country, a great deal 
more than half of them have no better origin and rest upon no 
more definite foundation than that. It is perfectly true that it is a 
necessary element in the legal definition of a highway that it must 
lead from one definite place to some other definite place, and 
that you cannot have a public right to indefinitely stray over a 
common for instance...There is no such right as that known to 
the law. Therefore, there must be a definite terminus, and a more 
or less definite direction...  
 

29.4.  “But supposing you think Tinker’s Lane is a public highway, what 
would be the meaning in a country place like that of a highway 
which ends in a cul-de-sac, and ends at a gate onto a common? 
Such things exist in large towns... but who ever found such a 
thing in a country district like this, where one of the public, if 
there were any public who wanted to use it at all, would drive up 
to that gate for the purpose of driving back again? ... It is a just 
observation that if you think Tinkers Lane was a public highway, 
an old and ancient public highway, why should it be so unless it 
leads across that common to some of those places beyond? I 
cannot conceive myself how that could be a public highway, or to 
what purpose it could be dedicated or in what way it could be 
used so as to become a public highway, unless it was to pass Page 31



over from that side of the country to this side of the country. 
Therefore it seems to me, after all said and done, that the 
evidence with regard to this little piece across the green cannot 
be severed from the other... it would take a great deal to 
persuade me that it was possible that that state of things should 
co-exist with no public way across the little piece of green... I am 
not laying this down as law; but I cannot under- stand how there 
could be a public way up to the gate – practically, I mean; I do 
not mean theoretically, - but how in a locality like this there could 
be a public highway up to the gate without there being a highway 
beyond it. If there were a public highway up Tinker’s Lane before 
1835, it does not seem to me at all a wrong step to take, or an 
unreasonable step to take, to say there must have been one 
across that green.”  
 

29.5.  4.3. There are three often-cited cases on culs-de-sac and 
whether such can be (public) highways: Roberts v. Webster 
(1967) 66 LGR 298; A.G. v. Antrobus [1905] 2Ch 188; Bourke v. 
Davis, [1890] 44 ChD 110. In each of these the way in dispute 
was (apparently) a genuine dead-end with no ‘lost’ continuation. 
Fundamental argument in each was whether or not a cul-de-sac 
(especially in the countryside) could be a (public) highway. In 
each case the court took the point that the law presumes a 
highway is a through-route unless there are exceptional local 
circumstances: e.g. a place of public resort, or that the way was 
expressly laid out under the authority of statute, such as an 
inclosure award. In A.G. (At Relation of A H Hastie) v. Godstone 
RDC (1912) JP 188, Parker J was called upon to give a 
declaration that a cluster of minor roads were public and publicly 
repairable highways. “The roads in question certainly existed far 
back into the eighteenth century.  They are shown in many old 
maps. They have for the most part well-defined hedges and 
ditches on either side, the width between the ditches, as is often 
the case with old country roads, varying considerably.  There is 
nothing to distinguish any part of these roads respectively from 
any other part except the state of repair.  They are continuous 
roads throughout and furnish convenient short cuts between 
main roads to the north and south respectively [note the similarity 
of logic here with Wills J in Eyre]. It is possible, of course, that a 
public way may end in a cul-de-sac, but it appears rather 
improbable that part of a continuous thoroughfare should be a 
public highway and part not. It was suggested that there might 
be a public carriageway ending in a public footpath and that 
Cottage Lane and St Pier’s Lane are public carriageways to the 
points to which they are admittedly highways, and public 
footpaths for the rest of their length. I cannot find any evidence 
which points to this solution of the difficulty, and so far, at any 
rate as evidence of the user of the road is concerned, there is no 
difference qua the nature of that user between those parts of the 
roads which are admittedly highways and those parts as to which 
the public right is in issue.”  
 

29.6.  4.5. Although it is not a ‘precedent’, it is useful to note the view of 
Inspector Dr T O Pritchard, when tasked to consider the true 
status of a through-route that currently ‘changes status’ part-way. 
He said it is “... Improbable for part of a continuous route to be Page 32



part footpath and part carriageway”, expressly taking the 
Godstone case as authority. [FPS/A4710/7/22 723, of 31 March 
1999]. 
 

30.  Photographs of the Application Route 
 

   
 

 
 

These photographs show the pronounced holloway along the 
application route. It is even more clear where the heather has 
been burned off. 

 

 
 

Above: the wet road parallel to the ‘causewayed’ BOAT, 
Baybridge Road. 

 
The ‘notch’ of the holloway on the application route is clearly 
visible on the skyline. 

 

Page 33



 
 

 
31.  Summary  

 
31.1.  In most cases, to prove the status of a public highway we have to 

look at a number pieces of evidence, none of which speak 
directly to the status (that would be ‘positive evidence’) and 
aggregate all of these to make an overall view on the balance of 
probabilities.  
 

31.2.  This case has no status-specific evidence, but it does have a 
good set of pieces of indirect evidence which, examined 
individually and then taken together, show a strong probability 
that this application route was historically part of a longer public 
road, heading southwards towards Blanchland and Baybridge.  
 

31.3.  The direct northern contiguous stretch is set out in an inclosure 
award as ‘Blanchland Road’, just as other roads in the same 
award are named for their destination or direction: Ginglehaugh 
Road, Shire Road, Baybridge Road, and others.  
 

31.4.  Blanchland Common, at the south end of the awarded 
Blanchland Road was not a place of public resort. Unless the 
awarded Blanchland Road continued across Blanchland 
Common, that awarded public carriage road had no destination 
other than a fence. The inclosure commissioners were practical 
men. Would they set out such a largely useless dead end and 
call it Blanchland Road, some two-and three-quarter miles 
distant from Blanchland? Not probable.  
 

31.5.  Then we have the discovered evidence that there was at least 
‘contemplation’ of making the application route into a turnpike 
road. Plainly this was never done, but taking the evidence as a 
whole it is indicative that the application route was part of a 
longer through-route from Blanchland / Baybridge, to Dotland, 
and on to Hexham and beyond. This fits with the road shown in 
Greenwood’s maps.  
 

31.6.  The application route is a well-defined holloway, on the old 
mapped alignment, and in that is similar to the sections of 
holloway that survive in the Bulbeck inclosure area. How could 
this well-defined holloway come into existence other than by 
wear and tear from traffic using the whole through-route? What 
traffic other than public would exit the end of a dead-end public 
road, cross a common on a narrow linear corridor, and then 
rejoin a public road further along?  
 

31.7.  It is probable that the 1713 (and earlier) road from Durham City 
to Allendale went along the application route to get to 

Page 34



Gingleshaugh-ford and beyond. This fits with the road shown in 
Greenwood’s maps.  
 

31.8.  On the balance of probabilities this route was historically part of a 
longer route, carrying the same public traffic throughout.” 
 
 

3. LANDOWNER EVIDENCE  
 
3.1 By email, on 28 May 2021, Savills responded to the consultation on behalf of 

the Lord Crewe’s Charity, stating:    
 

“I write to confirm that Lord Crewe’s Charity own the full length of the 
alleged restricted Byway and that we rebut this claim. 
 
“I look forward to receiving a copy of your draft report.” 
 

 
4. CONSULTATION  
 
4.1 In February 2021, the Council carried out a consultation with the Parish 

Council, known owners and occupiers of the land, the local County Councillor 
and the local representatives of the “prescribed and local organisations” listed 
in the Council’s “Code of Practice on Consultation for Public Path Orders”.  
One reply was received and is included below. 
  

4.2     By email, in March 2021, the British Horse Society responded to the 
consultation, stating: 
 

“Parish of Blanchland 
Alleged restricted byway no 29 

 
“This proposal is supported by wide ranging evidence including the old 
county maps of Cary and Greenwood whose reputation for good survey 
work within the limitations of their time is well known.  The BHS 
supports the recording of this alleged restricted byway.” 

 
5. DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE 
 
5.1 A search has been made of archives relating to the area.  Evidence of Quarter 

Sessions Records, Council Highways records, County Maps and O.S. Maps 
was inspected, and the following copies are enclosed for consideration. 
 
1713  Account of Certain Charities (applicant’s transcript) 
 

This seemingly describes the boundary of part of Hexham Parish as 
“from Gingleshaughford to Knightscleughhead along the highway which 
leads through the High Quarter from the City of Durham to Allendale etc 
five miles and thirty five chains.”  This specifically described route (from 
Gingleshaughford to Knightscleughhead) is not part of the alleged 
restricted byway route, but Mr Kind argues that the application route is a 
part of the longer Durham – Allendale route referred to.    

 
 
 Page 35



1758  Marshall’s Blanchland Royalty Map  (applicant’s copy) 
 

The route of the alleged restricted byway is not shown, though the route 
of existing Byways Open to All Traffic Nos 31 and 26 does appear to be.  
The applicant is emphasising this to illustrate that, when this byway 
open to all traffic route is absent from a later Cary map, this should not 
be taken as an indication that the road didn’t exist. 

 
1769   Armstrong’s County Map 
  

There is no evidence of a road or track over the route of alleged 
Restricted Byway No 29, though there isn’t a road depicted over the 
route of existing Byways Open to All Traffic No 26 (Blanchland) or No 
80 (Hexhamshire) either.       
   

1771   Bulbeck Common Inclosure Award  
 
The Award covers land immediately to the north of the alleged restricted 
byway route - not land crossed by the alleged restricted byway, itself.  
The otherwise cul-de-sac Blanchland Road set out in the Award is 
shown ending on the north end of the alleged restricted byway and is 
described as a sixty foot wide public highway from the Shire Road “…... 
southeastwards until it enters Blanchland Common”. 

 
1787  Cary’s Map of Northumberland (applicant’s copy) 
 

         This is a relatively small scale map showing a limited number of roads 
in the application area and no road resembling the application route. 
 

1794  Cary’s Grid Plan Map of England (applicant’s copy) 
 

 This is also a relatively small scale map showing a limited number of 
roads in the application area and no road resembling the application 
route. 
 

1801   Monthly Magazine or British Register (applicant’s copy) 
 

A proposal to create a new turnpike road between Barnard Castle and 
Corbridge / Hexham is identified.  The applicant believes the proposed 
route probably incorporated the alleged restricted byway route. 
 

1808   Boundary Disputes plan (applicant’s copy) 
 

Although this plan shows the northerly continuation of the alleged 
restricted byway route (i.e. existing Byway Open to All Traffic No 80 in 
the Parish of Hexhamshire), nothing is identified over the claimed route 
itself.  The plan would appear to have been copied directly from the 
inclosure award plan (which itself, seemingly deliberately, didn’t show 
anything across the disputed ground), so the lack of any route is 
arguably unremarkable. 
 

1815  John Cary’s Reduction of his England and Wales Map (applicant’s copy) 
 

This map shows a single – apparently non-turnpike – road from 
Stanhope, through Blanchland and via Dotland, to Hexham.  It is difficult 

Page 36



to be certain, given the small scale of the map, whether this 
corresponds to the route of the alleged restricted byway, or not.   
 

1819 / 20  Greenwood’s County Map (of Durham)    (applicant’s copy) 
 

This map only covers Durham, but the onward continuation of a Cross 
Road into Northumberland, at Baybridge, is labelled “To Hexham”.  The 
route to Hexham is not identified on this map. 
 

1820   Fryer’s County Map 
  

There is clear evidence of an “Other Road” over the route of alleged 
Restricted Byway No 29 (and also the southern part of existing BOATs 
Nos 26 (Blanchland) and 80 (Hexhamshire) too).   
 

1827   Cary’s Map 
  

There is clear evidence of a “Carriage Road which is a Parochial Road” 
over the route of alleged Restricted Byway No 29 (and also the 
southern part of existing BOATs Nos 26 (Blanchland) and 80 
(Hexhamshire) too). 
 

1828   Greenwood’s County Map 
  

There is no clear evidence of a road or track over a route resembling 
alleged Restricted Byway No 29, though the routes of existing Byways 
Open to All Traffic No 26 (Blanchland) and 80 (Hexhamshire) are 
depicted as “Cross Roads”. 
 

1831   Greenwood’s County Map (of Durham)  (applicant’s copy) 
 

Although primarily a map of roads in Durham, this map also shows a 
limited number of continuations in the neighbouring counties, including 
what appears to be the claimed route, as part of a longer route to 
Hexham.   
 

1833   Chapman and Hall’s Map of Northumberland  (applicant’s copy) 
 

Given the small scale of the map, it isn’t possible to be certain that this 
route corresponds with that of the alleged restricted byway, but the 
straight line suggests that it probably does. 
 

1834  John Cary’s Reduction of his England and Wales Map  (applicant’s copy) 
 

This map shows a turnpike road from Stanhope, through Blanchland 
and via Dotland, to Hexham.  Given the small scale of the map, it isn’t 
possible to be certain that this route corresponds with that of the alleged 
restricted byway, but the straight line suggests that it probably does.   
 

c.1860   Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:2500  
  
There is clear evidence of an unenclosed track / path along the route of 
existing Public Footpath / alleged Restricted Byway No 29.  In the 
accompanying Book of Reference, existing Byway Open to All Traffic 
No 26 is identified by the parcel number “4” in Shotley High Quarter, 
which corresponds with “Public road”.   The route of alleged Restricted Page 37



Byway No 29 is not identified by an individual parcel number.  It 
appears to be covered by the more general parcel number “5” which 
corresponds with “Rough pasture &c (Blanchland Moor)”.  By way of 
comparison, neither existing BOAT No 80 or RB No 100 (both Parish of 
Hexhamshire), which are set out as public roads in the Bulbeck 
Common Inclosue Award, appear to have individual parcel numbers 
either.  They appear to be covered by the general parcel number “42” in 
Newbiggin Township (Detached), which corresponds with “Rough 
Pasture &c (Embley Fell, Bulbeck Common, - part of)”. 
 

c.1865   Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:10,560 (applicant’s copy) 
   

There is clear evidence of an unenclosed track / path along the route of 
existing Public Footpath / alleged Restricted Byway No 29.   

 
1897  Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:2500 

  
As with the 1860s maps, there is clear evidence of an unenclosed track 
/ path along the route of existing Public Footpath / alleged Restricted 
Byway No 29.    

 
1951   Highways Map 
 

There is no evidence of a publicly maintainable highway depicted over 
the route of alleged Restricted Byway No 29 (but nor is such a route 
depicted over the routes of existing BOATs Nos 26 or 80 (which 
bookend the alleged RB 29 route) either.   
  

        1954 / 57   Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:10,560 
 
There is clear evidence of an unenclosed track / path over the existing 
footpath / alleged restricted byway route.    
    

  Original Definitive Map and Statement 
  

Byway Open to All Traffic No 26 was, then, identified as a public 
bridleway.  No public rights were identified over the route of existing 
Public Footpath / alleged Restricted Byway No 29, nor existing Byway 
Open to All Traffic No 80.    
 

1964   Highways Map 
 

There is no evidence of a publicly maintainable highway depicted over 
the route of alleged Restricted Byway No 29 (but nor is such a route 
depicted over the routes of existing BOATs Nos 26 or 80 (which 
bookend the alleged RB 29 route) either.   
 

         1977 / 78    Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:10,000 
 
There is clear evidence of a “Path” depicted over the route of existing 
Public Footpath / alleged Restricted Byway No 29. 
 

2012   Definitive Map Modification Order (No 14) 2012  
 

Existing Public Footpath No 29 was added to the Definitive Map by 
means of this Order, made in December 2012, and confirmed by an Page 38



Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State in November 2015, 
following a Public Hearing. 

 
 

6. SITE INVESTIGATION 
 
6.1    From a field gate, at the south-west corner of Slaley Forest, where existing 

Public Footpath No 29 (Parish of Slaley) joins existing Byway Open to All 
Traffic No 80 (Parish of Hexhamshire), the route proceeds, largely undefined 
across the heather moorland, in a southerly direction for a distance of 120 
metres.  At this point in joins a 2 metre wide, stone surfaced perimeter track, 
and proceeds in a south-easterly direction along this track for a distance of 
250 metres, to a point where the stone track diverts easterly, but the existing 
public footpath / alleged restricted byway continues in a general south-easterly 
direction for a further 845 metres to join existing Byway Open to All Traffic No 
26, 1020 metres north of Pennypie House.  At the point where the stone track 
and existing footpath / alleged restricted byway separate, the route was 
obstructed by a post and rail fence.  The next 100 metres or so of the route 
appears to proceed along a shallow ‘sunken lane’, but the remainder of the 
route is barely discernible on the ground.    

 
                
7. COMMENTS RECEIVED ON THE DRAFT REPORT 
 
7.1 In November 2023, a draft copy of the report was circulated to the applicant 

and those landowners / occupiers who responded to the initial consultation for 
their comments.  No additional comments have been received. 

 
 
8. DISCUSSION 
 
8.1    The relevant statutory provision which applies to upgrading an existing public 

right of way on the Definitive Map and Statement, based on historical 
documentary evidence, is Section 53(3)(c)(ii) of the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act, 1981.  This requires the County Council (as Surveying Authority) to modify 
the Definitive Map and Statement following the discovery by the authority of 
evidence which (when considered with all other relevant evidence available to 
them) shows: 
 
           that a highway shown in the map and statement as a highway of a 

particular description ought to be there shown as a highway of a 
different description. 

 
8.2    When considering an application / proposal for a modification order, Section 

32 of the Highways Act 1980 provides for “any map, plan or history of the 
locality or other relevant document” to be tendered in evidence and such 
weight to be given to it as considered justified by the circumstances, including 
the antiquity of the tendered document, the status of the person by whom and 
the purpose for which it was made or compiled, and the custody in which it has 
been kept and from which it is produced. 

  
8.3 Although Mr Kind’s application sought to record this route as a restricted  

byway, when determining this application, the Council must consider all the 
available evidence.  It is sometimes the case that the evidence which is 
gathered may point to the existence of higher or lower public rights than those 
that were originally applied for. Page 39



 
8.4    The representation of a path or track on an Ordnance Survey Map is not  

evidence that it is a public right of way.  It is only indicative of its physical 
existence at the time of the survey.   

  
8.5   In paragraphs 60 to 68 of her November 2015 decision letter, in relation to  

DMMO (No 14) 2012, the Inspector set out her conclusions regarding the 
historical evidence, then available.  She began by noting that the evidence 
presented to the July 2015 Local Hearing was largely the same as that 
presented to the earlier Public Inquiries regarding DMMO (No 1) 1996.  In 
Paragraph 61 she stated “It remains the case that the main evidence in 
support of a public carriageway along the Order route post-dates the 1771 
Inclosure Award.  This includes the maps by Fryer in 1820 and Cary in 1827, 
the latter carrying slightly more weight on account of its key identifying the 
route as a carriage road and parochial road.”  To support this current 
application, Mr Kind has supplied some new map evidence.  Greenwood’s 
County Map of Durham (1831) is perhaps the most significant of these.  
Although, primarily, concerned with routes within the neighbouring County of 
Durham, it also shows selected linking routes into adjoining counties and one 
of these is a route between Baybridge and Hexham that certainly appears to 
incorporate the application route.  Chapman & Hall’s Map of Northumberland 
(1833) and John Cary’s Reduction of his England and Wales Map (1834), 
though both are small scale maps, appear to identify a route between 
Baybridge and Dotland (south of Hexham) that corresponds, more closely, 
with the one depicted on Greenwood’s Map of 1831 than any of the likely 
alternatives.   
 

8.6 Further on, in Paragraph 61 of her 2015 decision letter, the Inspector 
continued .. “Whilst the OS maps show a track was in existence from 1860 
through to 1923 at least, its written records in 1860 cast a degree of doubt 
over any presumption it was a ‘public road’ that may be raised by Cary’s map.”  
A route of some description was still being shown on OS maps up until at least 
1977.  Where a route is described as a “Public Road” in the Book of Reference 
accompanying the First Edition 25” OS Map, this can only be taken as limited 
weight in support of public vehicular rights.  By the same token, though, where 
a route is identified as a “Private road” this can only be taken as very limited 
weight against the existence of public highway rights.  In this case, however, 
the Book of Reference is entirely silent as to the route’s status.  Although the 
route now recorded as Byway Open to All Traffic No 26 was identified in the 
Book of Reference as a “Public Road”, other acknowledged public roads (set 
out in the 1771 Bulbeck Common Inclosure Award and currently recorded on 
the Definitive Map as either byways open to all traffic or restricted byways) 
were not.  Hexhamshire BOAT 80 (i.e. the northerly continuation of the 
application route) and Restricted Byway No 100 (which crosses BOAT 80) are 
not identified by individual parcel numbers and appear, only, to be covered by 
a general parcel number “42” relating to Rough Pasture &c (Embley Fell, 
Bulbeck Common – part of)”.   
 

8.7 In Paragraph 63 of her 2015 decision letter, the Inspector adds “I accept that 
the 1771 Inclosure Award lends some weight to the proposition that the 
“Blanchland Road” continued into and across Blanchland Common [footnote 
‘Since no evidence has come to light to show this road ever led to Blanchland 
village as opposed to joining the road to Baybridge, I conclude the name must 
have been referring in general terms to Blanchland Common or Blanchland 
Manor.’].  Yet I find the Greenwood map difficult to dismiss.  Although it cannot 
easily be reconciled with its two contemporaries, it does raise some doubt over Page 40



the eventual destination pre-inclosure of the subsequently awarded 
Blanchland Road.”  Although it is certainly the case that Greenwood’s 1828 
County map of Northumberland does not depict any road or track over the 
application route, his 1831 Map (of Durham) does.  Not only that, it is the only 
route shown between Blanchland / Baybridge and Hexham.  It is, undoubtedly, 
curious that a route which failed to be depicted as (what would have been) just 
one amongst several, on the 1828 map, should suddenly be promoted to be 
part of what was presumably considered to be the primary route just 3 years 
later.  Since the route had already been shown, earlier, on Fryer’s County 
map, it clearly wasn’t an entirely new one.  This suggests that, either, the main 
flow of traffic shifted fairly dramatically, between 1828 and 1831 or, 
alternatively, that Greenwood simply realised he had erred by failing to identify 
the route on his 1828 map.     

 
8.8     In summary, we have the earliest maps (Blanchland Royalty Map (1758), 

Armstrong’s County Map (1769) and Cary’s Map (1787)) which all depict only 
a limited selection of routes, none of them showing the application route.  
There is the Bulbeck Common Inclosure Award of 1771 which sets out a 
comprehensive collection of public roads.  The application route lies just 
outside the area subject to the Inclosure Award (so, unsurprisingly, the 
application route, itself, is not shown), but a 60 foot wide public road (that 
would otherwise be a cul-de-sac) is shown terminating at the Award boundary 
which is also the northern end of the application route.  Whilst it is certainly the 
case that we can’t be sure that the application route was an existing public 
road at the time the Inclosure Award was made, the way the Inclosure 
Commissioners set out a road connecting to the application route is exactly 
what we would expect them to do, if it did.   We then have a few additional 
maps showing only a limited number of routes or providing insufficient detail, 
where the application route does not appear to be identified.  Then there is 
Fryer’s County Map of 1820 and Cary’s Map of 1827.  These two maps are 
more detailed, show a greater selection of routes and clearly identify the 
application route (as an “Other road” and as a “Carriage Road which is a 
Parochial Road” respectively).   Set against this, there is Greenwood’s County 
Map (of Northumberland) (1828) which definitely does not show any road or 
track over the application route.  But then Greenwood’s County Map (of 
Durham) (1831) very definitely does identify a road over the application route, 
and the smaller scale Chapman and Hall’s Map (1833) and Cary’s Map (1834) 
do appear to show a routes matching the application one.  On the First Edition 
(1860s) and Second Edition (1890s) Ordnance Survey maps, both the 
application route and the existing BOAT alternative, to the east, are shown, in 
the same way, as unenclosed tracks.  Although the existing BOAT route was 
identified as a “Public road” in the Book of Reference to accompany the First 
edition map, the application route was not, but other nearby inclosure awarded 
roads (that are now recognised as byways open to all traffic) also failed to be 
identified as “Public roads”, so this omission isn’t considered to be significant. 

 
8.9 When this matter was previously considered the positive evidence in favour of 

a vehicular right of way (primarily the existence of a northerly continuation as 
set out in the Bulbeck Common Inclosure Award of 1771, and the depiction of 
the application route, itself, on Fryer’s County Map of 1820 and Cary’s Map of 
1827) was deemed to have been outweighed by the route’s non-depiction on 
Greenwood’s County Map of 1828 and, to a lesser extent, its non-depiction as 
a ”Public road” in the 1860s OS Book of Reference.  The introduction of 
Greenwood’s County Map (of Durham) (1831) and, to a lesser extent, 
Chapman & Hall’s Map of 1833 and Cary’s Map of 1834, would appear to tip 
the balance of evidence back in favour of a vehicular highway.   Page 41



 
8.10 The Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC Act 2006)   

had a major impact upon the recording of byways open to all traffic based 
upon historical documentary evidence.  Under section 67 of the Act, any 
existing, but unrecorded, public rights of way for mechanically propelled 
vehicles were extinguished unless one of the ‘saving’ provisions applied.  In 
brief, these saving provisions were: (a) if the main lawful public use between 
2001 and 2006 was with motor vehicles; (b) if the route was on the List of 
Streets (on 2 May 2006) and not also on the Definitive Map as something less 
than a byway open to all traffic; (c) the route was legally created expressly for 
motor vehicular use; (d) the route was a road deliberately constructed for 
public motor vehicular use; or (e) the vehicular highway came about as a 
result of unchallenged motor vehicular use before December 1930.  

   
8.11 At this stage, there is no evidence to suggest that any of the saving provisions 

identified, in 8.10 above, would apply to the application route.  Any public 
motor-vehicular rights which existed over this route would appear to have 
been extinguished by s.67 of the NERC Act 2006.  It would be appropriate to 
recognise the public’s remaining vehicular rights over the route by upgrading 
the existing public footpath to restricted byway status.   

  
8.12    Advice from the Planning Inspectorate in their ‘consistency guidelines’ states 

that it is important to have the correct width, where known, recorded in the 
definitive statement.  Where no width can be determined by documentary 
means (such as an Inclosure Award, Highway Order or dedication document), 
there is usually a boundary to boundary presumption for public highways.  
There is no evidence that the application route has ever been enclosed by 
boundaries.  On that basis, it is proposed that the restricted byway / byway 
open to all traffic be identified with the Council’s standard default width of 5 
metres (i.e. wide enough for two vehicles, travelling in opposite directions, to 
pass each other).  

  
8.13 Not all public highways are publicly maintainable.  In broad terms, public   

footpaths and bridleways which existed prior to the National Parks and Access 
to the Countryside Act 1949 are automatically publicly maintainable.  Section 
23 of the Highways Act 1835 provided that no roads coming into existence 
after that Act would be publicly maintainable unless prescribed procedures (for 
adoption) were followed.  The List of Streets is the Council’s record of which 
public highways are considered to be publicly maintainable.   
 

8.14 In Attorney General v Watford Rural District Council (1912) it was determined 
that once a route had been found to be a public highway, the onus lay on the 
highway authority to demonstrate that it wasn’t publicly maintainable, rather 
than for anyone else to prove that it was.  Given that the map evidence 
appears to show that this road existed prior to 1835 then, in the absence of 
any clear evidence that this road is privately maintainable, the presumption 
must be that it is publicly maintainable and, on that basis, if it is recorded on 
the Definitive Map as a restricted byway, it should also be recognised as a 
publicly maintainable highway on the Council’s List of Streets.  
  
 

9. CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 Based on the documentary evidence available, on a balance of probability, it 

appears that public vehicular rights have been shown to exist over the route C-
D.  Page 42



  
9.2 The Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 would appear to 

have extinguished the public’s motor vehicular rights over the whole C-D 
route.  

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS   
 
Local Services Group File:  507/029z  
  

Report Author          Alex Bell – Definitive Map Officer 
(01670) 624133   
Alex.Bell@Northumberland.gov.uk 

 
  

  

Page 43

mailto:Alex.Bell@Northumberland.gov.uk


Page 44



 

Page 45



Page 46



This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of His Majesty's Stationary Office
Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. License no. 100049048 (2012)

County Hall, Morpeth, NE61 2EF
Contact: Highway Search Team

EMail: Highwaysearch@northumberland.gov.uk

Legend This is a computer generated extract of the Working Copy
of the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way

Scale 1:10,000

507/027543/042
507/034

543/048

54
3/

01
9

507/010

52
5/

10
1

52
5/0

64

525/079

52
5/

10
0

54
3/

02
0

52
5/

08
1

52
5/

07
8

52
5/

09
2

54
3/

04
1

525/080

507/029

50
7/

02
6

Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2023. OS
100030994

54

53

9594

Footpath

Bridleway

Restricted Byway

Byway Open to All TrafficPage 47



Page 48



Page 49



Marshall’s Blanchland Royalty Map 
1758 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 50



 
Armstrong’s County Map 

1769 
 

 
 

 
  

Page 51



Bulbeck Common Inclosure Award 
1771 
 
 
 

 
 

 
  

Page 52



Cary’s Map of Northumberland 
1787   

 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 53



Cary’s ‘Grid Plan’ Map of England 
1794 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 54



The Monthly Magazine or British Register  
1801 

 

 
  

Page 55



 
  

Page 56



Boundary Disputes Plan  
1808 

 

 
  

Page 57



John Cary’s Reduction of his Large Map of England and Wales 
1815 

 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 58



Greenwood’s County Map (of Durham) 
1819 / 20 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 59



Fryer’s County Map 
1820 

 
 

 

 
  

Page 60



Cary’s Map 
1827 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 61



Greenwood’s County Map 
1828 

 
 

 
  

Page 62



 
 

Greenwood’s County Map (of Durham) 
1831 

 

 Page 63



Chapman & Hall’s Map of Northumberland 
1833 

 
 
 

 
 

  

Page 64



John Cary’s Reduction of his Large Map of England and Wales 
1834 

 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 65



 
1:2500 Ordnance Survey Map 

c.1860 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      

 
 

   
  

Page 66



 
 

1:2500 Ordnance Survey Map – accompanying Book of Reference 
c.1860 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 Page 67



1:2500 Ordnance Survey Map – accompanying Book of Reference 
c.1860 

 

 
 
 

Page 68



1:2500 Ordnance Survey Map 
1896 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 69



 
 

 
Highways Map 

1951 
 
 

 
 

  

Page 70



Page 71



Original Definitive Map 
(Relevant Date: 20 Sept 1954) 

 
 
 

  

Page 72



1:10,560 Ordnance Survey Map 
1954 / 57 

 
 
 

 
  

Page 73



Highways Map 
1964 

 
 

 
  

Page 74



1:10,000 Ordnance Survey Map 
1977 / 78 

 
 
 

 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



 
RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 
20 December 2023 

 
 
 

REVIEW OF THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT 
OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY 

 
ALLEGED PUBLIC BRIDLEWAYS Nos 33 & 42  

PARISHES OF BRINKBURN & ROTHBURY 
 

Report of the Director of Environment and Transport 
Cabinet Member: Councillor John Riddle, Roads and Highways 

   
 
Purpose of report  
 
In this report, the Rights of Way Committee is asked to consider all the relevant 
evidence gathered in support and in rebuttal of the existence of public bridleway 
rights over a route from the eastern end of the U4066 road north-west of Wagtail 
Farm, in a general south-easterly direction to join the northern end of the U4038 road 
at Brinkburn Station.    
 
 
Recommendation  
 
It is recommended that the Rights of Way Committee agrees that there is 
sufficient evidence to indicate that public bridleway rights have been 
reasonably alleged to exist over the route V1-V-W-X and that route be included 
in a future Definitive Map Modification Order. 

 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND  
 
1.1 The relevant statutory provisions which apply to adding a public right of way to 

the Definitive Map and Statement based on 20 years user evidence are 
Sections 53(3)(b) and 53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act, 1981, 
which require the County Council (as Surveying Authority) to modify the 
Definitive Map and Statement following: 

 
“The expiration, in relation to any way in the area to which the map 
relates, of any period such that the enjoyment by the public of the way 
during that period raises a presumption that the way has been 
dedicated as a public path or restricted byway” [s53(3)(b)] 

or 
Page 77

Agenda Item 5



“the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with 
all other relevant evidence available to them) shows that a right of way 
which is not shown in the map and statement subsists or is reasonably 
alleged to subsist over land in the area to which the map relates, being 
a right of way such that the land over which the right subsists is a public 
path, a restricted byway or, subject to section 54A, a byway open to all 
traffic;”  [s53(3)(c)(i)]  

 
1.2 It is an unresolved question whether it is permissible to invoke section 

53(3)(c)(i) in a case to which section 53(3)(b) applies.  There is a case 
(Bagshaw), which is indirect authority to the effect that in any case of deemed 
dedication reliance on paragraph (c)(i) is perfectly acceptable.  Members are 
therefore invited to apply the lower test. 

 
1.3 Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 (HA80) provides for the presumption of 

dedication of a public right of way following 20 years continuous use. Sub-
section (1) states: 

 
“Where a way over any land, other than a way of such a character that 
use of it by the public could not give rise at common law to any 
presumption of dedication, has been actually enjoyed by the public as 
of right and without interruption for a full period of 20 years, the way is 
deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient 
evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it.” 

 
1.4 It is necessary to show that there has been uninterrupted use, as of right, by 

the public over a period of 20 years or more.  ‘As of right’ means openly, not 
secretly, not by force and not by permission. The public must have used the 
way without hindrance (e.g. objections, verbal / written warnings, etc) or 
permission from the landowner or his agents. The 20 year period may be 
shown at any time in the past and is generally taken to run backwards from the 
date when the use of the path was first “brought into question”, whether by a 
notice or otherwise. 

 
1.5 The Committee must consider whether there is sufficient evidence to allege 

that the presumption is raised. The standard of proof is the civil one that is the 
balance of probabilities. Members must weigh up the evidence and if, on 
balance, it is reasonable to allege that there is a public right of way, then the 
presumption is raised. The onus is then on the landowner to show evidence 
that there was no intention on their part to dedicate. 

 
1.6 Such evidence may consist of notices or barriers, or by the locking of the way 

on one day in the year, and drawing this to the attention of the public, or by the 
deposit of a Declaration under section 31(6) HA80 to the effect that no 
additional ways (other than any specifically indicated in the Declaration) have 
been dedicated as highways since the date of the deposit. 

 
1.7 All the relevant statutory provisions and competing rights and interests have 

been considered in making this report. The recommendation is in accordance 
with the law and proportionate, having regard to individuals’ rights and the 
public interest. 

 
 
 
 

Page 78



2.0 PUBLIC EVIDENCE 
 
2.1  In June 2021 the County Council received an application, from Simon 

McClurey-Rutkiewicz, to add to the Definitive Map and Statement a public 
bridleway from the eastern end of Mill Lane (the U4066 road), just to the north-
east of Wagtail Farm, in a general south-easterly direction to the northern end 
of the U4038 road at the former Brinkburn Station (V-W-X). 

 
2.2  The proposal was supported by user evidence from 16 members of the public, 

9 of whom claim to have used the path on foot and bicycle or foot and 
horseback for periods in excess of 20 years. 
 

 
3. LANDOWNER EVIDENCE  
 
3.1 By letter, dated 12th September 2022, the Northumberland Estates responded 

to the consultation, stating:    
 

“I am in receipt of your letter dated 30th August 2022 received at this 
office on 5th September 2022. 
 
“As requested, I return the plans confirming ownership of land is 
managed by Northumberland Estates at the sites which applications 
have been made on.  I confirm we will be objecting to the application at 
Rothbury – and request at this stage that we are provided with a copy 
of the application submitted by Simon McClurey Rutkiewicz and the 
supporting evidence of the 16 members of the public – I think rather 
than waste people’s time and energy this needs to be disclosed now. 
 

3.2 By note, received on 24th October 2022, Jessica Pringle of Wagtail Farm 
responded to the consultation stating: 

 
  “Wagtail Farm, Tenancy June Taylor farming in partnership with Jessica 

& Geoff Pringle.   
 

“Personally I have ridden both horses and cycle since railway was taken 
up in 60s from Wagtail to West Raw (Brinkburn).” 

 
3.3 By letter, dated 25th November 2022, Ward Hadaway responded to the 

consultation, stating:    
 

“We are instructed by The Honourable Lord Max Ralph Percy in relation 
to the above and, in particular, to respond to your pre-order consultation 
letter of 30 August 2022 requesting information in support or rebuttal of 
the proposal to add Alleged Bridleway No. 33 (Parish of Brinkburn) and 
Alleged Bridleway No. 42 (Parish of Rothbury) (as identified on plan 20 
appended to this letter at Appendix 1 from V-W-X) to the Definitive Map 
and Statement (together hereinafter referred to as "the Application 
Route").  
 
“Lord Percy owns the freehold title to the land over which the 
Application Route passes ("the Land"), registered at HM Land Registry 
with title numbers ND126322 and ND126072.  
 
“We are instructed to object to the proposal to add the Application 
Route to the Definitive Map and for the reasons set out below, it is Page 79



submitted that the alleged footpath has not been reasonably alleged to 
subsist and accordingly that the Council ought to reject the Proposal 
and decline to modify the Definitive Map.  

 
“1. The Application Route  
 
“1.1. The Application Route is a former railway line, forming part of the 
Rothbury branch line of the Northumberland Central Railway, which ran 
from Scots Gap to Rothbury. The Application Route runs along the 
former railway track from Wagtail Farm at point V to the former 
Brinkburn Station at point X.  
 
“1.2. The Land was transferred to the North British Railway Company 
on 12 November 1875. It is reported by G.W.M Sewell in his study The 
North British Railway in Northumberland1 that the last service on this 
line was on 9 November 1963 and that the tracks were lifted the 
following year. The Land was conveyed from the British Railways Board 
back to the Duke of Northumberland on 29 October 1970.  
 
1.3. The term "the Northumberland Estates" is used (and will be used in 
this Letter) to collectively refer to the various interests and landholdings 
of the Duke of Northumberland, his companies and the trusts and 
settlements associated with the Duke and the Duke's family. The Land 
has formed part of the Northumberland Estates since 1970.  
 
1.4. Pursuant to a Trust Instrument and a Vesting Deed dated 19 April 
1972 the Land (and other land) was vested in the trustees of the Tenth 
Duke of Northumberland's 1972 Settlement ("the Trustees"). The Land 
was subsequently transferred by the Trustees to Lord Percy on 23 
December 2014 by way of a Vesting Deed and transfer of a portfolio of 
titles.  
 
1.5. The Application Route is abutted by Wagtail Farm, which has been 
leased to the Taylor family since 1989 and West Raw Farm which is 
currently tenanted by William Carmichael Charleton, known (and 
hereinafter referred to) as Michael Charleton, and has been since 1963. 
Butterknowes Farm is to the south west of the Application Route. The 
tenant farmers of Wagtail, West Raw and Butterknowes farms use the 
Application Route with the permission of the Northumberland Estates.  
 
1.6. A portion of the Application Route running from point E to point F 
on the plan appended to this letter at Appendix 2 has formed part of St 
Oswald's Way long-distance walking route since approximately 2007, 
pursuant to a permissive path licence granted to Northumberland 
County Council and Alnwick County Council. Consequently, the 
relevant portion of the Application Route is marked by waymarkers and 
"kissing"/"wicket" gates were installed by the Council in approximately 
2007 to enable access to the route.  
 
1.7. From 1970 until approximately 2000, a shooting licence in respect 
of the Application Route (and other land) was granted to the Carmichael 
syndicate (with the Carmichael syndicate having some limited ongoing 
shooting rights until 2003), and the Application Route and surrounding 
area was used for shooting. Since 2000, shooting has continued to take 
place on the Application Route, initially organised directly by the 
Northumberland Estates and from 2016 under a new shooting licence Page 80



to John Dodds. In addition, the Application Route is also frequently 
used for hunting by the Morpeth Hunt.  
 
2. The legislative framework  
 
2.1. It is acknowledged that Northumberland County Council ("the 
Council") have a duty, by virtue of section 53(2)(b) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 ("WCA 1981") to keep the Definitive Map and 
Statement under continuous review, and we note that in determining 
whether to update the Definitive Map, the Council are obliged to take 
into account the relevant test set out in section 53(3)(c)(i) WCA 1981. 
This requires the Council to modify the Definitive map following:  
 

" (c) the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when 
considered with all other relevant evidence available to them 
shows –  

(i) that a right of way which is not shown in the map and 
statement subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over 
land in the area to which the map relates'"  

 
2.2. An application was made to the Council in June to add the 
Application Route to the Definitive Map and Statement ("the 
Application"), supported by user evidence forms completed by 16 
individuals. Where, as in this case, an application is based upon user 
evidence, we note the use must satisfy the statutory test set out section 
31(1) Highways Act 1980 ("the HA 1980") which states -  

 
"Where a way over any land, other than a way of such a 
character that use of it by the public could not give rise at 
common law to any presumption of dedication, has been actually 
enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of 20 years, the way is to be deemed to have been 
dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient evidence that 
there was no intention during that period to dedicate it."  

 
2.3. We submit that, due to the reasons set out below, the user 
evidence in support of the Application is not sufficient to satisfy the test 
set out in section 31 HA 1980, and consequently a public right of way 
has not been reasonably alleged to subsist over the Application Route 
requiring the Council to modify the Definitive Map pursuant to section 
53 WCA 1981. We therefore respectfully invite the Council to decline to 
make a Definitive Map Modification Order in response to the 
Application.  

 
3. The Relevant Period  
 
3.1. In accordance with s31(2) of the HA 1980, the period of 20 years 
referred to in s31(1) HA 1980 is calculated retrospectively from the date 
when the right of the public to use the way is first brought into question.  
 
3.2. Section 31(6) of the HA 1980 provides for a landowner to deposit 
with the appropriate council a map and statement indicating which ways 
he admits to have dedicated as highways and that such a deposit, 
along with statutory declarations at the relevant intervals, shall act to 
evidence the negative intention of the landowner to dedicate any 
additional ways.  Page 81



 
3.3. Prior to a transfer of a portfolio of titles to Lord Percy on 23 
December 2014, the freehold title to the Land was held by the trustees 
of the Tenth Duke of Northumberland's 1972 Settlement ("the 
Trustees").  
 
3.4. The Trustees (in addition to other individuals being the trustees or 
statutory owners of other land comprising part of the Northumberland 
Estates) deposited with the Council a statement and plan under s31(6) 
of the HA 1980 in October 1997 (the relevant extracts of which are 
enclosed at Appendix 3), such plan including the land over which the 
Application Route passes. Furthermore, the Trustees, as landowners, 
made statutory declarations in January 1998, May 2003 and May 2013. 
The statutory declarations are appended to this letter at Appendix 4. 
Such a declaration is deemed sufficient both to demonstrate that the 
landowner did not have an intention to dedicate the route as a right of 
way, and as consequently call the public's right to use the way into 
question. The right of the public to use the route was therefore brought 
into question, at the latest, by January 1998, but may have been 
brought into question earlier as set out in paragraphs 3.6 below.  

 
3.5. Therefore, in order for the Application to meet the statutory test, 
there is a need to demonstrate that that the requirements of s31(1) HA 
1980 are met in respect of a 20 year period prior to January 1998. The 
relevant period is therefore, at the latest, the twenty year period from 
January 1978 to January 1998.  
 
3.6. However, the public right to use the Application Route appears to 
have been first brought into question prior to the deposit of the s31(6) 
statement by the locking of a number of gates across the Application 
Route.  
 
3.7. As detailed in the witness statements of Michael Charleton, tenant 
at West Raw Farm (appended to this letter at Appendix 5) and Alan 
Wilson, a former fencer for the Northumberland Estates (appended to 
this letter at Appendix 6), it is believed that gates were first erected 
along the Application Route in the early 1970s after the Land was 
transferred back to the Northumberland Estates. Gates are currently 
located on the Application Route at the points marked A – D on the plan 
appended to this letter at Appendix 2. As referred to in paragraph 8 of 
his witness statement, Michael Charleton recalls that when gates were 
originally erected they were located on the boundary between West 
Raw farm and Wagtail Farm and at the railway cutting (the locations of 
two of the current gates at those locations marked B and C on the plan 
at Appendix 2), as well as at the boundary between West Raw Farm 
and Butterknowes Farm in the approximate location marked C on 
Exhibit 3 to his witness statement, this gate being located underneath 
the bridge over the railway line at the southern end of Brinkburn Station 
Cottage. Alan Wilson recalls installing five gates on the boundaries 
between each farm along the length of the former railway line (part of 
which is the Application Route).  

 
3.8. Although it is not known precisely when the gates were first locked, 
is it understood that they were locked shortly after they were installed 
and Stephen Mills, former gamekeeper for the Northumberland Estates 
who used the Application Route very frequently in the course of his Page 82



duties (his witness statement is appended at Appendix 7), asserts that 
when he first became the gamekeeper responsible for the Land in 
1989, the gates were locked the majority of the time. Michael Charleton 
appears to share this recollection, stating that the gates were often 
locked, and that as far as he recalls the reason why the gates were 
sometimes left unlocked was due to keys getting lost from time to time. 
We understand that the gates were initially locked with "Estate 
Padlocks", with keys held by the Northumberland Estates and the local 
tenant farmers, and are now locked with combination locks.  
 
3.9. It is submitted that the locking of the gates with keys held by the 
Estate and issued only to a limited number of properties is clearly an 
action inconsistent with an intention to allow public use of the 
Application Route, and as such the public right to use the Application 
Route was called into question by the locking of the gates, likely in the 
late 1970s or early 1980s. Consequently, it is submitted that the 
relevant period is considerably earlier than January 1978 to January 
1998, and is instead a twenty year period prior to the locking of the 
gates in the late 1970s or early 1980s.  

 
3.10. As detailed in section 1 above, until late 1963 the land over which 
the Application Route passes was used as an operational railway line 
(and was owned by the British Railway Board until it was conveyed 
back to the Duke of Northumberland in 1970). Pursuant to section 55 of 
the British Transport Commission Act 1949, it is (and was from the 
enactment of the legislation in 1949) an offence to trespass upon the 
lines of railways or sidings or in any tunnel or upon any railway 
embankment cutting or similar work now or hereafter belonging or 
leased to or worked by the Boards.  
 
3.11. As such, prior to late 1963 it would have been a criminal offence 
to walk along the Application Route, and consequently it is submitted 
that any use prior to this date could not contribute to the acquisition of 
public rights. This was the conclusion reached by the Inspectors 
decision dated 19 December 2007 in respect of a proposed footpath 
running along the line of the former Alnwick to Alnmouth railway 
(reference FPS/R2900/7/45) in which it was stated at paragraph 8 that 
"Whilst the route was an operational railway it would have been a 
criminal offence to walk along it and any such use could not contribute 
to the acquisition of public rights over it."  

 
3.12. For the reasons set out in the above paragraphs it is our primary 
submission that an uninterrupted 20 year period as required by s31(1) 
HA 1980 cannot be established for the period covered by the user 
evidence forms and consequently, without it being necessary to 
consider the user evidence, the Application must fail.  
 
3.13. Without prejudice to the above position, it is critical to note that 
the actions taken by the Northumberland Estates throughout the period 
of claimed use are demonstrative of a landowner who is intent on 
protecting its land from accrual of public rights. The actions referred to 
by the landowner elsewhere in this letter are sufficient to call into 
question the public's right to use the way for the purposes of s31 or, at 
the very least, evidential of a landowner who clearly has no intention 
whatsoever to dedicate public rights of way over its land.   

 Page 83



4. Analysis of User Evidence  
 
4.1. Notwithstanding the conclusions set out in paragraph 3.12 above 
that it is unlikely that an uninterrupted 20 year period of use can be 
established due to the locking of gates across the route calling into 
question the public's right to use the Application Route, we submit that 
in any event the user evidence submitted in support of the Application 
provides insufficient evidence of public use to conclude that it has been 
reasonably alleged that the Application Route existed as a public right 
of way prior to 1998.  
 
4.2. Pursuant to section 31(1) of the HA 1980, and following R v 
Oxfordshire County Council ex parte Sunningwell, public use of the 
Application Route must be "as of right", namely without force, secrecy 
or permission.  
 
4.3. In addition, in considering whether the quality and quantity of public 
use of the Application Route is sufficient to raise the presumption of 
dedication under section 31(1) of the HA 1980, it is submitted that while 
statute does not stipulate a minimum usage, following the Supreme 
Court decision in R (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council 
the extent and quality of the use should be sufficient to alert an 
observant owner to the fact that a public right is being asserted.  

 
4.4. Further, following the High Court decision in Powell v Secretary of 
State for the Environment Food and Rural Affairs it is our submission 
that the correct approach is to firstly examine the quality, and quantity, 
of the user evidence and then subsequently consider if any of the 
vitiating elements of the above tripartite test can apply.  
 
4.5. The Quantity and Quality of User Evidence It is submitted that in 
order to meet the requirements of Lewis, it must be demonstrated that 
the Application Route has been used by the public at large, contrasted 
with sporadic use of the Application Route by a nominal number of 
people.  

 
4.5.1. The Application consists of 16 User Evidence forms (UEFs). As 
discussed in paragraph 4.6 below, 3 of these 16 UEFs refer to use 
which is with permission (and a further UEF refers to use which we 
understand was with permission), and not, therefore, use "as of right". 
In the context of the combined population of the Parishes of Rothbury 
and Brinkburn, recorded as 2,329 in 2011 (the most up to date publicly 
available census figures), it is submitted that the quantum of user 
evidence is therefore very limited and not sufficient to constitute 'use by 
the public' as required by s31(1) HA 1980.  
 
4.5.2. In addition while the UEFs assert frequent use of the Application 
Route, a considerable number also demonstrate a general lack of 
familiarity with the Application Route. Three of the 16 UEFs relating to 
use after 1970 do not recognise the existence of any gates on the 
route, despite, as set out above, the evidence of Michael Charleton and 
Alan Wilson being that there has been a number of prominent (often 
locked) gates on the route since the early 1970s. The UEF completed 
by Samantha Davidson refers to the gates having been in place for 
"approx. 20 years", despite the witness evidence of Alan Wilson and 
Michael Charleton suggesting that gates having been in situ Page 84



approximately 50 years prior to the completion of the UEF. Further, 
despite there currently being a number of prominent signs on the 
Application Route (in particular located near the point F on the plan 
appended to this letter at Appendix 2 which state "Private, No Public  
Access") clearly distinguishing between the St Oswald's Way and the 
stretch of the Application Route over which no permissive rights are 
granted, there being small plastic signs on a number of the gates 
reading "No cycling" and "No horses" and Stephen Mills recalling a sign 
on the Application Route at the boundary of Wagtail Farm reading 
"Permissive Right of Way" being in place when he became gamekeeper 
in 1989, 9 out of the 12 UEFs which refer to use after 1989 do not 
recognise the existence of the signs.. We submit that these points 
potentially raise further questions as to the familiarity of the users with 
the Application Route.  
 
4.5.3. Further, the impression created by the UEFs of considerable 
public use of the Application route prior to 1998 appears to be at odds 
with the recollection of Northumberland Estates employees during this 
period. At paragraph 7 of his witness statement, Stephen Mills 
comments that prior to the creation of the St Oswald's Way permissive 
route, he "rarely saw anyone using the Alleged Bridleway when [he] 
was working along it". As referenced briefly above, Stephen Mills spent 
a very considerable amount of time on the Application Route while 
employed as a gamekeeper for the Northumberland Estates, visiting the 
Application Route at least once a week during the winter months, but 
often daily or twice daily (particularly in the spring months) to manage 
wildlife. As such, it is asserted that he would have been well placed to 
notice frequent use of the Application Route by the public at large.  
 
4.5.4. In addition, while 7 of the UEFs state that users have ridden 
horses along the Application Route, this is also at odds with the 
perspectives of Michael Charleton and Stephen Mills as regards use of 
the route. Stephen Mills comments that other than use by the Whitton 
Trekking Centre and June Gibson (which was with likely with 
permission, discussed further below) he "rarely saw anyone try to use 
the Alleged Bridleway on a horse". Michael Charleton notes that while 
he does recall "some" horses on the line, his understanding is that 
these were likely ridden out from either Wagtail Farm or West Raw 
Farm, or with his express permission.  
 
4.6. As of Right  
 
4.6.1. As stated at paragraph 4.2 above, a key requirement of the 
statutory test is that the use of the Application Route is as of right. This 
is established by considering the tripartite test set out in R v Oxfordshire 
County Council, ex parte Sunningwell 6 which is that the use must be 
without force, secrecy or permission.  
 
4.6.2. Three of the 16 UEFs submitted in support of the Application 
state that use of the Application Route was (at least for some of the 
duration of use) with permission:  
 
4.6.2.1. Suzanne Laidlaw states that she received permission to use 
the route from Jack Carr at Wagtail Farm and Michael Charleton at 
West Raw in approximately 1975;  

Page 85



4.6.2.2. Kenneth Davidson states that he received permission from 
Michael Charleton of West Raw fam in approximately 1984; and  
 
4.6.2.3. James Fenwick states that he received permission from Mr and 
Mrs Taylor (of Wagtail Farm) in 1983.  
 
4.6.3. It is submitted that the use of these individuals after the date 
upon which permission was received was not "as of right" and should 
be discounted when considering the extent of public use of the 
Application Route. Once the use of the Application Route by Suzanne 
Laidlaw, Kenneth Davidson and James Fenwick after 1975, 1984 and 
1983 respectively is discounted, this leaves only 13 UEFs which assert 
evidence of use by the public "as of right" prior to 1998.  
 
4.6.4. In addition, as briefly discussed above, while 7 of the UEFs 
assert use of the Application Route on horseback, it is submitted that it 
is very likely that such use was with permission, and should therefore 
be discounted when considering the extent of public use. Stephen Mills 
notes at paragraph 8 of his witness statement that while Mary Rains 
asserts use of the Application Route with groups of riders from the 
Whitton Trekking Centre, he understands that permission to use the 
Application Route was sought from Northumberland Estates after the 
Trekking Centre had been prevented from using the Garleigh 
(Lordenshaw) Hill fort route. Further, while Michael Charleton 
acknowledges in his witness statement that there has been some use 
of the Application Route on horseback, it appears to be his 
understanding that these horses were being ridden out from either 
Wagtail Farm or West Raw Farm (and therefore using the route with 
permission) or the use was with his express permission. Mr Charleton 
specifically recalls giving permission to Ann Foggin to use the route on 
horseback, which is not acknowledged in her UEF, albeit she 
acknowledges that Mr Charleton did inform her that the route was not 
public. When Ann Foggin's use with permission is taken into account, it 
would suggest that four of the individuals who submitted UEFs were 
using the Application Route with permission and not "as of right".  
 
4.6.5. While the UEF completed by William Gaskell refers to use of the 
Application Route by a pony and trap, it is submitted that such use was 
also very likely to have taken place with permission, and should 
therefore not be considered when evaluating public use. As detailed in 
paragraph 10 of Michael Charleton's witness statement and also noted 
in the witness statement of Stephen Mills, it is understood that the only 
individual using the Application Route in this way was June Gibson, a 
former partner of Michael Charleton. We understand that Ms. Gibson 
lived with Mr. Charleton at West Raw Farm from approximately 1989 to 
2020 and as such any use of the Application Route was with his 
permission. Mr. Charleton also notes that notwithstanding this 
permission, Ms Gibson did not frequently use the Application Route in 
this way due to the difficulties caused by the need to open and close 
the gates along the route.  
 
4.6.6. In addition to the instances of express permission discussed 
above, it is submitted that (as is reflected in the witness statements of 
Michael Charleton and Stephen Mills) there is a general understanding 
that tenants of the Northumberland Estates have an implied permission 
to access other land owned by the Northumberland Estates. At Page 86



paragraph 7 of his witness statement Stephen Mills states that he would 
"recognise the tenants of the Estate and it was accepted that Estate 
tenants generally had permission to be on Estate land so I wouldn't 
have challenged those persons". Michael Charleton also appears to 
recognise this understanding, commenting that the tenants of 
Butterknowes Farm would use the Application Route to move stock but 
that "as they were tenants of the Estate it was always considered that 
they had permission….". Consequently, it is submitted that while it is 
not disputed that there was some public use of the Application Route 
during the relevant period, the perception of frequent public use created 
by the UEFs does not take into account that a number of 
Northumberland Estates tenants used the Application Route on the 
basis of this implied permission, and should therefore not be taken into 
account when considering the extent of public use of the Application 
Route.  
 
4.7. It is therefore our submission that UEFs submitted in support of the 
Application provide insufficient evidence of public use to conclude that a 
public right of way has been reasonably alleged to subsist over the 
Application Route. It is submitted that they are insufficient in terms of 
quantum and in some instances show a general lack of familiarity with 
the route or use of the route that is at odds with the recollection of 
Northumberland Estates employees or tenants, and in a number of 
cases provide evidence only of use that was with the permission of 
Northumberland Estates or Northumberland Estates' tenants on their 
behalf. The granting of permission to Northumberland Estate tenants 
and select individuals is reflective of the typical approach taken by the 
Estate to land such as the Application Route. Nevertheless, it was, and 
remains, the primary intention of the Northumberland Estates to prevent 
use of the Application Route by the public at large, granting permission 
(including permissive access to the public by way of the St Oswald's 
Way) as and when appropriate taking into consideration the interests of 
the Estate and its tenants.  
 
5. Lack of Intention to Dedicate  
 
5.1. As set out above, we submit that the test set out in s31 HA 1980, 
requiring 'use by the public' is not met during this period, due to 
insufficient user evidence and/or such limited use not being as of right.  
 
5.2. However, notwithstanding the above conclusions, we contend that 
in any event there is an extensive and continuous history of actions 
which demonstrate a lack of intention to dedicate the Application Route 
as a public right of way, further preventing the test in s31 HA 1980 from 
being met:  
 
5.2.1. The decision made by the Northumberland Estates to erect and 
maintain a number of gates across the Application Route which (as 
discussed at paragraph 3.8 above) were subsequently locked with 
Estate padlocks and keys issued only to a limited number of individuals, 
not only (we submit) calls into question the public's right to use the 
Application Route, but is also sufficient in itself to demonstrate a clear 
intention not to dedicate the Order Route a public right of way. While 
the witness statement of Alan Wilson, former Estate Fencer, does 
assert that the initial purpose of the gates was to prevent livestock 
moving between the farms, it is submitted that the subsequent locking Page 87



of the gates with keys provided only to a limited number of individuals 
demonstrates a clear intention to prevent public access without 
permission. In any event, it is submitted that both the erection and the 
locking of the gates provide clear evidence of a landowner actively 
managing and controlling access to the Application Route, without any 
intention to dedicate it as a public right of way. We further submit that 
the same conclusion can be drawn in respect of the depositing by the 
Northumberland Estates of a statement and a plan pursuant to s31(6) 
HA 1980 and the subsequent making of the three statutory 
declarations.  
 
5.2.2. A number of the UEFs submitted in support of the Application as 
well as the witness statements provided by Stephen Mills and Michael 
Charleton demonstrate that there have been consistent efforts made by 
the Northumberland Estates and its tenant farmers to challenge users 
of the Application Route. The UEFs submitted by both Ann Foggin and 
Kenneth Davidson assert that they were informed that the Application 
Route was not public, while the UEF submitted by William Gaskell 
refers to his friend being prevented from using the Application Route to 
cycle to work in Rothbury. Both Michael Charleton and Stephen Mills 
refer to challenging individuals they have come across using the 
Application Route and advising them specifically that the Application 
Route is not a public right of way. We submit that the actions of Mr 
Charleton and Stephen Mills demonstrate a clear lack of intention on 
behalf of the Northumberland Estates to dedicate the land as a public 
right of way.  
 
5.2.3. As referenced briefly above, from 1970 until approximately 2000, 
a shooting licence in respect of the Application Route (and other land) 
was granted to the Carmichael syndicate (with some limited ongoing 
shooting rights granted until 2003), and from 2000 shooting on the line 
was run directly by the Estate, with the frequency of shoots varying over 
the years, but generally 6-12 times per year. Stephen Mills recalls that 
the shooting would generally take place for several hours over the 
course of the day, with the guns being along the stretch of the 
Application Route coloured yellow on Exhibit 2 to his witness statement 
and, when the Estate ran the shoot, the Estate gamekeepers being 
responsible for unlocking the gates for the shoot. This is echoed by 
Michael Charleton, who recalls the guns standing on a 150-200 yard 
stretch near to the railway cutting, coloured yellow on the plan 
appended at Exhibit 3 to his witness statement, shooting over the crag. 
We submit that in the granting of a shooting tenancy over the 
Application Route, and by subsequently running the shooting over the 
Application Route, preventing access to the Application Route other 
than for those involved in the shoot, the Northumberland Estates has 
demonstrated a clear lack of intention to dedicate the land as a public 
right of way. This can also be said in respect of the Estate granting 
permission to the Morpeth Hunt to use the Application Route (Stephen 
Mills comments that this takes place approximately 6 times per year), 
with the gates to be unlocked by the tenant farmers. Further, it is 
submitted that the Estate gamekeepers and tenant farmers being 
responsible for unlocking the gates for shooting and hunting activity 
respectively is consistent with a landowner that is keen to keep close 
control over the Application Route, with no intention to allow wider 
public access.  
 Page 88



5.2.4. We also note that significant maintenance works have been 
carried out by Northumberland Estates on the Application Route, as 
detailed at paragraphs 10 to 12 of the witness statement of George 
Tate of the Estate Clerk of Works department (attached at Appendix 9), 
blocking public access to stretches of the Application Route for periods 
of time. Mr Tate recalls significant resurfacing works being carried out 
on a stretch of the Application Route not forming part of St Oswald's 
Way in 2012 and culvert repair and renewal works being carried out on 
part of St Oswald's Way from 2012 to 2014. He comments that during 
these periods the stretches of the Application Route where works were 
undertaken were closed to prevent public access. In the case of the 
works on St Oswald's Way, a sign was used to notify the public, but Mr 
Tate recalls that a sign was not needed for the culvert works because 
public access was not permitted on that part of the Application Route.  
 
5.2.5. We understand that Mr.Charleton used to use the stretch of the 
Application Route adjacent to West Raw Farm for the wintering of his 
un-weaned calves. As can be seen in a note prepared by 
Northumberland Estates on 2 March 1998 and correspondence sent by 
Northumberland Estates to Mr Charleton on the same date (both 
attached at Appendix 8), this was considered a significant obstacle to 
negotiations with Sustrans regarding allowing use of the Application 
Route as a permissive cycle way. We submit that in permitting and 
supporting the use of the Application Route in this way by Mr Charleton, 
which is likely to have interfered to some extent with public use of the 
route Northumberland Estates once again demonstrated a lack of 
intention to dedicate the Application Route as a public right of way. In 
addition, the negotiations with Sustrans referred to in the documents at 
Appendix 8 indicate that at this time it was known and understood that 
the Application Route was not a public of right of way, but private land 
in the control of the Northumberland Estates, and that permission had 
to be sought to use it.  
 
5.2.6. We note that s31(4) HA 1980 provides that where the owner of 
the land has erected and maintained a notice inconsistent with the 
dedication of the land as a highway, in such a manner as to be visible 
to persons using the way, this is (in the absence of proof of contrary 
intention) considered sufficient evidence to negative the intention to 
dedicate the way as a highway.  
 
5.2.7. As referenced in paragraph 4.5.2 above, there are currently a 
number of prominent notices displayed on the Application Route 
distinguishing between the permissive St Oswald's Way and the private 
track, including two notices at approximately the point marked F on the 
plan at Appendix 2, stating "Private – No Public Access", as well as 
small plastic signs displayed on a number of the gates reading "No 
cycling", "No Horses" or similar. In his witness statement, George Tate 
recalls signs intended to prevent public access reading "Private – No 
Public Access" or similar being erected on the Application Route and 
subsequently replaced two or three times when they had been 
damaged or removed. Michael Charleton also confirms that there are 
signs along the Application Route advising that it is private, and that 
when the signs are removed he contacts Northumberland Estates to 
request that they are replaced. While it is acknowledged that the signs 
referred to by George Tate were only erected relatively recently (within 
the last ten years), Stephen Mills refers at paragraph 5 of his witness Page 89



statement to recalling signs stating "Permissive Right of Way" in the 
locations marked with letters A and B on the plan appended to his 
witness statement at Exhibit 2 being in place from when he commenced 
his role as gamekeeper in 1989. He recalls replacing the signs on one 
occasion when they were removed in approximately the late 1990s, but 
that they disappeared in around the year 2000. Consequently, it is our 
submission that the use of notices on the route, both in more recent 
years and also potentially for a significant proportion of the relevant 
period prior to 1998, demonstrates a clear lack of intention on behalf of 
the Northumberland Estates to dedicate the Application Route as a 
public right of way.  
 
6. Common Law  
 
6.1. Dedication of a public right of way at Common Law can be inferred 
by evidence of user and the acquiescence of the landowner of that 
user. It is our submission that, as set out in paragraph 4.5 above the 
quality and quantum of the use evidenced in the application is 
insufficient to raise any inference of a dedication of the Application 
Route.  
 
6.2. Further, considering the actions taken on behalf of the landowner 
detailed at paragraph 5.2, we submit that there is in any case no 
acquiescence of the landowner to any use of the Application Route. On 
this basis, there can be no case for the dedication of the Application 
Route at Common Law.  
 
7. Conclusion  
 
7.1. We do not consider that there is sufficient evidence to justify that 
an order be made to include the Application Route on the Definitive 
Map.  
 
7.2. We submit that the depositing of statement and plan pursuant to 
S31(6) HA 1980 in 1997, and the making of a subsequent statutory 
declaration in 1998 mean that the right of the public to use the route 
was therefore brought into question, at the latest, by January 1998. 
However, it is submitted that the right of the public to use the route was 
in fact first brought into question by the locking of the gates across the 
Application Route in the late 1970s or early 1980s. Considering that the 
Application Route was an operational railway line until 1963, it appears 
unlikely that an uninterrupted 20 year period as required by s.31(1) HA 
1980 can be established.  
 
7.3. We further submit that the user evidence, provided by a small 
number of individuals, does not demonstrate a level of public use 
sufficient to conclude that a public right of way has been reasonably 
alleged to subsist over the Application Route. It is submitted that they 
are insufficient in terms of quantum, quality and in a number of 
instances provide evidence only of use that was with the permission of 
the Northumberland Estates.  
 
7.4. We therefore contend that the legal requirement of actual 
enjoyment by the public as of right for a period of 20 years without 
interruption, has not been met.  
 Page 90



7.5. Furthermore, the s31(6) deposits and statements, the erection and 
locking of gates, the granting of access for hunting and shooting, the 
challenging of users on the route and the erection of signs all 
demonstrate a consistent lack of intention to dedicate the Application 
Route as a public right of way. We therefore submit that 
notwithstanding that the requirement of public use set out in s31(1) HA 
1980 has not been met, a lack of intention to dedicate the Application 
Route as a public right of way has been consistently demonstrated by 
the Northumberland Estates.  
 
7.6. Therefore, it is our submission that there is no reasonable 
allegation that a public right of way has been proven to exist over the 
Application Route.  
 
7.7. We reserve our client's position to make further representations in 
relation to this matter in due course. Please do not hesitate to contact 
us if you require any further information. 

 
3.4 Appendix 5 to Ward Hadaway’s letter of rebuttal is a witness statement, dated 

22 November 2022, from Mr Charleton of West Raw Farm which states: 
 

“I William Carmichael Charleton of West Raw Farm, Rothbury do state 
as follows that:  
 
“Introduction  
 
“1. I make this statement in relation to land between Wagtail Farm and 
Brinkburn Station Cottage in Rothbury, Northumberland, which forms 
part of the Northumberland Estates, ("the Estate") which is affected by 
an application made by Mr Simon McClurey Rutkiewicz on the 13 June 
2021 to modify the definitive map and statement for the County of 
Northumberland ("the Application"). Northumberland County Council 
("The Council") has sought pre-order consultation to establish whether 
public rights of way can be reasonably alleged to exist along the route 
shown marked V-W-X on the plan shown at Exhibit 1 ("the Alleged 
Bridleway").  
 
“Background  
 
“2. I was granted the tenancy of West Raw Farm, Morpeth by the Duke 
of Northumberland in 1963 and have held the tenancy since that date. 
The tenancy was held jointly with my father, Septimus Charleton, until 
his death in 1971. Prior to holding the tenancy at West Raw, I lived at 
Brinkburn Station Cottage.  
 
“3. West Raw Farm ("West Raw") is located to the South East of 
Rothbury, and in part lies adjacent to the Alleged Bridleway. The plan 
appended at Exhibit 2 shows the extent of West Raw Farm edged red. 
While my tenancy does not include the Alleged Bridleway I, and the 
other local Estate farm tenants have permission from the Estate to use 
the Alleged Bridleway. In view of the fact that the Alleged Bridleway is 
largely adjacent to my farm, it is essentially treated as being part of my 
tenancy due to the need to use it on a daily basis to access my fields.  
 
“4. At West Raw, I farm sheep and in the past I have also farmed cattle. 
As the tenant farmer of West Raw I have since the beginning of my Page 91



tenancy been along the Alleged Bridleway every day, some days I will 
be along the route a lot (for example up to 6 times a day) and less on 
other days (maybe only 3 or 4 times a day) . I use the route to get my 
sheep from one field to another as it is easier to do this using the 
Alleged Bridleway and before the Mart in Rothbury closed in 2000 I 
used the Alleged bridleway to get my sheep to the Mart. The hill sheep 
have always been brought in using the Alleged Bridleway. These days I 
go along the route on a gator but in the past I will have walked the 
route.  
 
“The Application  
 
“5. I am aware that the Application relates to the route shown from V-W-
X on the plan attached at Exhibit 1. The Alleged Bridleway runs 
adjacent to my farm.  
 
“6. When I started my tenancy, the Alleged Bridleway was no longer in 
use as a railway line, but the track was still laid initially.  
 
“7. Northumberland Estates ("the Estate") acquired the railway line from 
the railway board around 1970.  
 
“8. Shortly after the Estate bought the railway line they erected gates 
along its length. I recall that the gates were originally wooden. From this 
time there was always a gate at the boundaries between Wagtail Farm 
and West Raw and West Raw and Butterknowes Farm and one at the 
cutting along the Alleged Bridleway in the approximate locations shown 
marked A, B and C on Exhibit 3. A gate was more recently (on or before 
2010) erected at the approximate location marked D on Exhibit 3.  
 
“9. I have seen the user evidence forms submitted with the Application. 
I note that a couple of the forms talk about horses being ridden along 
the Alleged Bridleway; while I do recall some horses on the railway line, 
these were likely horses being ridden out from either Wagtail Farm or 
West Raw Farm. I have also given permission to people to use the 
Alleged Bridleway on horseback, for example I gave permission to 
Anne Foggin to do so when she was a young girl and neighbour at 
Butterknowes Farm.  
 
“10. The only person that I am aware of that tried to use a trap or buggy 
along with the Alleged Bridleway was June Gibson. June was my 
partner for over 20 years until 2020 and lived at West Raw Farm with 
me during this time and so any use was with my permission. However, 
June did not use the trap/buggy very often because of the gates and 
the need to open and close them; she thought there were too many 
gates to be bothered to use the line very often with the trap.  
 
“11. The gates were often locked. I do not recall that they were always 
locked but they were frequently locked for periods of time. The tenant 
farmers of Wagtail Farm, West Raw, and Butterknowes Farm all had 
keys to unlock the gates as did the shooting tenants. The tenants of 
Butterknowes Farm would use the railway line to get their stock to the 
Mart in Rothbury, but as they were tenants of the Estate it was always 
considered that they had permission from the Estate to use the line in 
the same way that I had permission and the tenants of Wagtail also had 
permission. The keys did get lost from time to time which I think is why Page 92



the gates were not always locked. The gates are locked now using 
combination locks so there are no keys; the gates have been locked 
much more in the last 10 years or so as a result. When using the 
permissive route that is St Oswald's way the public use the wicket gates 
provided by the Council. The public obviously use the wicket gates at 
the sides provided for the permissive use of that part of the route that is 
now St Oswald's Way.  
 
“12. Since St Oswald's Way permissive route was created most of the 
walkers keep to the part of the Alleged Bridleway that now forms part of 
St Oswald's Way marked E — F on the plan at Exhibit 3 but if I do come 
across people that I don't know using the part of the Alleged Bridleway 
marked F-X I do challenge them and advise them that the route is not 
public and that they shouldn't come along it. I have challenged users on 
bikes and horses as well as people walking. I try to be helpful though 
and where users get lost and have used the Alleged Bridleway instead 
of using the public footpath I will help them get back to the public 
footpath.  
 
“13. There are signs along the route advising people that the route is 
private but people knock them down or pull them off. At the gate near 
Craghead (shown marked B on Exhibit 3) there are two more formal 
signs saying "Private No Public Access". There are also plastic signs 
secured by cable ties advising "No cycling" and "No horses" on the 
gates marked A, B and D on Exhibit 3. I let the Estate know if I notice 
that new signs are needed because the old ones have been pulled off 
and they come and erect new signs. People also try to knock down the 
wicket gates so that they can try to get bikes or quad bikes along the 
route. People have also tried to damage the rails/fences that are 
alongside some of the gates for example at the Brinkburn end.  
 
“14. My tenancy excludes any shooting rights as the Estate wanted to 
be able to grant separate shooting licences, but there has always been 
shooting along the railway line since the railway line was closed and the 
track lifted. The frequency of the shooting varies depending on the 
rights that the current shooting tenant has but whenever there is a 
shoot the guns are along the Alleged Bridleway; they stand on a 150-
200 yard stretch near to the railway cutting (coloured yellow on Exhibit 
3) and they shoot over the crag. The gamekeeper would have the 
key/combination to the gates to be able to unlock the gates for the 
shoot; I do not have to unlock them for the shoot.” 

 
3.5 Appendix 6 to Ward Hadaway’s letter of rebuttal is a witness statement, dated 

22 November 2022, from Mr Wilson of Ratcheugh which states: 
 

“I Alan Milburn Wilson of Stewarts Cottage, Ratcheugh do state as 
follows:  
 
“Introduction  
 
“1. I make this statement in relation to land between Wagtail Farm and 
Brinkburn Station Cottage in Rothbury, Northumberland, which forms 
part of the Northumberland Estates, which is affected by an application 
made by Mr Simon McClurey Rutkiewicz on the 13 June 2021 to modify 
the definitive map and statement for the County of Northumberland 
("the Application"). Northumberland County Council ("The Council") has Page 93



sought pre-order consultation to establish whether public rights of way 
can be reasonably alleged to exist along the route shown marked V-W-
X on the plan shown at Exhibit 1.  
 
“Background  
 
“2. Prior to my retirement in 2002 I worked for the Northumberland 
Estates ("the Estate"). I started working for the Estate in 1958 as an 
Estate Fencer and held the position until my retirement.  
 
“3. As an Estate Fencer, I was responsible (as part of a small team) for 
erecting and maintaining fencing, gates and other boundaries on land 
owned by the Estate.  
 
“4. During the early years of my employment with the Estate (until 
approximately 1970) my team did not have transport, so mainly worked 
on the Alnwick Castle estate. However, after this point my team were 
provided with a Land Rover and trailer and so we worked over a much 
wider area, including in and around Rothbury.  
 
“The Application  
 
“5. I am aware that the Application relates to the route shown from V-W-
X on the plan attached at Exhibit 1 ("the Alleged Bridleway"), and that 
the Alleged Bridleway forms part of a former railway line.  
 
“6. I can recall being instructed by Mr. Robert Mattison (who was 
employed by the Estate as the assistant land agent) to install gates 
along the former railway line. Although I cannot recall precisely when 
the gates were installed, I believe this was in the early 1970s, as I recall 
it being one of the first jobs carried out by my team outside the Alnwick 
Castle estate (after we were provided with transport). The railway track 
had already been lifted by the time we installed the gates.  
 
“7. To the best of my recollection, we installed five gates along the 
length of the former railway line (part of which is the Alleged Bridleway), 
at the boundaries between each farm to prevent livestock moving 
between the farms, including at the boundary of Wagtail Farm and West 
Raw Farm.  
 
“8. I do not recall noticing substantial public use or any horses on the 
Alleged Bridleway when I was installing the gates.” 

 
3.6 Appendix 7 to Ward Hadaway’s letter of rebuttal is a witness statement, dated 

22 November 2022, from Mr Mills of Denwick which states: 
 

“I Stephen Mills of Broomhouse Farm, Denwick do state as follows:  
 

“Introduction  
 

“1. I make this statement in relation to land between Wagtail Farm and 
Brinkburn Station Cottage in Rothbury, Northumberland, which forms 
part of the Northumberland Estates, which is affected by an application 
made by Mr Simon McClurey Rutkiewicz on the 13 June 2021 to modify 
the definitive map and statement for the County of Northumberland 
("the Application"). Northumberland County Council ("The Council") has Page 94



sought pre-order consultation to establish whether public rights of way 
can be reasonably alleged to exist along the route shown marked V-W-
X on the plan shown at Exhibit 1.  
 
“Background  
 
“2. I worked as a gamekeeper for Northumberland Estate ("the Estate") 
from 1983 to 2010. From 1983 I was the gamekeeper responsible for 
the moors adjacent to Rothbury and would therefore have occasions to 
come onto the Alleged Bridleway. From 1989 I was gamekeeper for that 
part of the Estate that included the Alleged Bridleway.  
 
“3. While I was gamekeeper for the moor, I would at least weekly need 
to come on to the Alleged Bridleway to control the foxes that would 
otherwise come onto the moors. From 1989, as gamekeeper I would 
regularly be on the Alleged Bridleway but the actual frequency would 
vary depending on the season. I would always be on the Alleged 
Bridleway at least once a week, but at times this would be daily, or 
twice a day, and at times overnight. I would be on the Alleged Bridleway 
most frequently in the Spring time to control any vermin/unwanted wild 
animals during the lambing season. During the winter months I would 
go along the line once or twice a week to keep an eye on what was 
going on on the land.  
 
“4. As gamekeeper my role involves managing the wildlife that would 
otherwise cause problems for the tenant farmers of the Estate and for 
the shooting.  
 
“The Application  
 
“5. I recall that the Alleged Bridleway has always been a permissive 
route. When I became the gamekeeper responsible for the land that 
included the Alleged Bridleway in 1989 I recall that there were signs on 
the route stating "Permissive Right of Way". I recall that these signs 
were located at the boundary of Wagtail Farm and one on a peg at 
Cragend Cottage pointing back to the direction to the Alleged 
Bridleway. I have marked where these signs were located with letters A 
and B on the plan at Exhibit 2. I recall that the signs were knocked 
down on one occasion in or around the late 1990s and I put them back 
up. However, around 2000 the signs disappeared and so far as I was 
aware no further signs were erected other than in connection with St 
Oswald's Way.  
 
“6. When I started on the Alleged Bridleway in 1989 there were gates; 
where the railway cutting is and where the Wagtail boundary fence ran 
down as shown marked C and D on the plan at Exhibit 2. The gates 
were locked most of the time initially, but from around 2000 they were 
mostly unlocked. The gates were locked using an "Estate padlock", 
which meant that a number of people had a key; this would be myself 
and other gamekeepers for the Estate, the tenant farmers, and anyone 
else at the Estate who needed access.  
 
“7. I rarely saw anyone using the Alleged Bridleway when I was working 
along it. I would say that the route was very quiet, especially compared 
to the rest of the nearby National Park. If I came across people using 
the route that I did not know then I would stop and challenge them and Page 95



tell them that the route was not a public route. I would recognise the 
tenants of the Estate and it was accepted that Estate tenants generally 
had permission to be on Estate land so I wouldn't have challenged 
those persons. Once St Oswald's Way permissive route was created 
that part of the Alleged Bridleway became busier.  
 
“8. I have seen the user evidence forms submitted with the Application 
and I note that Mary Rains says she used the Alleged Bridleway with 
groups of riders from Whitton Trekking Centre. I understood at the time 
(around 1990) that Whitton Trekking Centre had sought permission 
from the Estate to use the railway line after the National Park Authority 
had stopped them from using the Garleigh (Lordenshaw) Hill fort route 
as part of a management arrangement. Other than the Whitton Trekking 
Centre I also saw June Gibson use the Alleged Bridleway on her horse, 
but at the time she was living with the tenant farmer of West Raw Farm 
and so had permission to be on the line. Otherwise I rarely saw anyone 
try to use the Alleged Bridleway on a horse.  
 
“9. I do recall seeing an occasional cyclist trying to use the Alleged 
Bridleway but I would always challenge them.  
 
“10. As the gamekeeper I was also involved in the shoots that took 
place regularly along the Alleged Bridleway. When I first started along 
the route in 1989 the shoots took place 6-12 times per year but the 
frequency varied depending upon who had the shooting tenancy. I 
understand that the current tenant shoots more often than this. The 
Carmichael syndicate had the shooting licence until 2000 (and some 
ongoing shooting rights until 2003) and during that period I was not 
involved directly in the shooting but undertook my usual gamekeeper 
role. From 2000 until after I left employment there was no shooting 
tenant and from 2000-2010 I ran the shooting directly on behalf of the 
Estate. Between 2000 and 2005 the shooting was again usually 6-12 
times per year, but slightly less frequently after that. I had a key to the 
gates so would be able to unlock any gate as necessary. The shooting 
would take place for several hours over the course of the day with the 
guns being along the Alleged Bridleway at the cutting but there would 
also be beaters and flankers along the ground surrounding the Alleged 
Bridleway. The shoot always took place along the Alleged Bridleway, 
usually on the stretch of the Alleged Bridleway coloured yellow on the 
plan at Exhibit 2. I do not recall that we ever encountered anyone 
attempting to use the Alleged Bridleway during a shoot.  
 
“11. The Morpeth Hunt would also use the Alleged Bridleway about 6 
times a year. The hunt would either ask the tenant farmer in advance to 
open the gates for them, or they would jump over the wicket fences to 
the side of the main gates.” 

 
3.7 Appendix 9 to Ward Hadaway’s letter of rebuttal is a witness statement, dated 

23 November 2022, from Mr Tate of The Northumberland Estates which 
states: 

 
“I George Tate of Northumberland Estates, the Estate Office, Alnwick 
Castle, Alnwick, Northumberland, NE66 1 NQ do state as follows: 

 
“Introduction 

Page 96



“1.  I make this statement in relation to land between Wagtail Farm and 
Brinkburn Station Cottage in Rothbury, Northumberland, which forms 
part of the Northumberland Estates, which is affected by an application 
made by Mr Simon McClurey Rutkiewicz on the 13 June 2021 to modify 
the definitive map and statement for the County of Northumberland 
("the Application"). Northumberland County Council ("The Council") has 
sought pre-order consultation to establish whether public rights of way 
can be reasonably alleged to exist along the route shown marked V-W-
X on the plan shown at Exhibit 1. 

 
“Background 
 
“2.  I currently work for Northumberland Estates ("the Estate") in the 
Clerk of Works Department ("the Department") based at Alnwick Castle 
where I have been employed since 1971. My current role is 
Maintenance Surveyor, a position I have held since February 2022. 

 
“3.  However, I was first employed by the Estate as a joiner which 
involved working on the Rothbury estate and held this position for 
approximately 26 years before I became the Department Foreman from 
1997 until 2022. From February 2022 I was employed as a 
Maintenance Manager. 

 
“4.  My current role as Maintenance Surveyor involves surveying sites 
and property for the Estate and advising in respect of current and future 
property maintenance requirements. 

 
“The Application 

 
“5.  I am aware that the Application relates to the route shown from V-
W-X on the plan attached at Exhibit 1 ("the Alleged Bridleway"). I have 
been generally aware of the Alleged Bridleway since my time as a 
joiner, having been instructed to carry out works in the area, including 
repairs to Brinkburn Station Cottage roof and West Raw farmhouse 

 
“6.  I can recall that the Department has erected signs on the Alleged 
Bridleway for at least the last 10 years, but I cannot be certain of the 
precise year that I first recall the Department carrying out works on the 
Alleged Bridleway. 

 
“7.  Terry Clarke, the sign writer for the Department, was asked to 
prepare signs for the Alleged Bridleway by Graham Caygill, the former 
Head of the Department. Graham Caygill left the employment of the 
Estate in approximately 2014, so signage must have been erected on 
the Alleged Bridleway prior to this time. The instruction to erect the 
signs most likely came from the Agent, who at this time was Rory 
Wilson. 

 
“8.  Although I cannot remember precisely what the signs said, I recall 
that they were generally intended to prevent public access. The current 
signs state "Private, No Public Access" and the previous signs would 
have advised similarly. 

 
“9.While the Department did not carry out a regular schedule of 
maintenance on the Alleged Bridleway, the Department repaired or 
replaced the signs when the Estate was made aware by the tenant Page 97



farmers or other Estate personnel that the signs had been kicked down 
and/or removed. I recall that this has happened at least two or three 
times. Terry Clarke, the sign writer, would also occasionally check the 
route to check how many new signs were required and since 2013 an 
annual inspection of the Alleged Bridleway has been carried out by the 
Department, originally on the instructions of Graham Caygill. My 
impression is that the Estate and Mr. Charleton the tenant farmer at 
West Raw Farm are very keen for the signage on the Alleged Bridleway 
to remain in place. 

 
“10.  I also recall that while I was employed as Maintenance Manager 
the Estate carried out significant maintenance works on the Alleged 
Bridleway. In 2012, works were carried out to the surface of the stretch 
of the Alleged Bridleway not forming part of St Oswald's Way (at the 
Brinkburn Station Cottage end of the track). The surface of the Alleged 
Bridleway was in very poor condition and was causing water and 
drainage issues so it was scraped off and works were carried out to 
reshape the surface of the embankment to form water run off areas. 
Shrub and tree clearance was also carried out at this point. 

 
“11.  In addition, between 2012 and 2014 works were carried out on a 
culvert under the stretch of the Alleged Bridleway near Wagtail Farm, 
which forms part of St Oswald's Way. I organised a survey of the 
culvert, and repairs were carried out in 2012, followed by renewal of the 
culvert from 2013 to 2014. 

 
“12.  As far as I recall, when the surface works and the maintenance 
works to the culvert were taking place, we had to close the parts of the 
Alleged Bridleway where the works were taking place, to prevent 
access by members of the public. As the works to the culvert required 
closing part of the permissive path along St Oswald's Way, we put a 
sign on the gate at Wagtail Farm. I do not recall a sign being used when 
the surface works were being carried out at the Brinkburn Station end of 
the route because public access was not permitted on that part of the 
Alleged Bridleway.” 

 
 
4. CONSULTATION  
 
4.1 In August 2022, the Council carried out a consultation with the Parish Council, 

known owners and occupiers of the land, the local County Councillor and the 
local representatives of the “prescribed and local organisations” listed in the 
Council’s “Code of Practice on Consultation for Public Path Orders”.  Four 
replies were received and are included below. 
  

4.2     By email, on 29 September 2022, Rothbury Parish Council responded to the 
consultation, stating: 

 
“Further to the pre-order consultation, Rothbury Parish Council are fully 
in support of the proposal to add a public bridleway 160 metres north-
west of Wagtail Farm to the Parish of Brinkburn.” 

 
4.3      By email, on 5th November 2022, the British Horse Society responded to the 

consultation, stating: 
 

Page 98



“Parish of Brinkburn Addition of Bridleway 33 / Parish of Rothbury 
Addition of Bridleway 42 
 
“This route follows the line of the old railway line into Rothbury. It is 
fenced off from adjacent farmland and from vehicular traffic and so 
would provide an excellent riding route. The user evidence suggests it 
has been used for many years by local people. It links with the rural 
road network and an existing bridleway at Brinkburn Station.” 
 

4.4      By email, on 28th November 2022, Cycling UK responded to  the consultation,  
stating: 
 

“PB 33/42  
Description - Disused railway track with gravel surface  
Support - Yes+++  
Comment - Oft used by local residents; move FP 107 /006 onto it; – 
east half is St Oswald’s Way, would be improved.” 
 

4.5      By email, on 29th November 2022, Brinkburn Parish Council responded to  the  
consultation, stating: 
 

“Bridleway Number 33 
The Parish Council have consulted local people on the proposal to add 
to the ‘Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way’ Bridleway 
33 as shown on your published draft map. Many local people, whose 
families have lived in the area for a number of generations, have stated 
that this path has been in use continually ever since the railway line 
closed in 1963. It has been used by walkers, cyclists and horse riders 
for recreational purposes and as a traffic-free route into Rothbury. This 
safe and easily accessible route for pedestrians, bikes and horses is 
ideal for families to get from Rothbury to Hesleyhurst, and on to green 
paths to Brinkburn and the east coast. 
 
“Access to the railway line has been impeded recently by notices saying 
that this is private land. This has made access to Rothbury from 
Hesleyhurst very difficult for cyclists in particular, who have had to use 
to use the B6344. This road is very busy and dangerous for bike riders. 
Young riders have therefore been prevented from travelling by bike to 
Rothbury. 
 
“The Parish Council supports the proposal to add Bridleway 33 to the 
Definitive Map and would welcome regular updates on the progress of 
the proposal. In addition the Council has a long-standing aspiration to 
extend this path along the old railway line all the way to Morpeth to 
provide a safe, environmentally friendly way for people to travel to our 
Parish and on to Rothbury. 
 
“Please contact us if we can provide further information.” 

 
4.6      By email, on 2 December 2022, the Ramblers’ Association responded to the  
 consultation, stating: 
 

“Turning to the user evidence claims you sent me, I have no knowledge 
or comments, about the Ellingham and Matfen cases, other than it 
would be nice to have 2 more FPs. 
 Page 99



“The Rothbury / Brinkburn path is a different matter. The section from V 
to the edge of Access Land is, surely, already a right of way. It is very 
well walked and shown on the OS map as part of St Oswald's Way. I 
walked it myself about a month ago. 
 
“From the edge of the Access Land i.e. where the path goes left into the 
field if you are walking from Rothbury, there is a clear notice and gate 
preventing further progress along the old railway line. I know W to X is 
walked despite this, mainly by locals, dog walkers etc-but how often, 
and how "openly" I don't know. I would be amazed if a successful claim 
based on user evidence could be made, although, again, we would 
welcome / use it if it became a RoW.” 

 
 

5. DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE 
 
5.1 A search has been made of archives relating to the area.  Evidence of Quarter 

Sessions Records, Council Highways records, County Maps and O.S. Maps 
was inspected, and the following copies are enclosed for consideration. 
 
c.1952 Definitive Map – original Survey Schedules & Map 
  

Footpaths Nos 1 and 8 are shown on a roughly parallel course, north of 
the alleged bridleway.  The OS base map (dated 1925) depicts the 
route of alleged Bridleways Nos 33 and 42, itself, as part of a railway 
line.  Footpath No 1 starts at the southern end of the public road, close 
to the western end of the alleged bridleway.  Bridleway No 7 ends close 
to Point X, at Brinkburn Station.    
 
Draft Map 

  
Footpaths Nos 1, 10 and 8 are shown on a roughly parallel course, 
north of the alleged bridleway.  The OS base map depicts the route of 
alleged Bridleways Nos 33 and 42 as part of a railway line.  Footpath 
No 1 starts close to the western end of the alleged bridleway.  
Bridleway No 7 ends close to Point X, at Brinkburn Station.    
         
Provisional Map 

  
As with the Draft Map, Footpaths Nos 1, 10 and 8 are shown on a 
roughly parallel course, north of the alleged bridleway.  The OS base 
map depicts the route of alleged Bridleways Nos 33 and 42 as part of a 
railway line.  Footpath No 1 starts close to the western end of the 
alleged bridleway.  Bridleway No 7 ends close to Point X, at Brinkburn 
Station.    
   

1962     Original Definitive Map and Statement 
  

Footpaths Nos 16 and 6 are shown on a roughly parallel course, north 
of the alleged bridleway.  The alleged bridleway route is depicted as a 
railway line.  Existing Footpath No 16 is shown beginning at, or very 
close to, Point V, and existing Bridleway No 7 is shown terminating very 
close to Point X.         
 

        1957     Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:10,560 
 Page 100



Only the map sheet covering NU 00 SE is available in the department’s 
collection.  This map appears to depict the alleged bridleway route as a 
functioning railway line. 
 
First Review Definitive Map 

  
As with the original Definitive Map, Footpaths Nos 16 and 6 are shown 
on a roughly parallel course, north of the alleged bridleway.  The 
alleged bridleway route is depicted as a railway line.  Existing Footpath 
No 16 is shown beginning at, or very close to, Point V, and existing 
Bridleway No 7 is shown terminating very close to Point X.         
 

         1978    Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:10,000 
 
Only the map sheet covering NZ 09 NE is available in the department’s 
scanned collection.  This map only shows the eastern end of the 
alleged bridleway route, but appears to indicate that, whilst the course 
of the railway still existed, there was no longer any track along it.   

 
1997 / 98      Section 31(6) deposit by Northumberland Estates 

 
In their 1997 Statement, the Northumberland Estates included a set of 
Maps identifying the land which they owned, and the public rights of 
way which they acknowledged to exist over that land.  No public rights 
of way were  recognised over the alleged bridleway route. In 1998, the 
Northumberland Estates submitted a Statutory Declaration indicating 
that they had not dedicated any additional public rights of way over their 
land, and followed this up with further statutory declarations in 2003 and 
2013.  
 
 

6. SITE INVESTIGATION 
 
6.1    From a point marked V1, 210 metres north-west of Wagtail Farm, a 3.75 metre 

wide tarmac track proceeds in a south-easterly direction for a distance of 35 
metres, to Point V, at the western boundary of the dismantled railway.  Point V 
is currently identified as the eastern end of the U4066 road, though all the 
available historical documentary evidence indicates that the U4066 ascended 
to terminate at the western end of a former bridge over the former railway.  
The bridge no longer exists, but there is no evidence to indicate that the 
U4066 was legally diverted onto the tarmac road.   

 
6.2  From Point V, a 3 metre wide, mostly tarmac surfaced road proceeds in a 

south-easterly direction for 155 metres to a point where the road turns east 
into Wagtail Farm, and passage along the railway line is limited by a field gate 
with an adjacent step stile.  From this point, a 3 metre wide mostly ash 
surfaced track, with grass verges, proceeds in a south-easterly direction for 
235 metres to a field gate with adjacent kissing gate.  There were signs on the 
field gate saying “No Cycling” and “No Horses – Footpath only”.  Thereafter a 
2.7 to 3 metre wide mostly ash surfaced track continues in an easterly 
direction for 400 metres to a point where the corridor narrows, briefly, to 3.9 
metres, where a short bridge crosses a water course, then continues in a 
general easterly direction for a further 340 metres to a field gate with adjacent 
pedestrian gate.  A sign on the gate stated “Warning – Loose livestock  Dogs 
must be kept on leads” with penned additions saying “No cycling” and “No 
horses”.  There was a St Oswald’s Way waymark on the pedestrian gate.  A 3 Page 101



metre wide grass surfaced track continues in a south-easterly direction for 
about 50 metres, to a point where there are field gates giving access to fields 
on either side of the track.  Beside the gate on the north side there is a large 
sign with 3 arrows saying “Public Footpath” pointing through the gate.  This 
appears to be the route of St Oswald’s Way, and the existing public footpath 
which the Way follows lies a short distance into this field.  A 2.7 to 3 metre 
wide ash track with grass verges continues in a south-easterly direction for 
about 155 metres, where the corridor narrows, briefly, to 4.2 metres, as it 
crosses a bridge, then continues for a further 50 metres to Point W (the 
Rothbury – Brinkburn parish boundary).  A 2.5 to 2.7 metre wide ash track , 
with grass verges, continues in a general south-easterly direction for a further 
845 metres to a field gate with a handwritten sign saying “No Cycling  No 
horses  please” attached. Facing the other direction was a large official looking 
sign saying “Private  No Public Access”.  A 2.7 metre wide stone surfaced 
track proceeds in a southerly direction for a distance of 37 metres, passing 
Brinkburn Station Cottage to another field gate.   

 
6.3  Beyond this gate, a 2.7 metre wide stone surfaced track continues in a south-

easterly direction for a distance of 20 metres to a junction with existing Public 
Bridleway No 7 at a tarmac road, 35 metre south-east of Brinkburn Station 
Cottage (Point X).   

 
                
7. COMMENTS RECEIVED ON THE DRAFT REPORT 
 
7.1 In November 2023, a draft copy of the report was circulated to the applicant 

and those landowners / occupiers who responded to the initial consultation for 
their comments.   

 
7.2 By letter, dated 27 November 2023, Ward Hadaway made the following 

comments in relation to the draft report: 
 

“Thank you for sight of the draft report in respect of the application 
submitted by Mr Simon McClurey - Rutkiewicz to add alleged bridleway 
No 33 and alleged bridleway no 42 to the Definitive Map and Statement 
as a public bridleway ("the Proposal").  
 
“We note the recommendation that the Council's Right of Way 
Committee agrees that there is sufficient evidence to indicate that 
public bridleway rights have been reasonably alleged to exist over the 
route V1 -V-W-X.  
 
“We make the following comments in respect of the draft Report and 
would be grateful if these could be considered as part of the 
consideration of the Proposal.  
 
“Notwithstanding the comments in the Report in respect of R v 
Secretary of State for Wales ex parte Emery we nevertheless wish to 
draw the Committee's attention to the extensive and detailed evidence 
set out in our initial response and accompanying witness statements, 
and reiterate the points made therein. It remains our view that our 
response and the witness statements submitted detail an extensive 
history of actions which demonstrate a clear lack of intention to 
dedicate the proposed route as a public right of way, including (but not 
limited to) the erection of signage and the locking of gates across the 
route.  Page 102



 
“The above comments are made without prejudice to our primary 
submission, set out in paragraphs 3.9 and 3.12 of our initial response, 
that an uninterrupted 20 year period of use cannot be established due 
to the fact that the public right to use the proposed route appears to 
have been first brought into question prior to the deposit of the s31(6) 
Statement by the locking of gates across the proposed route.  
 
“We also note that the Report appears to attribute weight to the 
consultation responses provided by both Rothbury and Brinkburn 
Parish Councils. However, the response from Rothbury Parish Council 
amounts only to stating their support of the creation of a bridleway, 
providing no evidence of any basis for this. The Brinkburn Parish 
Council response does allege continual public use since 1963, however 
it again provides no evidence for this nor any details of the extent of use 
during the relevant 20 year period. As such it is our view that the 
comments of the Councils should not carry any weight in determining 
the matter.  
 
“The Report further states at paragraph 8.5 that "there is a strong 
suggestion that other users for the period January 1978 to January 
1998 do exist" however any decision by the Council must be based on 
the actual user evidence provided and not on speculation as to what 
other user may be alleged to have occurred.  
 
“The Council further comments at paragraph 8.8 of the Report that "it is 
not clear that Jack Carr, Michael Charleton or Mr and Mrs Taylor has 
any authority to give permission for anyone to use the route", however, 
it remains our Client's view that the tenants were able in such 
circumstances to stand in place of the landowner and provide such 
permission.  
 
“We would also note that Council Officers have previously 
acknowledged that use of the route is on a permissive basis, and 
enclose an email which includes extracts of comments made by Tony 
Derbyshire, Northumberland County Council Area Countryside Officer, 
to this effect.  
 
“As a final comment, please can you ensure that all witness statements 
are fully redacted such that personal address details are also redacted.” 

 
By email, on 12 July 2010, Ted Liddle sent the following email to Tracy Hall, at 
Northumberland Estates, quoting a consultation response provided by Tony 
Derbyshire, of Northumberland County Council. 

 

 

 
 Page 103



 
8. DISCUSSION 
 
8.1    Section 53 (3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, requires the 

County Council to modify the Definitive Map when evidence is discovered 
which, when considered with all other relevant evidence available to them 
shows: 
  

that a right of way, which is not shown in the Map and Statement, 
subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to 
which the Map relates, being a right of way such that the land over 
which the right subsists is a public path, a restricted byway or; subject 
to section 54A, a byway open to all traffic. 
   

8.2    When considering an application / proposal for a modification order, Section 
32 of the Highways Act 1980 provides for “any map, plan or history of the 
locality or other relevant document” to be tendered in evidence and such 
weight to be given to it as considered justified by the circumstances, including 
the antiquity of the tendered document, the status of the person by whom and 
the purpose for which it was made or compiled, and the custody in which it has 
been kept and from which it is produced. 

  
8.3 The representation of a path or track on an Ordnance Survey Map is not  

evidence that it is a public right of way.  It is only indicative of its physical 
existence at the time of the survey.   

  
8.4 The applicant was advised that the landowner (The Northumberland Estates) 

had, since 1997 / 98 deposited Maps and Statements and Declarations under 
s31(6) of the Highways Act 1980 in order to rebut successful claims for public 
rights of way based on unchallenged long public usage.  These deposits have 
no retrospective qualities but, if made correctly, would be likely to defeat 
applications relying on user which occurred after the first statutory declaration 
was received, in January 1998.  Officers agree with Ward Hadaway (for the 
Northumberland Estates) that this would make the relevant 20 year period for 
the purposes of determining this application to be January 1978 to January 
1998.   

 
8.5 The proposal is supported by user evidence from 16 people.  The applicant 

concentrated on gathering evidence from people who had used the route 
before 1998.  7 of the 16 people have indicated that they used the route either 
on foot and horseback or on foot and by bicycle for the full 20 year period 
1978 to 1998.  In addition, by combining the user evidence of Chandler with 
that of K Fenwick, and the user evidence of J Curry with that of J Fenwick, and 
the user evidence of J Rogers with that of M Rains, 3 more ‘composite’ 
persons cover the relevant 20 year period.  As can be seen on the usergram, 
the frequency of use ranges from “Every few months” which we have simplified 
to “3 times per year” up to “daily”.  Some people have described a degree of 
variability in their use – which is only to be expected – but the usergram lacks 
the necessary sophistication to reflect this.  Ward-Hadaway has argued (para 
4.5 of their 22/11/22 letter) that they do not believe the quantity of user 
evidence provided with this application is sufficient to raise a presumption of 
dedication.  Officers can’t agree with this assessment.  The application 
contained evidence from 16 people, 14 of whom were horse-riders and / or 
cyclists covering a period of use which ended more than 20 years ago.  The 
application is supported by both parish councils and there is a strong 
suggestion that other users for the period January 1978 to January 1998 do Page 104



exist.  Ward Hadaway has also noted that they believe the frequency of use 
described by users (particularly equestrian traffic) is at odds with the 
recollections of the Estate’s staff and tenant.   

 
8.6 McClurey-Rutkiewicz’s application describes the alleged bridleway as starting 

at Wagtail Farm and finishing at Brinkburn Station.  On the plan attached to his 
application, the route is depicted starting at the point where Mill Lane crosses 
the dismantled railway line (Point V) and ending at the point where Bridleway 
No 7 meets the Brinkburn Station Road (Point X). There is an existing 
alignment issue in the vicinity of Point V – the old County Road Schedules and 
more detailed highways maps have the U4066 road ending on the western 
ramp of the former bridge over the now dismantled railway.  The Definitive 
Map depicts Public Footpath No 45 (formerly Cartington FP 16) as proceeding 
along a track up the eastern ramp of the former bridge over the dismantled 
railway and the Definitive Statement describes the footpath as “From the 
Wagtail Road at the former British Railways (Morpeth Branch), in a south-
easterly direction …”.  So, the public road ends on the western side of the 
(now missing) bridge over the former railway and the public footpath crossed 
that bridge to meet it.  As the bridge no longer exists, anyone proceeding 
along Mill Lane (the U4066), who wishes to continue along Public Footpath No 
45, presumably crosses the former railway at the current ‘level crossing’, 
immediately to the north, and continues along the track which ends at Little 
Mill.   The last 30 metres of the tarmac track (immediately west of the former 
railway line) appears to have no recorded status, and nor does the 150 metre 
long continuation from the current ‘level crossing’, south-easterly, towards 
Wagtail Farm.  This could be significant, in that a number of the user evidence 
providers seem to have assumed that the public road ends where the tarmac 
road swings east, off the dismantled railway line, towards Wagtail Farm, 
though it is reasonably clear that they must have used the 150 metre long 
section of dismantled railway line to get to this point. 

 
8.7 The southern end of the application route is Point X, where existing Public 

Bridleway No 7 meets the U4038 road, 40 metres south-east of Brinkburn 
Station Cottage.  The southernmost 20 metres of the application route is 
actually identified on the Council’s List of Streets as being part of the U4038 
road (the U4038 terminating at a gate, 20 metres south-east of Brinkburn 
Station Cottage).  This 20 metre long section is the subject of a separate 
report (alleged Byway Open to All Traffic No 26 (Parish of Brinkburn) which 
considers the status of the U4038 as a whole). 

  
8.8 Whilst everyone seems to have encountered some other people using the 

route on occasions when they were using it, three people (K Davidson, S 
Laidlaw and J Fenwick) have also indicated that they had permission to use 
the route.  Suzanne Laidlaw had permission from the tenants (Jack Carr at 
Wagtail Farm and Michael Charleton at West Raw) in 1975, as she rode Mr 
Carr’s ponies from Wagtail Farm.  Kenneth Davidson says he was given 
permission by Michael Charleton, around 1984.  James Fenwick says he was 
given permission by the tenants, Mr & Mrs Taylor, in 1983.  In paragraph 4.6 
of their 22/11/22 letter, Ward Hadaway discuss the “as of right” topic.  They 
had, similarly, identified that three of the users had indicated that they had 
used the route with the permission of one or more of the tenant farmers.  This 
is undoubtedly a complicating factor but, just from the user evidence forms, it 
isn’t clear what the nature of this permission was.  There may have been an 
explicit request for permission to use the route indefinitely, or just that one time 
that particular user was encountered, they might have asked “Is it OK if I ride 
along the line?”  Or it might, simply, have been a passing nod to the farmer, Page 105



who acknowledged the user’s presence with a friendly wave back.  As Ward 
Hadaway pointed out in paragraph 1.5 of their letter, the tenant farmers 
themselves use the route with the permission of The Northumberland Estates 
– the former railway line is not part of their tenancies.  On that basis it is far 
from clear that Jack Carr or Michael Charleton or Mr & Mrs Taylor had any 
authority to give permission for anyone to use the route.  Commenting on the 
draft report, Ward Hadaway stated that “it remains our client’s view that the 
tenants were able in such circumstances to stand in place of the landowner 
and provide such permission.”  They can argue that position, but it is far from 
clear that this is the case.  Carr, Charleton and the Taylors were not tenants of 
the railway line, so what authority did they have?   

 
8.9 The Taylors’ tenancy (now, at least) only appears to include the most westerly 

460 metres or so of the alleged bridleway, so most of the route (around 2870 
metres) would not be covered by their permission.  Suzanne Laidlaw’s 
permission was given in 1975, three years before the relevant period.  It is not 
clear what the nature of this permission was – was it given, just for the 
purpose of riding the ponies - or whether she was still riding Mr Carr’s ponies 
during any part of the relevant period.  Kenneth Davidson’s and James 
Fenwick’s permissions do appear to have been given during the relevant 20 
year period.  On that basis, it may be that Kenneth Davidson and James 
Fenwick were not using the whole route as of right, with at least part of it, for at 
least some of the relevant period, being used with the permission of a tenant.   

 
8.10 When seeking to claim a ‘new’ public right of way, on the basis of presumed 

dedication, it is necessary for the public use to have been without secrecy, 
without force and without permission.  If the majority of use was taking place 
during the dead of night, so a vigilant landowner might have no idea it was 
taking place, that use wouldn’t usually qualify towards establishing a public 
right of way.  Similarly, if the landowner was taking steps to prevent access by 
fencing the route off or by locking gates, but users kept removing the fence or 
breaking the locks, then that use wouldn’t usually qualify.  And if the only 
people using a route were people who had been given express permission to 
do so, from the landowner, then that use wouldn’t count, either (they weren’t 
using it by virtue of an acquired right, they were there because they had the 
landowner’s permission to use it). 

 
8.11 Although McClurey-Rutkiewicz’s application seeks to record a public 

bridleway, three of the people completing user evidence forms have indicated 
that they believe the route has a higher status (namely, restricted byway).  The 
documentary evidence, available, provides little in the way of assistance and 
none of these three users has set out why they think the route might be more 
than just a public bridleway, except for the fact that Jean Curry appears to 
have learned to drive using this route.  Some people might be arguing for a 
public vehicular right of way because they know cars or horse drawn vehicles 
have used the route in the past, but the user evidence currently available does 
not support more than public bridleway rights.   

  
8.12 Based upon the historical map evidence, information from path users and 

Brinkburn Parish Council’s consultation response, it appears that the 
application route was a functioning railway until 1963.  There is no suggestion 
that the public were walking, riding or cycling along the route whilst it was still 
a railway.  If they had been, anyone trespassing along the railway would have 
been committing a criminal offence (not merely a civil trespass against the 
landowner) and such use could not have contributed towards establishing a 

Page 106



public right of way.  Once the railway had closed, it seems it did not take long 
for the public to begin walking, riding and cycling along the route.   

 
8.13 The most westerly 1450 metres of the alleged bridleway follows the route of St 

Oswald’s Way, a 97 mile long-distance walking route between Heavenfield 
(near Hexham) and Holy Island.  This section of the path appears to be 
permissive – since it doesn’t follow an existing recorded public right of way.  At 
a point approximately 200 metres north-west of Point W, St Oswald’s Way 
leaves the railway, and follows Public Footpath No 45 on a route slightly 
further to the north-east.  St Oswald’s Way appears to have opened in 2006, 
so after the relevant 1978-1998 20 year period.  The background information 
supplied by Ward Hadaway, in relation to negotiations with Sustrans, around 
1998, with regard to a possible cycleway, and dealings with Northumberland 
County Council, from 2006 onwards, in relation to St Oswald’s Way (and the 
works and signage associated with this Trail), is all useful, but falls outside the 
key period January 1978 – January 1998. 

 
8.14    None of the user evidence providers claim to have been prevented from using 

the route, during the period January 1978 to January 1998, though 3 of the 
evidence providers have acknowledged having been given permission to use 
the route.  

  
8.15 No user evidence providers have acknowledged the existence of any locked 

gates, private signs or other challenges of their right to use the route, during 
the period January 1978 to January 1998.  Suzanne Laidlaw does mention 
gates that were sometimes locked, but does not give any approximate dates 
for this.  The other users who have mentioned gates have generally stressed 
that these were never locked.  Ann Foggin says she was told by the farmer – 
Mr Charleton at West Raw – that the way was not public, but she doesn’t say 
when this was.  By contrast, Ward Hadaway has asserted, supported by the 
witness statements provided by a tenant and some past and present 
employees of the Northumberland Estates, that there have been locked gates 
across the route.  It is their understanding that gates were first erected in the 
early 1970s, shortly after the former railway line was transferred back to the 
Northumberland Estates in 1970, and the gates started to be locked not long 
after they were installed.  Stephen Mills, the former gamekeeper, has indicated 
that when he took up his position, in 1989, the gates were locked the majority 
of the time and Michael Charleton has indicated the gates were often locked.  
There is clearly a conflict between some users asserting that no gates existed 
and the Estate arguing that there were gates from a very early period, and that 
these gates were routinely locked.  There is a similar conflict in relation to past 
signage which might have challenged the public’s right to use the route. 

  
8.16 In R v Secretary of State for Wales, ex parte Emery 1998 (Court of Appeal) it 

was held that, in determining , for the purposes of s.53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981, whether a public right of way was reasonably 
alleged to subsist over land, the question to be considered by the local 
authority was whether the evidence produced by the claimant together with all 
the other relevant available evidence showed that it was reasonable to allege 
a public right of way.  If the evidence from witnesses as to user was conflicting 
but, reasonably accepting one side and reasonably rejecting the other, the 
right of way would be shown to exist, it was reasonable to allege such a right.  
In short, where there is a conflict of credible evidence, if the positive evidence 
in favour of a right of way satisfies the reasonably alleged test then, unless 
there is some incontrovertible and powerful evidence set against it, the route 
should be included in a Definitive Map Modification Order.  It is accepted that Page 107



the witness statements supplied by Ward Hadaway, on behalf of 
Northumberland Estates, contain reasonably detailed rebuttals.  Although this 
rebuttal evidence was certainly credible, it would be a massive stretch to argue 
that any of it was incontrovertible. 

 
8.17 Commenting on the draft report, Ward Hadaway has argued that “any decision 

by the Council must be based on the actual user evidence provided and not on 
speculation as to what other user may be alleged to have occurred.”  That is 
absolutely correct – any decision can only be based upon the evidence which 
is available.  The point about additional users being likely to exist, for this path, 
was made primarily to address Ward Hadaway’s observation (in 4.5.1 of their 
25 November 2012 letter) that the quantum of evidence in support of the 
public bridleway (16 user evidence forms from a combined Rothbury and 
Brinkburn parishes 2011 population of 2329 people) was inadequate.   Since 
the applicant was aware that they would probably need to prove use during 
the period 1978 to 1998 (given the landowners’ deposits under section 31(6) 
Highways Act 1980), the current size of the local population isn’t particularly 
relevant.  Given that the likely 20 year qualifying period for public use ended 
25 years ago, and ‘users’ would still need to be alive and still live in the 
Rothbury area (or have some connection to Rothbury), 16 user evidence 
forms should be considered a reasonable showing. 

 
8.18 Commenting, further, on the draft report, Ward Hadaway has observed that 

Council officers had previously acknowledged that use of the route was on a 
permissive basis.  To support this they enclosed a copy of a 2010 email to 
them, from Ted Liddle, which enclosed comments he had received from 
Northumberland County Council’s Area Countryside Officer, Tony Derbyshire.  
Mr Derbyshire’s comments would have been based on the fact that the route 
was not, then, a recorded public right of way and the fact that the landowner 
was currently allowing a certain amount of public use to take place (St 
Oswald’s Way).  But this all relates to a period after the one currently under 
consideration (i.e. 1978 – 1998).  This type of information is only likely to be 
significant if the section 31(6) deposits were set aside for some reason, so that 
evidence of more recent use and acts of rebuttal might have a bearing.    

 
8.19 An Inspector, appointed by the Secretary of State to determine a Definitive 

Map Modification Order that has attracted objections, must balance all the 
conflicting evidence and decide, on a balance of probabilities, whether or not 
the alleged rights exist.  This is not, generally, an easy task.  In effect, they 
must determine which version of events seems to be the most credible.  This 
is the Inspector’s role – it is not the County Council’s.  The Council’s role is, 
essentially, to determine whether or not there is a case to answer.    

 
8.20 Based on the user evidence, the consultation responses from the two parish 

councils and in the absence of any evidence of any clear and definite acts of 
rebuttal prior to January 1998, it would be appropriate to conclude that public 
bridleway rights have been reasonably alleged to exist over the route. 

  
8.21 Advice from the Planning Inspectorate in their ‘consistency guidelines’ states 

that it is important to have the correct width, where known, recorded in the 
definitive statement.  The user evidence providers have identified a path width 
mostly in the range 3 to 6 metres.  From measurements taken on my site visit, 
in October 2022, the current width of the track that physically exists on the 
ground, now, would appear to be 2.5 to 3 metres, typically with grassy margins 
of a further metre on both sides.  The only exceptions being the points where 
the track crosses three minor water courses in the middle section of the route, Page 108



where the corridor width drops briefly to around 4 metres.  If the path is 
included in a future Definitive Map Modification Order, it would seem 
appropriate to identify it with a width ranging from 4 to 5 metres. 

 
8.22 When a site visit was carried out, in October 2022, there were 5 field gates 

along the route.  Three of these were on the St Oswald’s Way section, and 
these three had either a step stile, kissing gate or standard pedestrian gate 
alongside.  Not all of these gates appear to have been acknowledged by users 
and both Samantha Davidson and Robin Murray specifically stated that there 
were no gates across the route, initially.  By contrast, Mr Charleton has 
indicated that he believes gates were erected in the early 1970s (and have 
been maintained subsequently) at 3 locations (A+B+C - identified on a plan 
enclosed with this report) with a 4th gate being added near Brinkburn Cottage 
(Point D) around 2010.  H doesn’t mention the fifth gate, immediately south-
west of Wagtail Farm.  Mr Mills (who worked in the immediate area from 1989 
to 2010, recalls the gates at points A and B on Mr Charleton’s plan.  
Ultimately, it may be determined that some (possibly, even, all) of the current 
gates weren’t in place during the relevant 20 year period (1978 to 1998) and 
any that weren’t would not be considered lawful limitations to public use.  That 
said, cases might be made for each of the present gates being necessary for 
stock control, and as such they could be authorised by Northumberland 
County Council.   

 
8.23    If a public right of way is, ultimately, determined to exist over this route on the 

basis of presumed dedication, then it is unlikely that it will be one which is 
maintainable at public expense.  Sections 36(1) to 36(5) of the Highways Act 
1980 set out the mechanisms by which highways might be considered 
maintainable at public expense.  As a rule, footpaths and bridleways 
established on the basis of public user after 1959 will not qualify.  

  
   
9.         CONCLUSION 
  
9.1  In the light of the evidence submitted, it appears that there is sufficient 

evidence to justify that public bridleway rights have been reasonably alleged to 
exist over the claimed route. 

  
BACKGROUND PAPERS   
 
Local Services Group File:  107/033z & 130/042z  
 
 Report Author          Alex Bell – Definitive Map Officer 

 
(01670) 624133   
 
Alex.Bell@Northumberland.gov.uk  

Page 109

mailto:Alex.Bell@Northumberland.gov.uk


Page 110



This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of His Majesty's Stationary Office
Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. License no. 100049048 (2012)

County Hall, Morpeth, NE61 2EF
Contact: Highway Search Team

EMail: Highwaysearch@northumberland.gov.uk

Legend This is a computer generated extract of the Working Copy
of the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way

Scale 1:15,000

10
7/

01
4

107/008

130/005

107/002

130/047

121/017

107/010

121/016

10
7/

00
5

130/048

130/011

130/046

107/009

121/018

107/006

121/033
107/007

130/045

Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2023. OS
100030994

2

1

0

99

987

Footpath

Bridleway

Restricted Byway

Byway Open to All TrafficPage 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



1:10,560 O.S. Map 
            1957 

  

 
  

Page 231



1:10,000 O.S. Map 
            1978 

 

 
  

Page 232



The Northumberland Estates’ s.31(6) Deposit  
             1997 / 1998 

  

 

    
  

 
 
 

  

Page 233



This page is intentionally left blank



RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
20 December 2023 

REVIEW OF THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT 
OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY 

ALLEGED BYWAY OPEN TO ALL TRAFFIC No 40 
PARISH OF ROTHBURY  

Report of the Director of Environment & Transport 
Cabinet Member: Councillor John Riddle, Roads & Highways 

Purpose of report 

In this report, the Rights of Way Committee is asked to consider all the relevant 
evidence gathered in support and in rebuttal of the existence of public vehicular 
rights over the U4066 road, from the junction of Wagtail Lane and Wagtail Road to a 
point 170 metres north-west of Wagtail Farm. 

Recommendation 

It is recommended that the committee agrees that: 
(i) there is sufficient evidence to indicate that public vehicular rights

have been reasonably alleged to exist over the route U-V-Y-Z;
(ii)  the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 would

not appear to have extinguished the public’s motorized vehicular
rights over the route;

(iii) the U-V-Y-Z route be included in a future Definitive Map
Modification Order as byways open to all traffic.

1.0 BACKGROUND 

1.1 By virtue of section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act, 1981 the County 
Council is required to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under 
continuous review and make modification orders upon the discovery of 
evidence, which shows that the map and statement need to be modified. 

1.2 The relevant statutory provision which applies to adding a public right of way 
to the Definitive Map and Statement, based on historical documentary 
evidence, is Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act, 1981.  This 
requires the County Council (as Surveying Authority) to modify the Definitive 
Map and Statement following: 

Page 235

Agenda Item 6



“the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with 
all other relevant evidence available to them) shows: 

 
           “that a right of way which is not shown in the map and statement 

subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to 
which the map relates, being a right of way such that the land over 
which the right subsists is a public path, a restricted byway or, subject 
to section 54A, a byway open to all traffic;”  

 
1.3 All the relevant statutory provisions and competing rights and interests have 

been considered in making this report. The recommendations are in 
accordance with the law and proportionate, having regard to individuals’ rights 
and the public interest. 

 
1.4 This route was originally consulted upon as being alleged BOAT 40 in the 

Parish of Rothbury and alleged BOAT 28 in the Parish of Cartington. On 1 April 
2021 Cartington parish ceased to exist; the land that was formerly Cartington 
became part of either Rothbury or Thropton parishes 

 
 
2.0 PUBLIC EVIDENCE 
 
2.1  In the late 1980s the County Council carried out consultations regarding 

proposals to add a number of unsealed tracks in the north of the County to the 
Definitive Map as byways open to all traffic on the basis that the routes were 
included in the County Council’s “List of Streets” as unclassified County roads 
(UCR).  The rationale for doing so was that it would not be obvious to 
members of the public (particularly horse riders, walkers and cyclists) that they 
were legally entitled to use routes such as these (which were considered to 
have vehicular status), because their physical appearance might suggest 
otherwise.  
  

2.2    The view, held by those officers of the Council responsible for maintaining the 
‘List of Streets’ for the County of Northumberland was (and still is) that only 
public roads (not public bridleways or public footpaths) were shown on this 
List.  The only exceptions to this are the surfaced paths and alleyways 
providing pedestrian links between roads, in urban streets.  Thus, tracks in 
rural settings, which have their own unique reference numbers (e.g. the 
‘U4066’’ road), were considered to be all-purpose public highways 
maintainable at public expense.     
  

2.3    Shortly afterwards, the processing of applications from third parties seeking to 
record public footpath or public bridleway rights was afforded a higher priority. 
Later on, the process of recording UCRs as byways open to all traffic was 
effectively suspended because the Ordnance Survey indicated that they would 
be showing such routes on their published maps as being an “Other route with 
public access”.  Although, on that basis, members of the public would still be 
unclear as to precisely what rights they had over routes identified in this 
fashion.  
  

2.4    The most recent advice from DEFRA (paragraph 4.42, Rights of Way Circular 
1/09) is that inclusion on the List of Streets may provide evidence of vehicular 
rights but that this should be examined on a case by case basis.  In view of 
this advice, it is considered prudent to evaluate the status of the U4066 
unclassified County road based upon more than simply its inclusion in the List 
of Streets. Page 236



 
 
3. LANDOWNER EVIDENCE  
 
3.1      By letter, dated 31st May 2018, Northumberland Estates responded to the 
           consultation, stating: 

 
“Parish of Rothbury & Cartington Proposed Byway Open to All 
Traffic Route 28 and 40 Plan 21 
This route is an existing NCC adopted highway. There is no 
requirement to change the designation to have a Byway Open to All 
Traffic.” 
 

  
4. CONSULTATION  
 
4.1 In February 2018, the Council carried out a consultation with the Parish 

Council, known owners and occupiers of the land, the local County Councillor 
and the local representatives of the “prescribed and local organisations” listed 
in the Council’s “Code of Practice on Consultation for Public Path Orders”.  
Two replies were received and are included below. 

 
4.2      By email, on 26th February 2018, Ms H Evans responded to the consultation,     
           behalf of Cycling UK, stating: 

 
 “Ted has now looked at these and come back to me with the attached 

and also the comment that "Most are standard changes to confirm 
existing BOATs but a few are really good gains to the access network. 
No comment means we support and no comments are necessary". 

 
 Cycling UK did not make any comments in relation to this particular 

proposal. 
 
4.3      By emails, on 2nd and 12th April 2018, the British Horse Society responded to 

the consultation, stating: 
 

Rothbury Parish 
 
“Alleged Byway Open to All Traffic 40   (Mill Lane) 
This is a tarmac road that is well used by walkers and motor vehicles 
and more lightly used by horse riders and cyclists as it provides access 
to a number of residential properties and to Wagtail Farm besides being 
the route of the promoted walking route St Oswald’s Way. So it should 
surely be added to the definitive map.” 
 
Cartington Parish 
“Alleged Byway Open to All Traffic 28 (Mill Lane) 
This is a tarmac road used as access to Wagtail Farm. Although it looks 
like a public road and is used as such, it is also part of St. Oswald’s 
Way, so it would probably benefit from being added to the definitive 
map. 

 
4.4      By email, on 15th March 2018, Rothbury Parish Council responded to the 

consultation, stating: 
 

Page 237



“Rothbury Parish Council fully support the proposals within the 
Rothbury parish regarding the review of the definitive map and 
statement of public rights of way.” 
 

 
 

5. DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE 
 
5.1 A search has been made of archives relating to the area.  Evidence of Quarter 

Sessions Records, Council Highways records, County Maps and O.S. Maps 
was inspected, and the following copies are enclosed for consideration. 
 
1769   Armstrong’s County Map 
  

There is clear evidence of an enclosed “Country Road” closely 
approximating to the route of alleged Byway No 40.  
  

1820   Fryer’s County Map 
  

There is clear evidence of an enclosed “Other Road” closely 
approximating to the route of alleged Byway No 40.  

  
 
1827   Cary’s Map 
  

There is clear evidence of an enclosed “Parochial Road” road or track 
closely approximating to the route of alleged Byway No 40.  

 
1828   Greenwood’s County Map 
  

There is clear evidence of an enclosed “Cross Road” closely 
approximating to the route of alleged Byway No 40.  
   

c.1860 Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:2500 
  
There is clear evidence of an enclosed road / track labelled “Mill Lane” 
over the route of alleged Byway No 40.  The road is identified with the 
land parcel number “74”.  In the accompanying Book of Reference, this 
parcel is identified as “Public road”.   

 
1866  Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:10,560 

  
There is clear evidence of an enclosed road / track labelled “Mill Lane” 
over the route of alleged Byway No 40.  
  

1897  Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:2500 
  
There is clear evidence of an enclosed road / track labelled “Mill Lane” 
over the route of alleged Byway No 40.  The alignment of the road, 
where it meets the newly constructed railway, has altered slightly. 
  

1899  Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:10,560 
  

 There is clear evidence of an enclosed road / track labelled “Mill Lane” 
over the route of alleged Byway No 40. 
 Page 238



Finance Act 1910 plan 
 
          There is clear evidence of a mainly enclosed road / track over the route 

of alleged Byway No 40.  The route is identified as being separate from 
the adjacent land by coloured boundaries.  This is a good indication that 
the road was considered to be public at that time.   
 

1925  Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:10,560 
 

There is clear evidence of an enclosed road / track labelled “Mill Lane” 
over Mill Lane, the route of alleged Byway No 40.   

 
1951   Highways Map 
  

The route of alleged Byways Open to All Traffic No 40 is coloured so as 
to identify it as a publicly maintainable road.  It is labelled as “U4066”.     

  
c.1952 Definitive Map – original Survey Schedules & Map 
  

The route of alleged Byway Open to All Traffic No 40 exists on the map 
as a brown coloured line.  Known public roads were generally coloured 
brown to indicate what the extent of the road network was considered to 
be.  
Draft Map 

  
The route of alleged Byway Open to All Traffic No 40 exists on the base 
map.  It is not identified for inclusion on the Definitive Map as either a 
public footpath, public bridleway or Road Used as a Public Path 
(RUPP).  One public footpath is shown beginning or terminating on the 
route of the alleged byway. 
 
Provisional Map 

  
The route of alleged Byway Open to All Traffic No 40 exists on the base 
map.  As with the previous map, it is not identified for inclusion on the 
Definitive Map as either a public footpath, public bridleway or Road 
Used as a Public Path (RUPP).  One public footpath is shown 
beginning or terminating on the route of the alleged byway. 
 

1957   Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:10,560 
  
There is clear evidence of an enclosed road / track labelled “Mill Lane” 
over the route of alleged Byway Open to All Traffic No 40.  

 
Original Definitive Map 

  
The route of alleged Byways Open to All Traffic No 40 exists on the 
base map, but is not identified as a public footpath, public bridleway or 
Road Used as a Public Path (RUPP). 
 
The original Definitive Statement for the public rights of way intersecting 
with the alleged byway open to all traffic states: 

 
Public Footpath No 16 (Cartington)  

Page 239



“From the Wagtail Road at the former British Railways (Morpeth 
Branch), in a south-easterly direction by Craghead, to the 
Brinkburn Parish Boundary joining Footpath No 6 in that parish.” 

  
1958   County Road Schedule 
 

The entry for the U4066 road, in the 1958 County Road Schedule, 
states:   
  
         “U4066 Wagtail Road, Rothbury   

From B6342 200 yards east of Rothbury Station south-eastwards 
to bottom of west ramp to railway bridge on road to Wagtail 
Farm.”  
  

The length of the U4066 road is identified as 0.55 miles. 
 

1964   Highways Map 
  

The route of alleged Byways Open to All Traffic No 40 is coloured so as 
to identify it as a publicly maintainable road.  It is labelled as “U4066”.   
 

1964   County Road Schedule  
 

The entry for the U4066 road, in the 1964 County Road Schedule, 
states:   
  
         “U4066 Wagtail Road, Rothbury   

From B6342 200 yards east of Rothbury Station south-eastwards 
to bottom of west ramp to railway bridge on road to Wagtail 
Farm.”  

  
The length of the U4066 road is identified as 0.55 miles. 

 
          First Review Definitive Map (Relevant Date 1 Nov 1963)   

 
As with the Original Definitive Map, the route of alleged Byways Open 
to All Traffic No 40 exists on the base map, but is not identified as a 
public footpath, public bridleway or Road Used as a Public Path 
(RUPP). 
 

1978   County Road Schedule  
 

The entry for the U4066 road, in the 1974 County Road Schedule 
states:   

 
   “U4066 Wagtail Road, Rothbury   
  From B6342 200 yards east of the former Rothbury Station (NU 

064016) south-eastwards to bottom of west ramp to railway 
bridge on road to Wagtail Farm (NU 069010).”  
  

The length of the U4066 road is identified as 0.55 miles. 
 

2005   Ordnance Survey Explorer 340 Map:  Scale 1:25,000 
 

There is clear evidence of an enclosed track over the route of alleged 
Byway Open to All Traffic No 40.  The route is shown as a yellow line.  Page 240



In the map key, under “Roads and Paths” the yellow line symbol 
denotes “Road generally less than 4 metres wide”. 
 

2006   The Council’s ‘List of Streets’ (2 May 2006) 
  
The majority of the route of the alleged byway is clearly identified as 
publicly maintainable highway. In the vicinity of Point W, the line clearly 
supports the U-V-Y-Z alignment, rather than the U-V-W one. 

 
  

6. SITE INVESTIGATION 
 
6.1    From a point marked U, at the junction of Wagtail Lane and Wagtail Road, 10 

metres north of number 15 Lordenshaw Drive, a 2.75 to 3.5 metre wide tarmac 
track, in a 6.75 to 9.25 metre wide corridor proceeds in a south-easterly 
direction for a distance of 655 metres, to a point marked W, 170 metres north-
west of Wagtail Farm. 

 
6.2  The exact alignment of the most eastern 30 metres of the alleged route is still 

uncertain. A further site visit will be undertaken to determine the character of 
the alternative Y-Z route.  
 
   

7. COMMENTS RECEIVED ON THE DRAFT REPORT 
 
7.1 In November 2023, a draft copy of the report was circulated to those 

landowners / occupiers who responded to the initial consultation for their 
comments 

 
7.2 By letter, dated 21 November 2023, Northumberland Estates, the landowner, 

made the following comments in relation to the draft report: 
 

“Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 - Review of the Definitive Map and 
Statement of Public Rights of Way-Alleged Byway Open to All Traffic 
No 40 (Parish of Rothbury)  
 
I refer to your letter of 8th November 2023.  
 
I would wish to reiterate the point that in our view we do not consider it 
necessary to change the designation of the route to a Byway Open to 
All Traffic bearing in mind the fact that the route in question is an 
existing adopted highway and consequently it should be quite clear to 
all potential road users that this is a public right of way. The Estate is 
not endeavouring to argue, as might be concluded by paragraph 8.14 to 
your report, that notwithstanding the route being referred to in the 
Council's List of Streets of publicly maintained roads, that there are no 
public rights of way over it.  
 
Whilst I accept that this is not the purpose of your current proposal or 
consultation, I would also stress that the Northumberland Estates would 
be resistant to any future move to have the route no longer designated 
as being publicly maintained, in light of its significance for those living in 
and moving around the locality.  
 
In terms of the route, this is U-V-W as shown on your plan not U-V-Y-Z. 
I think a site inspection will clarify that the latter is not used as the right Page 241



of way as the route Y-W has not been accessible since the removal; of 
the bridge which crossed the discontinued railway line.” 
 

 
8. DISCUSSION 
 
8.1    Section 53 (3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, requires the 

County Council to modify the Definitive Map when evidence is discovered 
which, when considered with all other relevant evidence available to them 
shows: 
  

that a right of way, which is not shown in the Map and Statement, 
subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to 
which the Map relates, being a right of way such that the land over 
which the right subsists is a public path, a restricted byway or; subject 
to section 54A, a byway open to all traffic. 
   

8.2    When considering an application / proposal for a modification order Section 32 
of the Highways Act 1980 provides for “any map, plan or history of the locality 
or other relevant document” to be tendered in evidence and such weight to be 
given to it as considered justified by the circumstances, including the antiquity 
of the tendered document, the status of the person by whom and the purpose 
for which it was made or compiled, and the custody in which it has been kept 
and from which it is produced. 
  

8.3    The representation of a path or track on an Ordnance Survey Map is not 
evidence that it is a public right of way.  It is only indicative of its physical 
existence at the time of the survey.   
  

8.4   The route of alleged Byway Open to All Traffic No 40 is identified on the 
County Council’s current List of Streets as being the U4066 road.  The whole 
route appears to have been identified on both the Council’s 1951 Highways 
Map and the later 1964 Highways Map.  It was also included in the 1958, 1964 
and 1974 County Road Schedules.  
  

8.5     The route has been consistently identified as an enclosed road / track on  
Ordnance Survey maps since the 1860s.  The route is also shown on 
Armstrong’s, Fryer’s and Greenwood’s County Maps of 1769, 1820 and 1828 
and on Cary’s Map of 1827.  In the Book of Reference, accompanying the First 
Edition 25” Ordnance Survey Map, the route is identified as a public road.  On 
the plan, prepared under the Finance Act 1910, the route is clearly identified 
as being separate from the adjacent land by coloured boundaries, indicating it 
was considered to be public at that time.   
    

8.6   Although other public rights of way were identified nearby, and one public 
footpath was identified beginning on the route, the route itself was not included 
on the Draft, Provisional or original Definitive Maps as a footpath, bridleway or 
Road Used as Public Path (RUPP).  On the Survey Map the route is coloured 
brown in the same way that other public roads were identified.   
  

8.7    The County Council accepts that, given the way the regulations were written 
with regard to the way highway authorities could include publicly maintainable 
highways in the List of Streets, there was no impediment to public bridleways 
and public footpaths also being included.  That is not to say that any 
bridleways or footpaths were so shown – just that they could be.  It must, 
therefore, be entirely proper to consider each UCR on a case by case basis, Page 242



but that does not mean that we should begin with the assumption that each 
UCR is no more than a public footpath unless higher rights can be proven by 
other means.  In Northumberland there is no evidence to suggest that public 
footpaths and public bridleways were deliberately shown on the 1958, 1964 or 
1974 County Road Schedules (forerunners of the modern day List of Streets).   
The fact that a route is shown on these schedules must, therefore, be 
evidence of some weight that public vehicular rights exist.  

  
8.8   Letters from DEFRA, dated 2003 and November 2006, and Rights of Way 

Circular 1/09 set out the approach Inspectors and order making authorities 
should take in determining the status of routes included on the List of Streets.  
In summary, the guidance states that the inclusion of a route on the List of 
Streets is not a record of what legal rights exist over that highway but may 
provide evidence of vehicular rights.  However, this must be considered with 
all other relevant evidence in order to determine the nature and extent of those 
rights.  Highway Authorities are recommended to examine the history of such 
routes and the rights that may exist over them on a case by case basis in 
order to determine their status. 

  
8.9      The Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC Act 2006)  

had a major impact upon the recording of byways open to all traffic based 
upon historical documentary evidence.  Under section 67 of the Act, any 
existing, but unrecorded, public rights of way for mechanically propelled 
vehicles were extinguished unless one of the ‘saving’ provisions applied.  In 
brief, these saving provisions were: (a) if the main lawful public use between 
2001 and 2006 was with motor vehicles; (b) if the route was on the List of 
Streets (on 2 May 2006) and not also on the Definitive Map as something less 
than a byway open to all traffic; (c) the route was legally created expressly for 
motor vehicular use; (d) the route was a road deliberately constructed for 
public motor vehicular use; or (e) the vehicular highway came about as a 
result of unchallenged motor vehicular use before December 1930. 

  
8.10 Of the saving provisions above, (b) will apply to the route of alleged Byway  

No 40.  The public’s motor vehicular rights would not have been extinguished 
by the NERC Act 2006.     

  
8.11 There is uncertainty regarding the exact alignment of the most easterly 30 

metres of the alleged route, in the vicinity of Point W. On the original 
consultation plan, the route is depicted starting at the point where Wagtail 
Lane and Wagtail Road meet, 10 metres north of number 15 Lordenshaw 
Drive (Point U) and ending at the point where Mill Lane crosses the dismantled 
railway line (Point W). However, the old County Road Schedules and more 
detailed highways maps have the U4066 road ending on the bottom of the 
western ramp of the former bridge over the now dismantled railway (Point Z). 
The Definitive Map depicts Public Footpath No 45 (formerly Cartington FP 16) 
as proceeding along a track down the eastern ramp of the former bridge over 
the dismantled railway and the Definitive Statement describes the footpath as 
“From the Wagtail Road at the former British Railways (Morpeth Branch), in a 
south-easterly direction …”.  So, the public road ends on the western side of 
the (now missing) bridge over the former railway and the public footpath 
crossed that bridge to meet it.  As the bridge no longer exists, anyone 
proceeding along Mill Lane (the U4066 road), who wishes to continue along 
Public Footpath No 45, presumably crosses the former railway at the current 
‘level crossing’, immediately to the north, which is the end of the alleged route, 
according to the original consultation plan (Point W). The most easterly 

Page 243



30 metres of the surfaced track (immediately west of the former railway line) 
appears to have no recorded status.  

 
8.12 For a route to be a byway open to all traffic, it has to be (i) a public motor  

vehicular right of way and (ii) a route which is nevertheless used (or is likely to 
be used) by the public mainly for the reasons which footpaths and bridleways 
are used.    

  
8.13 This route has a reasonable driveable tarmac surface and will be used by 

those living at the dwelling at Wagtail Farm, their visitors and also by farm 
traffic.  From my site visit and the consultation responses, the route would 
appear to be well used by non-motorised traffic, and also carries the route of 
the regional walking trail of ‘St Oswald’s Way’.   

 
8.14 The Northumberland Estates has suggested that it is not necessary for this  

route to be recorded as a byway open to all traffic; public rights over the route 
not being in doubt, by virtue of it already being recorded on the Council’s List 
of Streets.  Of course, being recorded on the List of Streets does not prove a 
route’s status - it is more a statement about maintenance liability.  A number of 
landowners in Northumberland (including The Northumberland Estates) have, 
in the recent past, argued that certain routes on the Council’s List of Streets 
have no public rights of way over them, whatsoever. 
 

8.15  Responding to the draft report, The Northumberland Estates has indicated that 
they do not consider it necessary to "change" the designation of the route to 
byway open to all traffic.  This implies that it currently has some other 
designation, which will be altered by this process.  This is not the case.  The 
route currently has no status identified.  It is recorded on the Council's List of 
Streets as the U4066 road and will remain so recorded; but being on the list of 
Streets is a statement about maintenance liability, not the public rights that 
exist over it.  Its physical appearance is no guarantee of status.  There are 
many minor roads and tracks that are private roads with only public footpath or 
bridleway rights over them - and sometimes no recognised public rights over 
them whatsoever.   

 
8.16 The Northumberland Estates also argued that "Bearing in mind the fact that 

the route in question is an existing adopted highway ... consequently it should 
be quite clear to all potential road users that this is a public right of way."  But 
the road isn't an "adopted highway".  We don't have any adoption records, per 
se, for this route.  It is recorded on the Council's List of Streets having been 
identified as a publicly maintainable highway since the 1950s.  The status of 
the route isn't quite as certain as the Northumberland Estates appears to be 
suggesting and, as indicated earlier, some landowners (including the 
Northumberland Estates, as recently as 2016) have argued that some U roads 
are not public vehicular highways or, in some instances, not even public rights 
of way of any description.  These challenges have sometimes been made in 
circumstances where the provenance of the road is bolstered by the existence 
of a 1930s Handover Map and a map and / or schedule prepared under the 
Restriction of Ribbon Development Act 1935 - documents which aren't 
available to support the status of routes in the former Rothbury RDC area.   

 
8.17 With regard to the southern end of the route, a highway doesn't automatically 

get diverted, simply because a bridge is removed, even if this is, mistakenly, 
taken as grounds for tweaking its alignment on the List of Streets.  The public 
rights (and the Council's highway maintenance responsibility) remain where 
they were, unless due process is followed.  In this instance, we have been Page 244



unable to discover any evidence that the southern end of the road, up to the 
former bridge over the former railway, was lawfully diverted.  Therefore, 
notwithstanding the physical challenge this presents, the road appears to end 
at Point Z (not point W) with Public Footpath No 45 as its easterly 
continuation.  To resolve this situation, it would appear to make sense for 
Footpath No 45 to be diverted away from the non-existent bridge - perhaps 
terminating at Point W, instead, if the dismantled railway does get recognised 
as a public bridleway or if the Y-Z section of road is legally diverted to Y-
W.  Or, if neither of those things happen, for the footpath to be diverted to 
incorporate the W-Y section of road.  

  
8.18 Advice from the Planning Inspectorate in their ‘consistency guidelines’ states  

that it is important to have the correct width, where known, recorded in the 
definitive statement.  Usually there is a boundary to boundary presumption for 
public highways.  However, where no defined corridor exists, and there is no 
(usually) documentary evidence to establish width, the Council has adopted a 
standard width of 5 metres (wide enough for two vehicles travelling in opposite 
directions to pass each other) for vehicular rights of way.  On this basis it is 
proposed to record Byways Open to All Traffic No 40 with a width varying from 
6.75 to 9.25 metres, as identified in paragraph 6.1 above.     

 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
9.1  In light of the documentary evidence submitted, it appears that public vehicular 

rights have been reasonably alleged to exist over the route of alleged Byway 
Open to All Traffic No 40 (U-V-Y-Z, not Y-W). 

 
9.2  The Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 would not appear 

to have extinguished the public’s motor vehicular rights over the route.  It 
would be appropriate to recognize the public’s rights over the route by 
recording it on the Definitive Map as a byway open to all traffic.   

 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS   

 
Local Services Group File:  130/040z 
  
Report Author          Zara Quinn – Definitive Map & Search Technical Officer 

 07542 318328   
   Zara.Quinn@Northumberland.gov.uk 
 
   
 
 
 
 

Page 245

mailto:Zara.Quinn@Northumberland.gov.uk


Page 246



Infrastructure
Local Services

County Hall  Morpeth  Northumberland
  NE61 2EF

Telephone 0845 600 6400

Former District(s) Parish(es) Scale

O.S. MapDef. Map No. Date

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Public Rights of Way

  Rothbury/Cartington

94

Alnwick

NU 00 SE October 2016

1:3,000

Reproduced from / based upon Ordnance Survey
material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on

 behalf of the Controllerof  H.M.S.O. Crown Copyright .
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright 

and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Northumberland County Council O.S. Licence No 100049048

066

Alleged Byway Open to All Trafficv v

067 068 069 070

v

v

v

v

v

v

v

v

v

v

PLAN 21

U

40

V

28

W

Page 247



Page 248



1
7

6
9

 A
rm

s
tr

o
n

g
 s

 C
o

u
n

ty
 

M
a

p
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

’
 

Page 249



 

1820 Fryer’s County Map 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 250



 

1827 Cary’s Map 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 251



 

1828 Greenwood’s County Map 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 252



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1
s

t 
E

d
it

io
n

 2
5

”
 O

.S
. 
M

a
p

 

c
.1

8
6

0
  

Page 253



 

Ordnance Survey Book of Reference 

c. 1860 
 

 
Page 254



 

1st Edition 6” O.S. Map 

1866 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 255



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2
n

d
 E

d
it

io
n

 2
5

”
 O

.S
. 
M

a
p

 

1
8

9
7
   

Page 256



 

2nd Edition 6” O.S. Map 

1899 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 257



 

Finance Act 1910 Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 258



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3
rd

 E
d

it
io

n
 6

”
 O

.S
. 
M

a
p

 

1
9

2
5
   

Page 259



 

Highways Map 

1951 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 260



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D
e
fi

n
it

iv
e

 M
a

p
 –

 O
ri

g
in

a
l 

S
u

rv
e

y
 S

c
h

e
d

u
le

s
 &

 M
a
p

 

c
. 

1
9

5
2
   

Page 261



 

Page 262



 Page 263



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D
ra

ft
 M

a
p

   

Page 264



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
ro

v
is

io
n

a
l 

M
a

p
   

Page 265



 

Ordnance Survey Scale 1:10,560 

1957 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 266



 

 

 

 

 

 

C
o

u
n

ty
 R

o
a

d
 S

c
h

e
d

u
le

 

1
9

5
8
  

Page 267



 

Original Definitive Map & Statement 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 268



 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 269



 

 

 

 

 

C
o

u
n

ty
 R

o
a

d
 S

c
h

e
d

u
le

 

1
9

6
4
 

Page 270



 

First Review Definitive Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 271



 

Highways Map 

1964 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 272



 

 

 

 

 

 

C
o

u
n

ty
 R

o
a

d
 S

c
h

e
d

u
le

 

1
9

7
4
 

Page 273



 

Ordnance Survey Explorer 340 Map Scale 1:25,000 

2005 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 274



 

The Council’s ‘List of Streets’ (at 2 May 2006) 

 

 
 

 
Page 275



Network Management
Information System

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of His

Majesty's Stationary Office Crown Copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to

prosecution or civil proceedings. License no. 100049048 (2009).

Highways Act 1980 Section 36(6) County of
Northumberland List of Streets which are

highways maintainable at the public expense
as at 02-May-2006

Drn:
      ZQ

Date:
October
2023

Scale:
1:10,000

Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2023. OS
100030994

2

1

0

76

Page 276



 

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
20 December 2023 

 
 
 

REVIEW OF THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT 
OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY 

 
ALLEGED BYWAY OPEN TO ALL TRAFFIC No 26 

PARISH OF BRINKBURN  
 

Report of the Director of Environment & Transport 
Cabinet Member: Councillor John Riddle, Roads & Highways 

   
 
Purpose of report  
 
In this report, the Rights of Way Committee is asked to consider all the relevant 
evidence gathered in support and in rebuttal of the existence of public vehicular rights 
over the U4038 road, between the C168 road, 15 metres south of East Raw and 
Brinkburn Station Cottage.      
 
 
Recommendation  
 

It is recommended that the committee agrees that: 
(i)               there is sufficient evidence to indicate that public vehicular rights 

have been reasonably alleged to exist over the route; 
(ii)            the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 would 

not appear to have extinguished the public’s motorized vehicular 
rights over the route;  

(iii)           the route be included in a future Definitive Map Modification Order 
as a byway open to all traffic. 

 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND  
 
1.1 By virtue of section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act, 1981 the County 

Council is required to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under 
continuous review and make modification orders upon the discovery of 
evidence, which shows that the map and statement need to be modified. 

 
1.2 The relevant statutory provision which applies to adding a public right of way 

to the Definitive Map and Statement, based on historical documentary 
evidence, is Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act, 1981.  This 
requires the County Council (as Surveying Authority) to modify the Definitive 
Map and Statement following: Page 277

Agenda Item 7



“the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with 
all other relevant evidence available to them) shows: 

 
           “that a right of way which is not shown in the map and statement 

subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to 
which the map relates, being a right of way such that the land over 
which the right subsists is a public path, a restricted byway or, subject 
to section 54A, a byway open to all traffic;”  

 
1.3 All the relevant statutory provisions and competing rights and interests have 

been considered in making this report. The recommendations are in 
accordance with the law and proportionate, having regard to individuals’ rights 
and the public interest. 

 
 
2.0 PUBLIC EVIDENCE 
 
2.1  In the late 1980s the County Council carried out consultations regarding 

proposals to add a number of unsealed tracks in the north of the County to the 
Definitive Map as byways open to all traffic on the basis that the routes were 
included in the County Council’s “List of Streets” as unclassified County roads 
(UCR).  The rationale for doing so was that it would not be obvious to 
members of the public (particularly horse riders, walkers and cyclists) that they 
were legally entitled to use routes such as these (which were considered to 
have vehicular status), because their physical appearance might suggest 
otherwise.  
  

2.2    The view, held by those officers of the Council responsible for maintaining the 
‘List of Streets’ for the County of Northumberland was (and still is) that only 
public roads (not public bridleways or public footpaths) were shown on this 
List.  The only exceptions to this are the surfaced paths and alleyways 
providing pedestrian links between roads, in urban streets.  Thus, tracks in 
rural settings, which have their own unique reference numbers (e.g. the 
‘U4038’’ road), were considered to be all-purpose public highways 
maintainable at public expense.     
  

2.3    Shortly afterwards, the processing of applications from third parties seeking to 
record public footpath or public bridleway rights was afforded a higher priority. 
Later on, the process of recording UCRs as byways open to all traffic was 
effectively suspended because the Ordnance Survey indicated that they would 
be showing such routes on their published maps as being an “Other route with 
public access”.  Although, on that basis, members of the public would still be 
unclear as to precisely what rights they had over routes identified in this 
fashion.  
  

2.4    The most recent advice from DEFRA (paragraph 4.42, Rights of Way Circular 
1/09) is that inclusion on the List of Streets may provide evidence of vehicular 
rights but that this should be examined on a case by case basis.  In view of 
this advice, it is considered prudent to evaluate the status of the U4038 
unclassified County road based upon more than simply its inclusion in the List 
of Streets. 

 
 
3. LANDOWNER EVIDENCE  
 
3.1      By letter, dated 31st May 2018, Northumberland Estates responded to the Page 278



           consultation, stating: 
 

“Parish of Brinkburn Proposed Byway Open to All Traffic No 26 
Plan 13 
This route is already an adopted highway according to Northumberland 
County Council. The route has issues re poor maintenance. The Estate 
do not believe there is any requirement for a BOAT to be created due to 
the road adoption but do require NCC to maintain it.” 

 
  

4. CONSULTATION  
 
4.1 In February 2018, the Council carried out a consultation with the Parish 

Council, known owners and occupiers of the land, the local County Councillor 
and the local representatives of the “prescribed and local organisations” listed 
in the Council’s “Code of Practice on Consultation for Public Path Orders”.  
Two replies were received and are included below. 

 
4.2      By email, on 26th February 2018, Ms H Evans responded to the consultation,     
           behalf of Cycling UK, stating: 

 
 “Ted has now looked at these and come back to me with the attached 

and also the comment that "Most are standard changes to confirm 
existing BOATs but a few are really good gains to the access network. 
No comment means we support and no comments are necessary". 

 
 Cycling UK did not make any comments in relation to this particular 

proposal. 
 
4.3     By email, on 12th April 2018, the British Horse Society responded to the 
           consultation, stating: 

 
“Alleged Byway Open to All Traffic 26   (Brinkburn Station) 
This is a useful route for walkers, cyclists and horse riders as it leads to 
both public footpaths and a public bridleway. St Oswalds’s Way also 
connects to it. It will also be used by vehicles as access to 
Butterknowes and West Raw Farms. The BHS supports its addition to 
the definitive map.” 
 

 
5. DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE 
 
5.1 A search has been made of archives relating to the area.  Evidence of Quarter 

Sessions Records, Council Highways records, County Maps and O.S. Maps 
was inspected, and the following copies are enclosed for consideration. 
 
1769   Armstrong’s County Map 
 

Although there is an east-west route passing The Raw, there is no 
evidence of a road or track approximating to the route of alleged Byway 
No 26.  
  

1820   Fryer’s County Map 
  

There is clear evidence of an “Other road” approximating to the most 
southerly half of the route of alleged Byway No 26. Page 279



  
1827   Cary’s Map 
  

There is clear evidence of a “Parochial road” approximating to the route 
of alleged Byway No 26.  

 
1828   Greenwood’s County Map 
  

There is clear evidence of a “Cross road” closely approximating to the 
route of alleged Byway No 26.  
   

1866  Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:10,560 
  
There is clear evidence of a mostly enclosed road / track over the route 
of alleged Byway No 26. The railway and Brinkburn station have yet to 
be constructed. 
  

1897  Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:2500 
  
There is clear evidence of an enclosed road / track over the route of 
alleged Byway No 26.  
 

1899  Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:10,560 
  
There is clear evidence of a mostly enclosed road / track over the route 
of alleged Byway No 26.  

 
Finance Act 1910 plan 

 
          There is clear evidence of a mainly enclosed road / track over the route 

of alleged Byway No 26.  The route is identified as being separate from 
the adjacent land by coloured boundaries.  This is a good indication that 
the road was considered to be public at that time.   
 

1923  Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:2,500 
 

There is clear evidence of a mostly enclosed road / track over the route 
of alleged Byway No 26.   

 
1925  Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:10,560 
 

There is clear evidence of a mostly enclosed road / track over the route 
of alleged Byway No 26.   

 
1951   Highways Map 
  

The route of alleged Byway Open to All Traffic No 26 is coloured so as 
to identify it as a publicly maintainable road.  It is labelled as “U4038”.     

  
c.1952 Definitive Map – original Survey Schedules & Map 
  

The route of alleged Byway Open to All Traffic No 26 exists on the map 
as a brown coloured line.  Known public roads were generally coloured 
brown to indicate what the extent of the road network was considered to 
be.  
 Page 280



Draft Map 
  

The route of alleged Byway Open to All Traffic No 26 exists on the base 
map.  It is not identified for inclusion on the Definitive Map as either a 
public footpath, public bridleway or Road Used as a Public Path 
(RUPP).  Two public footpaths and one public bridleway are shown 
beginning or terminating on the route of the alleged byway. 
 
Provisional Map 

  
The route of alleged Byway Open to All Traffic No 26 exists on the base 
map.  It is not identified for inclusion on the Definitive Map as either a 
public footpath, public bridleway or Road Used as a Public Path 
(RUPP).  Two public footpaths and one public bridleway are shown 
beginning or terminating on the route of the alleged byway. 
 

1957   Ordnance Survey Map:  Scale 1:10,560 
  
There is clear evidence of a mainly enclosed road / track over the route 
of alleged Byway Open to All Traffic No 26.  

 
1958   County Road Schedule 
 

The entry for the U4038 road, in the 1958 County Road Schedule, 
states:   
 
     “U4038  East Row – Brinkburn Station Road  

  From C168 at East Row to Brinkburn Station.”  
  

The length of the U4038 road is identified as 0.64 miles. 
 
1962  Original Definitive Map 
  

The route of alleged Byway Open to All Traffic No 26 exists on the base 
map, but is not identified as a public footpath, public bridleway or Road 
Used as a Public Path (RUPP). 
 
The original Definitive Statements for the public rights of way 
intersecting with the alleged byway open to all traffic state: 

 
  Public Footpath No 6 (Brinkburn)  

“From Footpath No 16 in the Parish of Cartington at that parish 
boundary in a south-easterly and south-westerly direction 45 by 
the West Row to join the Brinkburn Station - East Row road, east 
of Brinkburn Station. 

 
  Public Bridleway No 7 (Brinkburn) 

“From Bridleway 17 in the Parish of Cartington at that parish 
boundary in a south-easterly direction crossing the bridge over 
the British Railway Lines to join the public road at Brinkburn 
Station.” 

 
  Public Footpath No 10 (Brinkburn)  

“From the Brinkburn Station - East Row road in an easterly 
direction to join the Pauperhaugh - East Row road south of the 
bridge over the River Coquet. Page 281



 
                  First Review Definitive Map (Relevant Date 1 Nov 1963)   
 

The route of alleged Byway Open to All Traffic No 26 exists on the base 
map, but is not identified as a public footpath, public bridleway or Road 
Used as a Public Path (RUPP). 
  

1964   Highways Map 
  

The route of alleged Byway Open to All Traffic No 26 is coloured so as 
to identify it as a publicly maintainable road.  It is labelled as “U4038”.   

 
1964   County Road Schedule 
 

The entry for the U4038 road, in the 1964 County Road Schedule, 
states:   
 
     “U4038  East Row – Brinkburn Station Road  

  From C168 at East Row north-westwards to Brinkburn Station.”   
  

The length of the U4038 road is identified as 0.64 miles. 
 

1974   County Road Schedule 
 

The entry for the U4038 road, in the 1974 County Road Schedule, 
states:   
 
     “U4038  East Row – Brinkburn Station Road  

From C168 at East Row (NZ 093988) north-westwards to former 
Brinkburn Station (NZ 088996).”  

 
The length of the U4038 road is identified as 0.64 miles. 

 
2005   Ordnance Survey Explorer 340 Map:  Scale 1:25,000 
 

There is clear evidence of an enclosed track over the route of alleged 
Byway Open to All Traffic No 26.  The route is shown as a yellow line.  
In the map key, under “Roads and Paths” the yellow line symbol 
denotes “Road generally less than 4 metres wide” 
 

2006   The Council’s ‘List of Streets’ (2 May 2006) 
  
The route of the alleged byway is clearly identified as publicly 
maintainable highway.    

  
 
6. SITE INVESTIGATION 
 

6.1    From a point marked T, on the C168 road, 15 metres south of ‘East Raw’, a 3 
metre wide tarmac surfaced track, in a 5.5 to 9 metre wide corridor proceeds in 
a general north-westerly direction for a distance of 690 metres, to a point 90 
metres south-west of West Raw Farm. Thereafter, a 3 metre wide tarmac 
track, in a 6 to 8 metre wide corridor, continues in a westerly direction for a 
distance 255 metres, and then a 3 metre wide stone surface track, in a 6 to 7 
metre wide corridor, proceeds in a northerly direction for a distance of 25 

Page 282



metres to a field gate, at a point marked U, 20 metres south east of Brinkburn 
Station Cottage. 

 
  
7. COMMENTS RECEIVED ON THE DRAFT REPORT 
 
7.1 In November 2023, a draft copy of the report was circulated to those 

landowners / occupiers who responded to the initial consultation for their 
comments. 

 
7.2 By letter, dated 21 November 2023, Northumberland Estates, the landowner, 

made the following comments in relation to the draft report: 
 

“Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 - Review of the Definitive Map and 
Statement of Public Rights of Way-Alleged Byway Open to All Traffic 
No 26 (Parish of Brinkburn)  
 
I refer to your letter of 8th November 2023.  
 
I would wish to reiterate the point that in our view we do not consider it 
necessary to change the designation of the route to a Byway Open to 
All Traffic bearing in mind the fact that the route in question is an 
existing adopted highway and consequently it should be quite clear to 
all potential road users that this is a public right of way. The Estate is 
not endeavouring to argue, as might be concluded by paragraph 8.14 to 
your report, that notwithstanding the route being referred to in the 
Council's List of Streets of publicly maintained roads, that there are no 
public rights of way over it.  
 
Whilst I accept that this is not the purpose of your current proposal or 
consultation, I would also stress that the Northumberland Estates would 
be resistant to any future move to have the route no longer designated 
as being publicly maintained, in light of its significance for those living in 
and moving around the locality.” 

 
 
8. DISCUSSION 
 
8.1    Section 53 (3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, requires the 

County Council to modify the Definitive Map when evidence is discovered 
which, when considered with all other relevant evidence available to them 
shows: 
  

that a right of way, which is not shown in the Map and Statement, 
subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to 
which the Map relates, being a right of way such that the land over 
which the right subsists is a public path, a restricted byway or; subject 
to section 54A, a byway open to all traffic. 
   

8.2    When considering an application / proposal for a modification order Section 32 
of the Highways Act 1980 provides for “any map, plan or history of the locality 
or other relevant document” to be tendered in evidence and such weight to be 
given to it as considered justified by the circumstances, including the antiquity 
of the tendered document, the status of the person by whom and the purpose 
for which it was made or compiled, and the custody in which it has been kept 
and from which it is produced. Page 283



  
8.3    The representation of a path or track on an Ordnance Survey Map is not 

evidence that it is a public right of way.  It is only indicative of its physical 
existence at the time of the survey.   
  

8.4   The route of alleged Byway Open to All Traffic No 26 is identified on the 
County Council’s current List of Streets as being the U4038 road.  The whole 
route appears to have been identified on both the Council’s 1951 Highways 
Map and the later 1964 Highways Map.  It was also included in the 1958, 1964 
and 1974 County Road Schedules.  
  

8.5     The route has been consistently identified as a mainly enclosed road / 
track on Ordnance Survey maps since 1866.  Although the route is not shown 
on Armstrong’s County Map of 1769, it is shown on Fryer’s and Greenwood’s 
County Maps of 1820 and 1828 and on Cary’s Map of 1827.  On the plan, 
prepared under the Finance Act 1910, the route is clearly identified as being 
separate from the adjacent land by coloured boundaries, indicating it was 
considered to be public at that time.   

 
8.6   Although other public rights of way were identified nearby, with two public 

footpaths and one public bridleway identified as either beginning or ending on 
the route, the route itself was not included on the Draft, Provisional or original 
Definitive Maps as a footpath, bridleway or Road Used as Public Path (RUPP).  
On the Survey Map the route is coloured brown in the same way that other 
public roads were identified.   
  

8.7    The County Council accepts that, given the way the regulations were written 
with regard to the way highway authorities could include publicly maintainable 
highways in the List of Streets, there was no impediment to public bridleways 
and public footpaths also being included.  That is not to say that any 
bridleways or footpaths were so shown – just that they could be.  It must, 
therefore, be entirely proper to consider each UCR on a case by case basis, 
but that does not mean that we should begin with the assumption that each 
UCR is no more than a public footpath unless higher rights can be proven by 
other means.  In Northumberland there is no evidence to suggest that public 
footpaths and public bridleways were deliberately shown on the 1958, 1964 or 
1974 County Road Schedules (forerunners of the modern day List of Streets).   
The fact that a route is shown on these schedules must, therefore, be 
evidence of some weight that public vehicular rights exist.  

  
8.8   Letters from DEFRA, dated 2003 and November 2006, and Rights of Way 

Circular 1/09 set out the approach Inspectors and order making authorities 
should take in determining the status of routes included on the List of Streets.  
In summary, the guidance states that the inclusion of a route on the List of 
Streets is not a record of what legal rights exist over that highway but may 
provide evidence of vehicular rights.  However, this must be considered with 
all other relevant evidence in order to determine the nature and extent of those 
rights.  Highway Authorities are recommended to examine the history of such 
routes and the rights that may exist over them on a case by case basis in 
order to determine their status. 

  
8.9      The Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC Act 2006)  

had a major impact upon the recording of byways open to all traffic based 
upon historical documentary evidence.  Under section 67 of the Act, any 
existing, but unrecorded, public rights of way for mechanically propelled 
vehicles were extinguished unless one of the ‘saving’ provisions applied.  In Page 284



brief, these saving provisions were: (a) if the main lawful public use between 
2001 and 2006 was with motor vehicles; (b) if the route was on the List of 
Streets (on 2 May 2006) and not also on the Definitive Map as something less 
than a byway open to all traffic; (c) the route was legally created expressly for 
motor vehicular use; (d) the route was a road deliberately constructed for 
public motor vehicular use; or (e) the vehicular highway came about as a 
result of unchallenged motor vehicular use before December 1930. 

  
8.10 Of the saving provisions above, (b) will apply to the route of alleged Byway  

No 26.  The public’s motor vehicular rights would not have been extinguished 
by the NERC Act 2006.     

  
8.11 For a route to be a byway open to all traffic, it has to be (i) a public motor  

vehicular right of way and (ii) a route which is nevertheless used (or is likely to 
be used) by the public mainly for the reasons which footpaths and bridleways 
are used.    

  
8.12 Most of this route (from East Raw to 25 metres south-east of Brinkburn station) 

has a reasonable driveable tarmac surface.  This part of the route will be used 
by those living at the dwellings at 1 and 2 East Raw, Beacon View, Glenlaw, 
Butterknowes Farm and West Raw, their visitors and also by farm traffic. The 
remaining most northern 25 metres of the route has a rougher stone / earth / 
grass surface and will be used by those living at Brinkburn Station Cottage 
and their visitors. From my site visit, the route would also appear to be well 
used by non-motorised traffic.   

 
8.13 The Northumberland Estates has suggested that it is not necessary for this  

route to be recorded as a byway open to all traffic; public rights over the route 
not being in doubt, by virtue of it already being recorded on the Council’s List 
of Streets.  Of course, being recorded on the List of Streets does not prove a 
route’s status - it is more a statement about maintenance liability.  A number of 
landowners in Northumberland (including The Northumberland Estates) have, 
in the recent past, argued that certain routes on the Council’s List of Streets 
have no public rights of way over them, whatsoever.    

  
8.14 Responding to the draft report, The Northumberland Estates has indicated that 

they do not consider it necessary to "change" the designation of the route to 
byway open to all traffic.  This implies that it currently has some other 
designation, which will be altered by this process.  This is not the case.  The 
route currently has no status identified.  It is recorded on the Council's List of 
Streets as the U4038 road, and will remain so recorded; but being on the list of 
Streets is a statement about maintenance liability, not the public rights that 
exist over it.  Its physical appearance is no guarantee of status.  There are 
many minor roads and tracks that are private roads with only public footpath or 
bridleway rights over them - and sometimes no recognised public rights over 
them whatsoever.   

 
8.15 The Northumberland Estates also argued that "Bearing in mind the fact that 

the route in question is an existing adopted highway ... consequently it should 
be quite clear to all potential road users that this is a public right of way."  But 
the road isn't an "adopted highway".  We don't have any adoption records, per 
se, for this route.  It is recorded on the Council's List of Streets having been 
identified as a publicly maintainable highway since the 1950s.  The status of 
the route isn't quite as certain as the Northumberland Estates appears to be 
suggesting and, as indicated earlier, some landowners (including the 
Northumberland Estates, as recently as 2016) have argued that some U roads Page 285



are not public vehicular highways or, in some instances, not even public rights 
of way of any description.  These challenges have sometimes been made in 
circumstances where the provenance of the road is bolstered by the existence 
of a 1930s Handover Map and a map and / or schedule prepared under the 
Restriction of Ribbon Development Act 1935 - documents which aren't 
available to support the status of routes in the former Rothbury RDC area.   

 
8.16 Advice from the Planning Inspectorate in their ‘consistency guidelines’ states  

that it is important to have the correct width, where known, recorded in the 
definitive statement.  Usually there is a boundary to boundary presumption for 
public highways.  However, where no defined corridor exists, and there is no 
(usually) documentary evidence to establish width, the Council has adopted a 
standard width of 5 metres (wide enough for two vehicles travelling in opposite 
directions to pass each other) for vehicular rights of way.  On this basis it is 
proposed to record Byway Open to All Traffic No 26 with a width varying from 
5.5 to 9 metres, as identified in paragraph 6.1 above. 

 
 
9. CONCLUSION 
 
9.1  In light of the documentary evidence submitted, it appears that public vehicular 

rights have been reasonably alleged to exist over the route of alleged Byway 
Open to All Traffic No 26. 

 
9.2  The Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 would not appear 

to have extinguished the public’s motor vehicular rights over the route.  It 
would be appropriate to recognize the public’s rights over the route by 
recording it on the Definitive Map as a byway open to all traffic.   

 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS   

 
Local Services Group File:  107/026z 
  
Report Author          Zara Quinn – Definitive Map & Search Technical Officer 

 07542 318328   
   Zara.Quinn@Northumberland.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 286

mailto:Zara.Quinn@Northumberland.gov.uk


Infrastructure
Local Services

County Hall  Morpeth  Northumberland
  NE61 2EF

Telephone 0845 600 6400

Former District(s) Parish(es) Scale

O.S. MapDef. Map No. Date

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Public Rights of Way

  Brinkburn

94/109

Alnwick

NU 00 SE/ NZ 09 NE October 2016

1:10,000

Reproduced from / based upon Ordnance Survey
material with the permission of Ordnance Survey on

 behalf of the Controllerof  H.M.S.O. Crown Copyright .
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright 

and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Northumberland County Council O.S. Licence No 100049048

v v

09 10

v

v
v

v

v

v

vv

v

v

v

v

PLAN 13

W

V

32

26

U

T

Alleged Byway Open to All Traffic

Page 287



Page 288



1
7

6
9

 A
rm

s
tr

o
n

g
 s

 C
o

u
n

ty
 

M
a

p
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

’
 

Page 289



 

1820 Fryer’s County Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 290



 

1827 Cary’s Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 291



 

1828 Greenwood’s County Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 292



 

1st Edition 6” O.S. Map 

1866 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 293



 

2nd Edition 25” O.S. Map 

1897 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 294



2nd Edition 6” O.S. Map 

1899 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 295



 

Finance Act 1910 Plan 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 Page 296



 

3rd Edition 25” O.S. Map 

1923 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 297



 

3rd Edition 6” O.S. Map 

1925 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 Page 298



 

Highways Map 

1951 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 299



 

Definitive Map – Original Survey Schedules & Map 

c. 1952 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 300



 Page 301



 
Page 302



 

Page 303



 

Draft Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 304



 

Provisional Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 305



 

Ordnance Survey Scale 1:10,560 

1957 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 306



 

 

 

 

 

 

C
o

u
n

ty
 R

o
a

d
 S

c
h

e
d

u
le

 

1
9

5
8
  

Page 307



 

Original Definitive Map & Statement 

1962 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 308



 

 

 

 

 
Page 309



 

 

 

 

Page 310



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 311



 

 

 

 

 

C
o

u
n

ty
 R

o
a

d
 S

c
h

e
d

u
le

 

1
9

6
4
  

Page 312



 

First Review Definitive Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 313



 

Highways Map 

1964 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 314



 

 

 

 

 

 

C
o

u
n

ty
 R

o
a

d
 S

c
h

e
d

u
le

 

1
9

7
4
  

Page 315



 

Ordnance Survey Explorer 340 Map Scale 1:25,000 

2005 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 316



 

The Council’s ‘List of Streets’ (at 2 May 2006) 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 317



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 318



Network Management
Information System

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of His

Majesty's Stationary Office Crown Copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to

prosecution or civil proceedings. License no. 100049048 (2009).

Highways Act 1980 Section 36(6) County of
Northumberland List of Streets which are

highways maintainable at the public expense
as at 02-May-2006

Drn:
      ZQ

Date:
October
2023

Scale:
1:10,000

Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2023. OS
100030994

0

99

9

Page 319



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest
	Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests
	Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests

	2 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	Minutes

	4 REVIEW OF THE DEFINIFITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY
	1a Blanchland RB 29 - Final without appendices
	OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY
	ALLEGED RESTRICTED BYWAY No 29
	PARISH OF BLANCHLAND
	6. SITE INVESTIGATION
	7. COMMENTS RECEIVED ON THE DRAFT REPORT



	1b Blanchland RB 29 route plan and application (1)
	1d Blanchland RB 29 - Draft appendices

	5 REVIEW OF THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY
	2a Brinkburn & Rothbury BRs 33 & 42 - Final
	OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY
	ALLEGED PUBLIC BRIDLEWAYS Nos 33 & 42
	PARISHES OF BRINKBURN & ROTHBURY
	6. SITE INVESTIGATION
	7. COMMENTS RECEIVED ON THE DRAFT REPORT



	2b Brinkburn & Rothbury BRs 33 & 42 plan & usergram etc (1)
	2c Brinkburn & Rothbury FPs 33 & 42 user evidence part 1
	2d Brinkburn & Rothbury FPs 33 & 42 user evidence part 2
	2x Brinkburn & Rothbury BRs 33 & 42 - Final

	6 REVIEW OF THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY
	December 2023 - Rothbury BOAT 40.pdf
	OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY
	ALLEGED BYWAY OPEN TO ALL TRAFFIC No 40
	PARISH OF ROTHBURY
	6. SITE INVESTIGATION
	7. COMMENTS RECEIVED ON THE DRAFT REPORT



	Rothbury BOAT 40 - Revised Plan.pdf
	Rothbury BOAT 40 Consultation Plan.pdf
	Page 1

	Rothbury BOAT 40 - Def Map Extract.pdf
	Rothbury BOAT 40.pdf
	2006 LOS Rothbury BOAT 40.pdf

	7 REVIEW OF THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY
	December 2023 - Brinkburn BOAT 26 2.pdf
	Brinkburn BOAT 26 Consultation Plan.pdf
	Page 1

	Brinkburn BOAT 26 - Def Map Extract.pdf
	Brinkburn BOAT 26.pdf
	2006 LOS Brinkburn BOAT 26.pdf




